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ABSTRACT 

This study contains four interrelated stages of a more comprehensive study of whether 

voluntary disclosures have an impact on company performance of top Nigerian oil companies. 

The study uses multiple data to improve the understanding of the underlying process. The 

main aim of this study is to explore the relationship between corporate governance, 

sustainability practice, and corporate performance. The sample period covers ten years after 

the first Nigerian code was published in 2003; that is from 2004 to 2013. The first stage 

analyses were the compliance level over two periods; when the first code was published 

(2004-2009) and when the second code was made public (2010-2013). The second stage 

investigates the relationship between corporate governance mechanisms and performance. 

The impact of sustainability practice on corporate performance is examined at stage three, 

whether on average, well-governed companies are likely to follow a more socially responsible 

program through improved sustainable practices. The study found that a combination of 

sustainable and governance practices has a positive influence on performance than 

sustainability practices alone; this suggests that governance practice positively impacts the 

sustainability practices-performance association.  

This study provides four main contributions to the existing literature. Notably, this is the first 

study which explores the compliance with Nigerian code and examines the relationship of 

best practice with the performance of the top Nigerian companies. Secondly, this study 

provides evidence that governance mechanisms have enhanced the impact of sustainability 

practice and performance of companies, thus addressing the literature gap for Nigerian 

companies. Thirdly, the qualitative analysis of the managers’ view on the relationship 

between sustainability and corporate governance practices within top Nigerian companies 

represents an addition to the existing literature.  

 Finally, the study also adds to the body of knowledge on the relationship between corporate 

governance, sustainability practices, and performance from a developing nation. The results 

have significant insinuations for corporate managers and policy-makers for them to develop 

a plan that mutually pursue governance and sustainability practice developments together, 

instead of considering the social practice as a peripheral.  
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These results provide the foundation for Nigerian companies to incorporate good governance 

and social responsibility as part of their business strategy aimed at improving corporate 

performance. 
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Chapter One: Introduction 

1.3 Introduction 

 

This study comprises four different but interrelated studies central to the common subject 

"voluntary disclosure impact on sustainable company performance'. The key field of the study 

explores the degree to which six oil companies are compliant with the Nigerian Corporate 

Governance Code. The second concerns the effect on organizational results over ten years of 

various corporate governance structures. The third section of the study examines how 

sustainability practices contribute to corporate success during the period 2004-2013. In this 

fourth aspect of the study, we will discuss the relationship between corporate governance 

and sustainable practices. Thus, this study, unlike previous studies that look at them either 

independently or have researched the paired relationship between Corporate Governance 

(CG) and Corporate Performance (CP) or Sustainability Practices (SP) and Corporate 

Performance, this study considers them together and systematically.  

The rest of the sections of this chapter are: section 1.2 is the background of the study, an 

overview of the three interrelated parts is discussed in section 1.3. Section 1.4 covers the 

objectives of the study, whereas the research methods are discussed in section 1.5, and 

section 1.6 highlights the significance of the study. Section 1.7 describes the structure of the 

remaining chapters. 

 

1.2 Background of the Study 

 

Before the introduction of corporate governance in Nigeria, the Company Law regulated 

businesses. Nigerian company law recognized two structures for a company: the board of 

directors and the annual general meeting of the company. Corporate governance arbitrates 

the privileges and responsibilities among shareholders, employees, creditors, and directors. 

It calls for more concern on the way companies are to be governed by those in control of the 

company's activities. Indeed, the board of directors enjoys the authority to direct the business 

under a company's constitution, discharging their responsibilities with competency and total 



2 
 

loyalty. The significance of the board of directors in corporate governance cannot be over-

emphasized and is apparent in the definition of corporate governance, which is a system by 

which businesses are directed and controlled. 

Corporate governance has been a challenge for both companies and foreign communities 

over the last decade (Rossouw, 2005). A number of market failures that have propelled the 

worldwide appetite for reform further increase the value of corporate governance. Those 

failures that have been observed since the 1990's and in recent events in the Nigerian banking 

sector led to the adoption of a corporate governance code for both emerging and developed 

countries. These codes are regularly reviewed to have them updated and applicable to the 

demands of the corporate environment (Ofo, 2010). 

Good governance practices go beyond financial needs but also includes the organization's 

corporate behavior to its operational environment. That means investors can hence be 

directed as much to the financial statements of an organization because they are the 

organization's business behavior. According to Van Wyk and Chege (2004), consumers, too, 

are increasingly supporting those products that can show an appropriate response by the 

enterprise to its operational environment. 

Given that, having a better understanding of governance is the foremost precondition for the 

structure of a socially responsive program. It is significant to note that governance is not the 

sole arena of government and corporations, but governance also has to come along with how 

relationships within companies are governed. 

Many significant changes that took place in the world economic system have increased 

interest in corporate governance and sustainable development greatly over the years. Among 

them is the considerable increase in trade names and corporate standing that makes leading 

companies, particularly, at risk of bad publicity. Changing public attitudes are likewise an 

essential part of the context in which social responsibility has been accepted. According to 

Jenkins (2001), businesses can no longer overlook the influence of their actions on their 

surroundings. He further claimed that growths that took place in global communications had 

assisted companies to regulate production activities on an ever-widening scale. Have also 

eased the spread of information on working conditions of their suppliers and consumers 

overseas, thereby growing public awareness and facilitating agitation activities. 
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Corporate organisations are progressively working through increasingly elaborate schemes 

subject not only to trade and economic pressures but also to demands from states, 

shareholders, investors, creditors, suppliers, civil societies, customers, managements and 

staff on the social and environmental level. Some of these factors are external to a firm, such 

as particular government criteria or more general social credibility standards (Dimaggio and 

Powell, 1983; Wood, 1991). Other social performance influences are internal to an 

organization and also represents important management's commitments (Miles, 1987; 

Greening and Gray, 1994). The responses of organizations to responsible conduct 

expectations can also change (Oliver, 1991). Pressures on social responsibility in some cases 

can create substantial changes which are integrated in the company's daily business. In other 

cases, corporate response to pressure for accountable conduct, as argued by Meyer and 

Rowan (1977), is usually "window dressing" which can be easily distinguished from the usual, 

ongoing corporate activities. 

This study examines compliance with the corporate governance code by six oil companies and 

the impingement of some specific governance mechanisms on company performance; and 

analyses the link between sustainability practices and corporate performance of the 

companies and the perception of managers on corporate governance and sustainability 

practices to validate the findings of the compliance, specific governance mechanisms and 

sustainable development, When a company internalizes social costs and retains and grows 

the capital stock, this should be economically sustainable. Kaptein and W4-0 (2002) claim that 

socially sustainable enterprises are perceived by all stakeholders as egalitarian and 

trustworthy. 

 

`` 

 

 

 

1.3 Motivation for the Study 
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Four significant reasons propel this study. Firstly, the corporate governance code was 

introduced in Nigeria just over a decade ago. Still, to date, no study has been conducted on 

the level of compliance with the requirements of the Nigerian code. The Company and Allied 

Matters Act (CAMA), Cap C20 (Laws of the Federation of Nigeria 2004), was the very first 

legislation to control the business of the company in Nigeria before the implementation of 

the Corporate Governance Code in 2003. The substance of the Act contains to its credit some 

initial provisions which include, in the interests of shareholders as well as the public, the 

regulation and supervision of formation, incorporation, registration, administration and 

winding up of companies.Immediately after the Act came into operation, the corporate 

environment started experiencing some challenges globally that brought the subject of 

corporate governance to the forefront. This necessitated countries, among them Nigeria, to 

issue corporate governance codes to address issues that are not explicitly nor adequately 

addressed by their respective company legislation. In this regard, the Nigerian code, which 

forms the basis of the minimum standard of corporate conduct, has provided an opportunity 

to examine the degree of compliance with the code recommendations. 

Secondly, Nigeria is the largest oil producer in Africa and, to a large extent, dependent on the 

oil sector, as the sector accounts for over 95 percent of export earnings, about 65 percent of 

government budget revenues, and 20 percent of GDP (OPEC, 2012). The governance–

performance relationship of companies in this sector is of great interest not just to the 

shareholders but also to the government and the public. In this respect, the specific corporate 

governance mechanisms extracted from the yearly reports of these companies are used to 

find the relationship. Even though most previous studies on Nigeria had used specific 

governance mechanisms for finding the connection with firm performance, most of them are 

in the banking sector. This thesis is the first to investigate the link between specific corporate 

governance mechanisms and corporate performance in the oil sector of Nigeria.  

Third, this study tries to find historical evidence within the Nigerian context that sustainability 

practices can have a positive impact on the corporate performance of companies. Prior 

research findings in western economic systems have found a similar relationship. Unlike the 

developed economies, however, Nigerian companies do not have any sustainability practice 

(SP) ranking. In order to calculate SP, a content analytics approach was employed to collect 

the information on the company's websites, from the annual reports (CAR) and corporate 
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social accounts. This study reduces the size of companies to the top six of the Nigerian stock 

exchange (NSE) oil companies due to public rejection of sustainability practices strategies in 

the industry. 

Fourth, it examines if corporate governance could positively moderate the link between 

sustainability practice-corporate performance. The aim is to find if well-governed companies 

are more likely to adopt a more socially responsible plan. In this regard, corporate governance 

encourages companies to promote transparency, accountability, responsibility, and fairness 

in all their dealings. The companies are required to generate profits continuously for their 

survival and, at the same time, maintain proper governance practices. Companies are also 

expected to ally their decisions with the interests of their stakeholders. That means 

companies should adjust their activities to adapt to the goals of the company and the 

environment they operate. Earlier studies have explored and discussed corporate governance 

and sustainability practices independently. Nevertheless, this researcher feels that the two 

are strongly linked and thus explores the relationship by investigating the concept and 

perception of top managers of the oil companies on corporate governance (CG) and 

sustainability practices (SP) relationship 

1.4 Research Objectives 

 

The main objective of this study is to examine empirically that voluntary disclosures have an 

impact on the sustainable performance of companies in Nigeria. In achieving this primary 

objective, four precise goals will have to be realized. Firstly, examine the level of compliance 

with the corporate governance code in Nigeria and subsequently develop the Corporate 

Governance Disclosure Index (CGDI). A significant focus of this part of the study is to measure 

the level degree of compliance is in line with the recommendations of the Nigerian Code 

during the whole, first code and the second code periods of operation.  

Second, analyze the impact of corporate governance on corporate performance of Nigerian 

companies. This will be attained in two ways. (i)  The internal corporate governance variables-

corporate performance link will be examined to find out if each mechanism has a positive 

effect on its performance. (ii)  Also, the governance index-corporate performance link will be 

investigated to find if the development of the CGDI, which covers several provisions of the 
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Nigerian corporate governance code, is more critical to corporate performance than the 

internal governance provisions. 

Third, investigate the impact of sustainability practices on corporate performance. The aim 

here is to find out the implications of such practices on companies' performance in a 

developing country like Nigeria.  

Fourth, explore the views and opinions of top managers of the listed oil companies on the 

interrelationship between corporate governance and sustainability practices. In this regard, 

accomplishing this will assist in verifying and supporting results from regression analysis on 

the effect of the internal governance mechanisms and the CGDI on the performance of the 

companies. And finally, to find evidence that suggests corporate governance impacts 

positively on the relationship between sustainability practices and corporate performance. 

The focus is to find out if the combination of corporate governance and sustainability 

practices has a more positive effect on corporate performance than sustainability practices 

alone. 

1.5 Overview of Interrelated Stages 

 

This study examines the above research objectives in four stages. The four steps are discussed 

independently in the following four sub-sections. 

1.5.1 Stage one 

The first stage of the study investigates the degree of compliance with the Nigerian Code's 

recommendations by the selected oil companies through analyzing their respective corporate 

annual reports and developing the corporate governance disclosure index (CGDI). A 

significant effort of this part of the study is to assess the level of compliance in line with the 

recommendations of the Nigerian codes during the whole period 2004-2013, the 2004-2009 

and 2010-2013 periods, respectively. The disclosure index consists of 43 specific corporate 

governance issues under two general categories – financial and non-financial disclosure 

items. 

1.5.2 Stage two 

In the second stage, empirical evidence is gathered towards analyzing the impact of specific 

corporate governance mechanisms on corporate performance to make an understanding of 
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each of the CG mechanisms has a positive effect on company performance. To better the 

reliability of the findings and the problems that the potential presence of endogeneity may 

cause, a robust test was conducted out using the Gaussian mixture model (GMM) to address 

it.              

1.5.3 Stage three 

The third stage explores the relationship between sustainable practices in oil companies in 

Nigeria and corporate performance. The goal of this process is to discover whether better 

corporate performance (CP) leads to improved sustainability performance (SP) for Nigerian 

oil companies. And enhanced sustainability (SP), as can be seen in developed economies, 

results in improved corporate performance (CP). The research also examined whether the SP-

CP relation can be improved by CG. 

1.5.4 Stage four 

The fourth stage is to empirically evaluate the opinions and perceptions of the top managers 

of the selected listed oil companies on the relationship between CG and SP. These positions 

will assist in resolving the type of relationship that exists, whether independent or mutually 

beneficial 

1.6 Study Methods 

 

The study requires different research methods for each phase of this work. Stage one involved 

a content analysis of the selected companies' annual reports. Steps two and three each 

entailed regression analysis. The fourth stage comprised in-depth interviews. The research 

methods employed in this study are provided below. 

1.6.1 Stage one 

Specific corporate governance issues classified under two general categories. The index was 

developed based on the guidance issued by the United Nations Conference on Trade and 

Development (UNCTAD). A content analysis of annual reports for the period 2004–2013 was 

then performed to explore the corporate governance disclosure practices of the six top 

Nigerian oil companies. The companies are Conoil Plc, Forte Oil Plc, MRS Nigeria Oil Plc, Mobil 

Nigeria Oil Plc, Oando Plc, and Total Nigeria Plc. A total of 60 annual reports formed the 

groundwork of the result. A content analysis of annual reports over a long period allows 
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getting an understanding of how organizations' corporate governance disclosure practices 

have varied over time. The research method employed in this phase is detailed in Chapter 6. 

1.6.2 Stage two 

In stage two, in the first place, data on the specific corporate governance and accounting 

measures of return on equity (ROE) and return on assets (ROA) were collected through 

exploring the annual reports of the selected companies for the period 2004–2013. After that, 

a regression analysis was carried out to determine the impact of the relationship. Besides, the 

findings were subjected to sensitivity analysis. The research method employed in this stage is 

detailed in Chapter 7. 

1.6.3 Stage three 

In stage three, data on the social performance measure was collected through content 

analysis of the annual reports for the period 2004–2013. The SP data collected with the 

corporate performance data were regressed together to establish the relationship between 

the SP and CP. The research method employed in this phase is detailed in Chapter 8. 

1.6.4 Stage four 

In stage four, in-depth interviews were conducted with the top managers of the six selected 

oil companies to explore the interrelationship between corporate governance and 

sustainability practices. The six interviews were conducted over seven weeks from June 2014 

to July 2014. The research method employed in this phase is detailed in Chapter 9. 

 

1.7 Structure of the Study 

 

The study is organized into ten chapters, as shown in figure 1.1.  

In Chapter 2, the evolution and development of corporate governance and sustainability 

practices in Nigeria are discussed in detail. Included in this chapter are the benefits of 

sustainability to society and organizations.  

Chapter 3 contains the corporate governance practice guidelines and detailed discourse of 

the Nigerian codes and provisions. In this chapter, the guidance issued by the United Nations 
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Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) and the Nigerian codes were scrutinized to 

come up with corporate governance disclosure items that the selected firms are required to 

abide by with that will address the significant fears of investors and other stakeholders. 

In Chapter 4, the literature on corporate governance and sustainability practices is reviewed. 

Precisely, the chapter is divided into three main parts. The first part is the discussion of the 

theory and literature, which provides a theoretical framework for defining the concept of 

corporate governance and sustainability practices. Issues of theory, methodology in the 

domains of corporate governance, and sustainability practices are looked into. This study is 

utilizing the agency and stakeholder theories as guiding concepts. This is to get a better 

understanding of the relationship between governance, social performance, and corporate 

performance, as it affects the interests of key players.  

The second part of Chapter 4 contains a discourse on the extant empirical literature that seeks 

to link specific corporate governance mechanisms with corporate performance on the one 

hand and the link between sustainability practices and corporate performance on the other. 

Under the CG-CP link, the prior studies on five corporate governance variables- board size, 

the proportion of non-executive directors, CEO duality, and the presence of the audit 

committee and board diversity – are discussed. For each variable, the existing theoretical 

literature is first discussed, followed by a recap of the prior empirical research. Hypotheses 

are then developed based on the review for each variable. Concerning the SP-CP link, previous 

literature that has examined the sustainability/CSR-corporate performance is investigated. 

The third part studies the literature on the connection between corporate governance (CG) 

and sustainability practices (SP). 

Chapter 5 outlines the road map to realize the aim and objectives set for this study. The 

chapter starts by discussing the research design, the population and sample size of the study, 

the data collection methods, and the design of variables and hypotheses. Also, in this section 

of the variable design is the description of the development of the CGDI as extracted from the 

corporate annual report data, the measurement of the five internal corporate governance 

mechanisms, the measurement of the sustainability performance variable, the corporate 

performance variables and the control variables.  
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The study focuses in Chapter 6 on the investigation of the extent of compliance of the selected 

companies with the recommendations of the Nigerian Code from 2004 to 2013. Based on the 

provisions of the Nigerian Code, two standards of compliance with the CGDI were established 

from 43 particular corporate governance issues and analyzed. Firstly, the study specifies the 

level of compliance with the CGDI over the study period for the selected companies (2004-

2013). This enables the checking of the continuous improvement of the standard of 

compliance with the requirements of the Nigerian Code. Secondly, it calculates the degree of 

CGDI compliance that occurred over the periods 2004-2009 and 2010-2013. The aim is to find 

out whether the level of compliance with corporate governance has improved over the two 

periods since the Nigerian Code was implemented in late 2003. 

Chapter 7 presents the empirical proof of the link between specific corporate governance 

mechanisms and corporate performance using CAR data. In this respect, the study examines 

the relationship among all the five specific corporate governance mechanisms and corporate 

performance during the whole period of the survey 2004–2013. The interest here is to find 

out if each of the five specific corporate governance mechanisms affects company 

performance. GMM an attractive method to model the governance–performance relation 

was used as it enforces no distributional assumptions on the model specification.  

Chapter 8 presents the empirical study of the link between sustainability practices and 

corporate performance. In this chapter, two models were tested for the overall study period. 

The chapter aims to find out whether evidence of an SP-CP relationship exists in Nigeria 

similar to in the western world and also to investigate whether CG enhances the SP-CP 

relationship. 

Chapter 9 presents the views and perceptions of the six top managers regarding the 

connection between corporate governance and sustainability practices. The intention is to 

explore in more detail the relationship and the benefits the companies derived from it. The 

interviews covered areas that include the practices in corporate governance and sustainability 

by the companies, the link between the two practices, and the benefits the companies 

derived.  

Chapter 10 summarises the study findings and presents the contributions of the study. It also 

highlights some limitations as well as suggestions for further studies. 
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2.1 Introduction 

This chapter presents corporate governance and sustainability practice development in 

Nigeria. The principal objective of this chapter is to offer a full description of the evolution 

and development of these two central practices in Nigeria. The Nigerian Code was reviewed 

just once, unlike the UK and South Africa codes, that have been reviewed several times. The 

rest of the chapter continues as follows. Section 2.2 presents the evolution of CG. Section 2.3 

deliberates on the development of CG. Section 2.4 discusses the evolution of SP, and section 

2.5 provides the development of the SP. Section 2.6 provides the benefits of sustainability to 

society and corporations. Lastly, section 2.7 presents the chapter summary.  

 

2.2 Evolution of Corporate Governance  

 

The chronicle of a corporate organization in Nigeria could be adjudged to be more or less one-

sided and unclear. Nevertheless, corporate governance cannot be dissociated from company 

law. Before the advent of corporate governance and its subsequent popularity, company law 

only recognized two structures of a company: the directors of the board and the annual 

general meeting. The concept of corporate governance calls for more attention to just how 

companies ought to be governed by those placed in authority. Of course, the significance of 

the company's board of directors in instituting doctrines of sound governance in every 

organization cannot be over-emphasized. Therefore, the corporate governance framework 

recognition of the board of directors is understandable as it focuses on: the composition, role, 

and activities of the directors of the board and their sub-committees. The drivers of these 

intents include the developments after company failures in the early 1990s, increased 

complexity of corporations and turbulence of the environment, and the growth of globalized 

companies. As the evolution of corporate governance in Nigeria is involved, this study 

attempts to capture it in its proper position. 
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2.3 Development of Corporate Governance  

 

It is imperative to discuss the development of CG in Nigeria on a period basis. For this reason, 

four periods are identified. 

2.3.1 Pre-1990 

Before 1990, the Companies Act 1968 was the statute that regulated companies in Nigeria. 

This Act was enacted on the model of the United Kingdom Companies Act 1948. It consists of 

detailed requirements concerning the working of corporations to the duties of directors, 

board, and general meetings. Entirely the same, this Act has a multitude of limitations. As an 

end to quite a few criticisms from an interested party, the Companies Act 1968 was replaced 

with the 1990 Companies and Allied Matters Decree. With the coming of democratic 

government in Nigeria, the decree was repealed and replaced by the Companies and Allied 

Matters Act (CAMA) 2004. The Act is the primary law that regulates the company operation 

in Nigeria. 

2.3.2 1990–2003 

The realization of CAMA came after a long tasking process backed by the Law Reform 

Commission of Nigeria. The Act is made up of the groundbreaking provisions such as the 

provisions on effective management, ownership, and control of company affairs and 

attendance at meetings. The Act has made far-reaching recommendations for directors' 

accountability. As at the time the Act became operational, the corporate governance concept 

was emerging. Consequently, the Act has made far-reaching recommendations on the 

organization of registered companies in Nigeria. 

Nevertheless, after the passage of the Act, many corporate challenges took place that brings 

corporate governance issues to the forefront. As a consequence, some countries continually 

review their corporate governance practices. This action prompted several of them to issue 

codes on corporate governance practice to address those issues, which were not adequately 

addressed earlier by the respective company legislation. For instance, the folding up of the 

Bank of Credit and Commerce International, WorldCom, Parmalat, Enron and other big 

businesses that happened in the 1990s and 2000s, brought the thought of corporate 

governance to the forefront globally. 
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The first Nigerian corporate governance code may be linked to the Bankers' Committee 

initiative that in 2003 brought the Code of Corporate Governance for Banks and Other 

Financial Institutions in Nigeria. It was in response to the 1990s crisis that engulfed the 

financial sector in Nigeria and the realization of bad governance practice as a critical reason 

in practically all known cases of distress in the financial industry. The Code, as is apparent 

from the terms, applies to financial institutions operating within Nigeria. The Code's primary 

weakness is in lack of enforcement because it was sanctioned by the Bankers' Committee – 

an umbrella of Chief Executives of Nigerian banks, which is not a regulator. Consequently, 

little is known regarding the Code. 

The Code of Corporate Governance for Banks and Other Financial Institutions in Nigeria was 

based on 11 Principles, as follows;  

The board of directors' responsibilities: The board should exercise responsibility, direction, 

initiative, honesty, and judgment in guiding the institution so that it realize enduring affluence 

for the institution and act in its best manner on accountability, transparency, and fairness. An 

effective board must steer all organizations. 

The board structure: The board should consist of both executive and non-executive directors 

in a balanced proportion such that no single person or group of persons can control the 

process of decision-making. 

Separation of the positions of chairman and CEO: The institution should have a clear 

separation of responsibilities. The chairman should head the board while the management 

team is led by the chief executive officer (CEO) so as power and authorities are not in one 

person's hand. 

Board appointments: Proper and precise procedures should be followed in appointing new 

directors to the board. 

Records of the board of directors' meetings: Meetings of the board should be regular and 

members should regular 

Remuneration of directors: A proper and clear procedure should be established to develop 

policies on fixing individual directors and executive pay. A director should not be involved in 
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setting his or her remuneration. The remuneration levels should be adequate to entice and 

retain the needed directors to direct the company efficiently; however, institutions should 

evade remunerating more than necessary.   

Board performance evaluation: The board and each member of the board chairman inclusive 

should be evaluated for effectiveness.  

Risk management: The board is duty-bound to ascertain significant risk areas and significant 

performance indicators and monitor them. 

Financial disclosure: Directors are accountable to shareholders, and other stakeholders so 

much information about the institution should be disclosed as and when due. 

Relationship with shareholders: The interests of the shareholders should be paramount to the 

board, and they should account for them completely. 

Audit committee: It is the responsibility of the board to establish such committees to ensure 

financial reporting and internal control principles and maintain appropriate relations with the 

auditors.  

Despite the general provisions in the Code, not much impact was realized. A significant 

component that might have caused this was the release of the Code of Best Practices for 

Corporate Governance in Nigeria by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in the last 

quarter of 2003. 

2.3.3 2003–2011 

The proclamation of the SEC in 2003 of the Code of Corporate Governance in Nigeria 

considerably affected the practices of corporate governance in the country. The Code was the 

first to be issued by a regulatory authority in Nigeria applicable to listed companies in Nigeria. 

In June 2000, the SEC working hand in hand with another regulator, the Corporate Affairs 

Commission (CAC), set up a committee of 17 members under the chairmanship of Atedo 

Peterside. The committee membership was drawn from professional organizations, 

regulatory authorities, and the private sector to ascertain the weaknesses with the existing 

practices in corporate governance in Nigeria and to advise on the vital changes that would 

improve the practices.  
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Immediately after the introduction of the Code, several changes took place in the corporate 

environment. Therefore, the recommendations of the Code became grossly inadequate in 

addressing the new changes, and yet no amendment was coming from the SEC. This lapse in 

revising or making changes to the Code to update it with the present realities gave rise to 

some regulators in specific sectors to issue industry-specific corporate governance codes. The 

Codes issued by the regulators only take into consideration the current state of affairs and 

also contained additional provisions on problems specific to the specific industries (Ofo, 

2013). 

The Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) in 2006 released the Code of Corporate Governance for 

Banks in Nigeria Post-Consolidation. The CBN made it mandatory for all depository financial 

institutions working in Nigeria to comply with the recommendation of the Code. The CBN 

Code was released after the banking merger process in 2005. The process was anticipated to 

address the weaknesses identified in the industry concerning corporate governance and to 

resolve the issues which are sure to take place after a merger. The CBN code addressed a 

number of the corporate governance challenges that were outside the purview of the Code 

issued by SEC in 2003. This circumstance criticizes the lack of periodic review of the SEC Code 

of 2003 and defends the essence of the CBN Code. 

On the other hand, it seems that the absence of regular review that befalls the SEC Code has 

befallen the CBN, also. Without hesitation, the Code was due for amendment. The CBN in 

2012 issued a draft of the revised Code to stakeholders for comments. Subsequently, in May 

2014, the CBN forwarded the revised edition to all banks and discount houses for compliance. 

The National Pension Commission (PENCOM) issued the Code of Corporate Governance for 

Licensed Pension Operators in 2008. The Code came after reforms in the sector that gave rise 

to allowing for more private sector participation in the management of pension funds. The 

PENCOM Code guides practitioners in the sector on the mechanisms and procedures to be 

adapted for achieving best governance practices. The Code is the least corporate governance 

requirements expected from the companies to ensure the governance procedures are 

embedded in them. The Code was brought in with the hope of creating incentives for the 

scheme to influence stakeholders and gain their confidence (Pencom, 2008). Some 

developments have taken place since the issuance of the Code in 2008; therefore, it became 
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necessary for PENCOM to initiate the process of amendments for the Code to continue to be 

relevant. 

The National Insurance Commission (NAICOM) in 2009 issued the Code of Good Corporate 

Governance for the Insurance Industry in Nigeria. The NAICOM Code is mandatory for 

insurance and re-insurance companies under the regulatory supervision of the NAICOM. The 

regulatory agency believed that the Code would bring better governance practices in the 

industry, warrant transparency and accountability, and enhance shareholder value (Naicom, 

2009). The NAICOM (2009, p. 5) held that the 

 

The specific industry codes issued by the regulators enumerated above have addressed the 

corporate governance issues specific to a particular sector which the SEC Code was not able 

to address. Also, the SEC Code did not provide ample recommendations on other up-to-date 

corporate governance matters. Such issues include appointments to the board, 

remuneration, tenure and performance appraisal, keyboard committees; independent 

directors; independence of external auditors; whistleblowing processes; sustainability issues, 

and compliance. It was evident that the SEC code issued in 2003 required updating. Hence, 

the SEC in April 2011 came out with an amended code called the Code of Corporate 

Governance for Public Companies in Nigeria.  

2.3.4 2011 to date 

By 2011 in Nigeria, there existed four active regulators of the corporate governance scheme. 

These are the SEC, the CBN, the PENCOM, and the NIACOM. Each of them had issued a 

corporate governance code. Out of the four codes, three of them are industry-specific and 

apply only to the institutions in those sectors which the regulator concerned has oversight 

control. It is worth noting that the code issued by the SEC applied not only to a particular 

sector but to ALL public companies in Nigeria. Besides, all public companies, whether listed 

on the NSE or not, are bound by the SEC Code.  
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The revised SEC Code came into force in April 2011.  The journey started as far back as the 

last quarter of 2008 after the SEC inaugurated a committee under M. B. Mahmoud to review 

the then existing code to address the weaknesses in it. The constraints to good governance 

and proper solutions that would promote good governance practices by Nigerian companies 

and, above all, align the Nigerian code with international best practices. By 2009, the 

committee submitted a draft revised copy after a thoroughgoing task to SEC. After due 

discussions with other regulatory bodies and bringing out some amendments, the SEC 

exposed the revised draft of the code to the public for further observations and 

recommendations from the general public before its completion. Afterward, the SEC 

forwarded the revised code to companies for compliance starting from April 1, 2011. The SEC 

Code of 2011 is anticipated to be the minimum standard to comply with by public companies 

having been adjudged as relatively comprehensive. However, it is not a faultless document; 

it even has errors.  

Excitingly, just some months after the revised code of 2011 came into operation, and the 

National Assembly passed the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCN) Act 2011. The Act 

has comprehensive recommendations as regards the process of companies in Nigeria. Among 

the key areas, FRCN was given precise authority is corporate governance. Because of that, 

Sections 23 (g) and 45 of the FRCN Act provide for the formation of a Directorate of Corporate 

Governance for FRCN. Also, in Sections 50 and 51 of the Act, the purposes and roles of the 

Directorate were stipulated as follows: to develop corporate governance principles and 

practices; promote the utmost corporate governance standards; promote corporate 

governance consciousness to the public; act as coordinating organization accountable for 

matters relating to corporate governance; encourage accountability and sound financial 

reporting founded which according to Ofo (2013) should be based;                   
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Furthermore, the Directorate of Corporate Governance is further authorized to organize 

seminars, workshops, and training in corporate governance practice. The directorate also 

issues corporate governance code and guidelines, and develop mechanisms for periodic 

evaluation of the code; offer guidance and assistance to the adoption of the code the 

fulfilments of its objectives, and create links to promote corporate governance with regional 

and international institutions.  

In the next sections, the evolution and development of sustainable practices are discussed in 

detail. Sustainability practices are a challenge that now faces organizations on an everyday 

basis 

2.4 Evolution of Corporate Sustainability Practices 

 

Between 1972 and 1992, the theoretical structure of sustainable activities was built from a 

series of meetings and initiatives. The United Nations Conference on the Human 

Environment, held in 1972 in Stockholm, was the first meeting to discuss sustainability at a 

global level. One of the resolutions was to create the United Nations Environment Programme 

(UNEP) and to set up a range of national agencies for the conservation of the environment in 

countries around the world. A collaboration between the International Union for the 

Conservation of Nature, the World Wildlife Fund (WWF) and UNEP was established in 1980, 

during the World Conservation Strategy, to encourage sustainable development by 

identifying important conservation concerns and vital policy options. Under the leadership of 

Gro Harlem Brundtland, the then Prime Minister of Norway, the United Nations created the 

World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED) in 1983. It consisted of 

representation from the developed countries as well as the developing countries and was 

responsible for addressing the increasing issue of accelerating the degradation and declining 

economic and social growth of the human and natural resources. The WCED 1987 study 

presented the most generally agreed concept of sustainable development: "Development 

that meets the needs of present generations without compromising the ability of future 

generations to satisfy their own needs" WCED (1987), as cited in Drexhage and Murphy (2010, 

p. 8). The Brundtland paper provided the direction for the 1992 Earth Summit in Rio, which 

laid the foundations for global institutionalization of sustainable development. As cited in 
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Dyllick and Hockerts (2002), according to Keating (1993), it was that summit that brought the 

universal recognition of lawmakers, business leaders, and NGOs that without addressing the 

other two; none of the three problems (economic development, social justice, and 

environmental degradation) could be solved. The Declaration on Environment and 

Sustainability and Agenda 21, the global action plan for sustainable development in Rio, were 

adopted at the summit. According to Drexhage and Murphy (2010, p. 8), the Rio Declaration 

had 27 principles of sustainable development, including principle seven on “common but 

differentiated responsibilities,” which stated; 

 

The Agenda 21, containing 40 chapters, also contains acts on the social and economic aspects 

of sustainable development, the protection and management of natural resources, the role 

of major groups and the means of implementation (Drexhage and Murphy, 2010). In Agenda 

21, developed countries reaffirmed their commitments to achieve the accepted United 

Nations goal by contributing 0.7% of their annual gross national product (GNP) to developing 

countries for development assistance and the transition of environmentally sustainable 

technologies. 

2.5 Development of Corporate Sustainability Practices 

Several sessions on sustainable development, including the Earth Summit+5 in New York in 

1997 and the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD) in Johannesburg in 2002, 

have been organized since the 1992 Rio conference. Mainly to assess progress, these 

conferences were held. Drexhage and Murphy (2010) suggest that some positive results have 

been achieved and that implementation efforts at both national and international levels have 

been largely unsuccessful. Sustainable development has shifted from being fascinating if at 

times opposed ideal due to the versatile climate and the universal acceptance by 

governments, international and civil organizations; to a definition that has widespread 

support. Sustainable growth has allowed the concept to be accustomed for other 
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stakeholders. But this power is also a weak point since many constructions have resulted in 

compromise between disorganisation and execution. 

Despite the uncertainty, the processes and core mission of several organizations like the 

Nigerian oil companies have included sustainable growth. It should be noted that SP is seen 

in philanthropic CSR in Nigeria. It is a welcome development to take the lead and accept CSR 

in a business strategy.The key players of CSR in Nigeria are mostly large business organizations 

and multinational companies (MNC). The development of corporate sustainability practices 

in Nigeria is discussed below by period. For this purpose, two stages are readily recognizable. 

2.5.1 Prior to 1995 

MNC and oil companies’ social responsibility approach in Nigeria is encouraged by risk and 

reputation management. The companies have embraced the path to community assistance 

(CA) to development which emphasizes corporate philanthropy. Corporate philanthropy has 

become a high priority in Nigeria for many reasons. First, the socio-economic wants of the 

societies in which the companies found themselves made philanthropy a norm. Second, many 

communities have become dependent on foreign aid, and there is an entrenched culture of 

philanthropy. According to E Ite (2004), corporate philanthropy is principally about ‘giving 

things’ back to the communities in the area, which includes: community water projects; the 

building of hospitals; skills acquisition, masonry, plumbing, engineering works. It also includes 

scholarships program, the construction of schools; agricultural extension support for farmers; 

rural electrification, feeder roads, and community expansion through land reclamation. 

On the community assistance approach to development, the companies have employed the 

practice of one-time ‘gifts’ to communities instead of support for sustainable development 

programs. These initiatives, according to E Ite (2004), comprised of ad hoc projects instead of 

coordinated plans. The actions concentrated on what the companies felt that the 

communities lacked or their view on poverty within the communities (E Ite, 2004). 

Consequently, the societies became victims of the situations instead of partners in 

development. Slowly, the dependency became traditional, and the communities took the 
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developmental structures provided by the companies not as assistance, but as a sort of rent 

for the company’s use of the environment and resources. 

2.5.2 1995 to date 

The CSR strategy has changed from the community assistance approach to the community 

development method. The new approach emphasizes the importance of empowering people 

with an understanding of reducing dependence on the MNC for socio-economic 

development. The communities, since early 2000, have been challenged to come up with 

community development plans (CDP). The strategies offer an opportunity for synergy. The 

companies, while choosing the projects to embark on, based their decisions on consensus 

they had with the people through consultative committees. The plan ensures that the projects 

are robust, long-lasting, and economically beneficial to the communities.   

The companies have emphasized venture in the direction of economic development, gainful 

employment, and income increase that will benefit residents. Therefore, the companies’ 

social responsibility budget is increasing yearly to support the wide-ranging projects in the 

communities. These companies have turned into some quasi-government and charitable 

organizations in every town they operate in (E Ite, 2004). Most of the companies have 

founded the Partnership Initiatives Foundation (PIF) to support socio-economic development 

in Nigeria. This scheme is premised on the organized study of local markets. The objective is 

to take control of economic expectations, find market-driven results to local problems, and 

partner with the locals, development partners, and companies. Joining this scheme with the 

efforts of encouraging peace, building local capacity, and upgrading capabilities in analysis 

and advocacy, the PIF is creating an environment that allows economic growth in Nigeria. In 

this regard, the PIF has identified and analyzed three far-reaching, promising areas or “value 

chains” in Nigeria; oil palm, aquaculture, and cassava. With foreign support, PIF has planned 
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to implement programs that will address these gaps identified in the Nigerian markets and 

strive to improve the market performance, most notably for the poor.  

2.6 Benefits of Sustainability for Corporations and Society 

Research has demonstrated substantial evidence for corporations and their stakeholders of 

the quantifiable payoff of sustainability initiatives (Dyllick and Hockerts, 2002; Aras and 

Crowther, 2008). There are several reasons for businesses to be socially conscious. But aside 

from the possible payoff benefits listed below, even if regulatory criteria push the initiatives, 

corporations that take on sustainable practices often support society at large. An growing 

number of businesses are noticing a decline in operating costs and a rise in sales, according 

to Epstein (2008). Recent studies have shown a clear and positive correlation between 

corporate success and good policies on sustainability, Epstein continued. As shown by Epstein 

(2008), some of the reported payoffs of better sustainability results are described in table 2.1. 

Table 2.1: Payoffs of Improved Sustainability Performance 

Financial payoffs Reduces operating costs, increases revenue, reduces 

administration costs; reduces capital costs and stock market 

premiums. 

Customer –related 

payoffs 

Improves customer satisfaction, innovative product, increases 

market share, and enhances reputation and new market 

openings. 

Operational payoffs Process innovation, productivity gains, cycle time reduction, 

improves resource yields and minimises waste. 

Organisational payoffs Employee satisfaction, better stakeholder relationships, 

reduces regulatory involvement, risk reduction and increased 

learning. 

Source: Epstein (2008) p.251-252 

2.7 Chapter Summary  

This chapter focused on the evolution of corporate governance and sustainability practice 

development in Nigeria. The key objective has been to give chronological descriptions of the 
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corporate governance improvements and that of sustainable development in Nigeria. 

Corporate Governance in Nigeria started with the enactment of the company law of 1968, 

which was replaced by the Company and Allied Matters Decree 1990 as the first law regulating 

the operation of companies. With the advent of democratic rule in the country, the decree 

was repealed, and some minor changes such as provisions for active participation in directing 

company corporate affairs were made. The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in 2003 

issued the code that significantly affected corporate governance practice in Nigeria. However, 

the recommendations of the SEC code of 2003 became grossly inadequate due to numerous 

changes in the corporate world. Therefore, in April 2011, SEC issued a revised code to address 

the weaknesses identified in the earlier code and also to align the new code with international 

best practices. The passage of the FRCN Act in 2011 has brought hope of having a national 

code of corporate governance and guidelines. FRCN is responsible for developing corporate 

governance principles and practices, promoting the highest corporate governance standards, 

promoting public understanding of corporate governance principles and developing 

frameworks for the daily review of code practices. 

On sustainable development practice, Nigerian companies initially embraced a community 

assistance approach to development that gives prominence to corporate philanthropy. With 

the community assistance approach to development, the companies have placed importance 

on one-time ‘gifts’ to the communities instead of support for sustainable development 

programs. Due to the challenges faced by the companies with their host communities, the 

companies had to change strategy from community assistance to community development. 

The new approach emphasizes the importance of empowering people with the intent of 

decreasing dependence on the MNC for socioeconomic development. Also included in the 

chapter were the benefits companies and societies derive through sustainability initiatives. 

Establishing a proper understanding of governance is the first prerequisite for the 

construction of a sustainable development framework. Therefore, the next chapter is on 

corporate governance practices and guidance in Nigeria. 
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Figure 3.1: Chapter Three Diagram 

 

3.1 Introduction 

Since the early 1990s, policy makers have gained growing attention to corporate governance 

concerns and the public has made countries follow new practices. The implementation of 

good governance codes to supplement legislative laws is one of these (Aguilera and Cuervo-

Cazurra, 2004). The guidelines provided by the United Nations Conference on Trade and 

Development (UNCTAD) and the Nigerian codes are reviewed in this chapter to come up with 
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corporate governance disclosure items that are required to be complied with by the selected 

companies that can resolve most of the financial and other stakeholder fears. To achieve the 

aim, the chapter comprises of five sections. Section 3.2 discusses the good governance 

practice guidelines. Section 3.3 provides the financial and non-financial disclosures practices, 

while section 3.4 is the perusal of the Nigerian codes. Finally, section 3.5 presents the chapter 

summary. The following issues have been outlined for empirical study. 

(a) Board of directors composition as established by the code acknowledging names of all 

board members; 

(b) Responsibilities and duties of the board stating matters set aside for the board and those 

delegated to management; 

(c) Procedure for appointments into the board; 

(d) Performance evaluation procedure for every director, committee and the whole board; 

(e) Biography of every director going for election for shareholders to make a decision; 

(f) Board committee’s composition; 

(g) Responsibilities and duties of each board committee; 

(h) Attendance of board and committee meetings by each director; 

(i) Disclosure if there is a code of business conduct and ethics in place; 

(j) Policies on human resources, sustainability/corporate social responsibility and health, 

safety, and environment. 

3.2 Guidance on Good practices 

Globally, corporate governance has continued to gain substantial recognition. Much has been 

learned from the series of corporate failures, including WorldCom, Enron, Parmalat, Lehman 

Brothers, Northern Rock, and RBS, to name a few that occurred some years ago in many parts 

of the world. After these collapses, the United Nations (UN) member states have conducted 
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many activities to strengthen their guiding principles to restore shareholder confidence and 

enhance transparency and accountability in the corporate sector. 

The subject of corporate governance has been on the UN agenda since the tenth quadrennial 

conference of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) in 2000, 

when member states called on UNCTAD to encourage better practices in this field. Until 2006, 

UNCTAD issued a Guide on Good Practices in Corporate Governance Disclosure in this regard, 

including 52 disclosure items as a benchmark. The key purpose of the guidance is to help come 

up with resolutions that will resolve the important issues of shareholders and other 

stakeholders, raise awareness of adherence to best practices to meet the hopes of investors 

with respect to corporate governance transparency. 

The 52 disclosure items recommended by UNCTAD cover the following five broad categories 

(UNCTAD, 2009, p. 8): 

      

 

In view of this, this study analyzed the corporate governance standards for the financial years 

2004 to 2013, which were practiced by the six oil companies, as disclosed in the CARs. 

3.3 Financial and Nonfinancial Disclosures 

The financial disclosures deal with financial documentations and disclosure operations of the 

businesses. Other non-financial records and disclosures are dealt with in non-financial 

reports. 
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3.3.1 Financial Disclosures 

Corporations are to ensure financial results are disclosed. It is among the essential duties of 

the board of directors in making sure shareholders, and other stakeholders are provided with 

information of the highest quality “on the financial and operating results of the entity that 

the board of directors has been entrusted with governing” (Panchasara, 2012, p. 97). 

According to OECD (2004, p.50), 

 

The UNCTAD guidelines go on to state that the feature of financial disclosure mainly lies 

considerably on the strength of the financial reporting principles based on which the 

foundation of financial figures are prepared and reported (Panchasara, 2012). As pointed out 

by Panchasara (2012, p. 97), “the financial reporting standards required for corporate 

reporting are contained in the generally accepted accounting principles recognized in the 

country where the entity is domiciled.” The guidelines encourage enterprises to use the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) as a benchmark.  

The guidelines recommended that a schedule of the director’s responsibilities in managing 

the method of making the financial statements has to be stated. It is broadly assumed that 

the board must report on the financial and operational results of the organization. Corporate 

governance codes world-wide indicate the primary duty of the board is to review financial 

reports, approve them, and then present them to shareholders.  

Also, the UNCTAD (2006, p.6) requires that; 
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Members of the board and executives have to declare any substantial interests in transactions 

or other issues bearing on the company. 

CAMA is a statutory for the divulgation of corporate financial statements in Nigeria. In their 

guidelines, both the SEC 2003 and 2011 codes underlined its significance. Section 34 of the 

SEC 2011 code explicitly emphasized that the conditions for disclosure are intended to expand 

"beyond the statutory requirements in the CAMA." The basic requirements related to 

company financial reportage in CAMA are provided in Part XI – Financial Statements and 

Audit. Financial statements are covered in sections 331 to 356, while sections 357 to 369 

relate to audit.  

Section 331 directs corporations operating in Nigeria to preserve accounting annals. These 

records are to contain all proceeds and payments. The documents must display and reveal 

accuracy, all the time, of the exact financial position of the corporation. Section 332 requires 

that all accounting data ought to be preserved in a registered place of work or any place 

considered appropriate by the directors, subject to subsection 2 of this section that contains 

the rules of disposing of records under winding-up. Section 333 discusses fines for non-

compliance with the provisions of sections 331 and 332 of CAMA.  

Section 334 of CAMA requested company directors every year to produce financial 

statements of the company. Section 334 (2) of CAMA states that the financial statements 

should include: 

a)        Statement of significant accounting policies;            

b)        Statement of financial position; 

c)        Statement of comprehensive income; 
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d)        Notes to the financial statements; 

e)        Report of the independent auditors; 

f)         Statement of directors' responsibility; 

g)        Statement of cash flow; 

h)        Statement of value-added; 

i)         Five-year financial summary; and 

g)        Consolidated financial statement. 

Moreover, in section 336, companies with subsidiaries are required to prepare individual and 

group accounts for the year. The financial statement of the group should consist of a 

consolidated statement of the financial position and a consolidated statement of the 

organization and its subsidiaries' detailed profits. In addition, section 339 deals with other 

disclosures required in the notes to the financial statement, as provided for in Schedule 3 of 

the Act. The following is dealt with in Schedule 3: 

 

In the light of the above, financial disclosure items identified based on the guidelines for good 

governance practices and the Nigerian SEC 2003 and 2011 codes are summarised in table 3.1. 
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Table 3.1: Financial Disclosures as per SEC Codes 

 Financial Disclosure 

S/N Disclosure Item 

1 Statement of Directors Responsibilities 
2 Report of the Independent Auditors 
3 Statement of Financial Position  
4 Statement of Comprehensive Income 
5 Statement of Cash Flows 
6 Consolidated Financial Statement 
7 Notes to the Financial Statements 
8 Significant Accounting Policies 
9 Related-Party Transaction 
10 Statement of Value Added 
11 Five-Year Financial Summary 

 

3.3.2 Nonfinancial Disclosures 

3.3.2.1 Objectives of the Company 

The guideline regards company objectives as critical and essential disclosure and requires 

enterprises to disclose. It said that more frequently than not, two types of corporate goals 

are identified: the first remains the commercial, such as increasing efficiency or determining 

a sector's attention; the second is considerably more critical and concerns governance 

objectives (UNCTAD, 2006). The OECD (2004, p. 50) also encourages that, 

 

3.3.2.2 Ownership Structure and Shareholder Rights 

Corporate governance structure has to safeguard and aid the implementation of 

shareholders’ rights. UNCTAD (2006) demanded that information on ownership structure 

must be disclosed in full to all concerned parties. The UNCTAD (2006) guidance goes further 

to state that, 
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The guideline further recommends that this disclosure should cover the concentration of 

shareholdings, and any considerable change in the ownership structure must be disclosed as 

soon as possible (UNCTAD, 2006).  

Most countries regularly require the revelation of ownership statistics as soon as those levels 

of ownership are met, most countries routinely require the disclosure of ownership statistics. 

Such disclosure can include details on key investors and others who, directly or indirectly, 

own or control the company through special voting rights, shareholder agreements, and 

ownership of controlling shares or broad blocks of shares, major cross-shareholding 

relationships and cross-guarantees (OECD, 2004). 

Disclosure has to be made in ownership structure and of how shareholders could exercise 

their ownership rights through voting or other means. The requires statistics regarding record 

ownership must be supplemented with data about beneficial ownership to identify possible 

conflicts of interest, insider trading, and related-party transactions. In making known the 

beneficial ownership, facts should as well be given on shareholder agreements, voting caps, 

and cross-shareholdings, as much as the privileges of different classes of shares that the entity 

may have issued. Also mentioned in the guidance on best practices is that among the 

strongest supporters of "one share one vote" is the International Corporate Governance 

Network. Advocates of the "one share one vote" approach view any deviance from this tactic 

as an unwelcome distortion of the association between investment risk and the process of 

decision-making. 

3.3.2.3  Changes in Control and Transactions Involving Significant Assets 

Regulations and procedures regulating the attainment of company control in the capital 

markets and other extraordinary transactions like mergers and sales of significant shares of a 
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company ought to be disclosed. Information with the bidder's intent to secure control of the 

company should be available to minority shareholders. 

Further information needed is the bidder's characteristics like previous transactions and 

contacts, financial capability, and fund source for the transaction. The guideline recommends 

information on the sale of substantial assets; all shareholders must be informed together with 

a copy of an evaluation report of the asset during the company's AGM. The UNCTAD (2006, 

p. 10) suggests in this regard that companies are required to reveal 

 

The guideline recommends that disclosure for disposals of significant portions of corporate 

properties should include a notification to every shareholder generally during the annual 

general meeting, together with an independent evaluation report (UNCTAD, 2006). 

The FEE, (2003a) as cited in Panchasara, (2012, p. 103) asserts that; 

 

The OECD (2004) also recommends the same treatment for all shareholders. The UNCTAD 

(2006) commands that significant shareholders like institutional investors should not have an 

advantage on access to information that the minority shareholders cannot access.  
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3.3.2.4 Governance Systems and Strategies 

Information regarding the structure of the board has to be revealed, precisely the proportion 

of executives and non-executive directors, and if any NEDs have any relationships (directly or 

indirectly) with the firm. Wherever there may be concerns that stakeholders have observed 

as challenging the objectivity of non-executive directors, companies should reveal why those 

concerns do not infringe on the governance function of the non-executive directors as a team. 

Regardless of the firm structure, independent leadership is required on the board as evidence 

that several countries have emphasized the separation of duties among the chairman and the 

chief executive officer. The guidelines recommended that the separation of the 

responsibilities is necessary and reflected as best practice, as it encourages a sense of balance 

of control in the leadership structure (UNCTAD, 2006). 

Role and functions of the board should be disclosed 

Most country codes and guidelines, including that of Nigeria, give prominence to stewardship 

and supervisory positions of the board and differentiate its duties from those of management. 

It is critical for directors to reveal their roles and what are their reserved powers are, or else 

they may be held responsible for all things connected with the company Panchasara, (2012). 

Committees of the board 

The establishment of committees of the board is standard practice. The committees assist in 

the discharging of specific roles of the board and also address any possible differences of 

interest. The board committees, according to UNCTAD (2006, p. 15) are intended to 

 

The governance systems in an organization is required to be disclosed. The governance 

systems may perhaps consist of committees to which the board has delegated its oversight 

functions, like on audit matters, executive remuneration, board nominations, and the 

performance evaluation of the board and management (UNCTAD, 2006).  
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The membership and roles of such committees have to be revealed. The terms of reference 

of the committees or any documents drawing out the responsibilities and powers of such 

committees or their members ought to be disclosed. Additionally, the documents should 

include whether the committees are empowered or not to form sound judgments that bind 

the board, or the committees can make recommendations to the board. The guidelines 

further state that where a director has held onto a particular role on the board or in one of 

these systems, then it must be disclosed. 

Several codes have addressed this issue, and consensus has been reached that a company's 

board has the final say on the usage of committees of the board. The committees are for 

preparative work of some keyboard roles and on the need for clear terms of reference for 

such committees. The guidance went further to recommend, as other codes have suggested. 

And in some circumstances, stock exchange regulations call for, that some board committees 

are to be substantively or wholly staffed by non-executive directors, mostly independent 

directors, and particularly the committee chairpersons. 

3.3.2.5 Board Members and Key Executives 

All directors are to declare their total board positions, category, and responsibilities held. 

Similarly, companies should announce the exact board appointments made, and whether it 

has a rule governing the full board positions, a director can at any time hold. The aim of this 

is to make a decision, whether the directors and executives can meet up with his/her 

commitments; consequently, the total, category, and responsibilities of each position be 

disclosed fully (this provides some idea of the commitment involved). 

Most codes and guidelines of corporate governance have talked about issues that connected 

qualifications and criteria of board membership for directors. Disclosure is required for 

personal data, educational qualifications, experience, skills, core competence, and 

availability. Also, disclosure is required in training, and development directors undergo during 

induction and within each reporting period.  

Performance evaluation process 
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Disclosure is required in the procedure for evaluating the performance of the entire board 

and individual directors. Shareholders need to know the criteria for evaluation and how the 

directors were assessed and the application of the exercise, most notably with regards to 

remuneration. One key feature of the performance evaluation is the director's attendance of 

meetings (both at board and committee levels) as enumerated in the guidelines. 

Remuneration of directors 

The mechanism used in fixing the remuneration of directors' should be disclosed. The tool 

used to set the wages of NEDs and executive directors should be different. The guidance 

requires ample disclosure on whether directors' remuneration is based on the long-term 

performance of the company as measured by documented standards. Figures concerning 

benefit packages ought to take into account salary, allowances, share payments, bonuses, 

pensions, and every other payment, including refunded expenses (UNCTAD, 2006). The 

guidance calls for disclosure by companies in the CARs on remuneration. It also requires firms 

to seek shareholders' approval on the remuneration report at each annual general meeting.  

Succession planning 

Boards of corporations are expected to disclose if they have a succession plan for members 

of the board and executives for continuity in the operations of the firm. The guideline 

recommends firms should comply with the OECD's' requirement that the board should fulfill 

certain vital functions, including selecting, compensating, monitoring and, when necessary, 

replacing key executives and overseeing succession planning. 

Conflict of interest 

Conflicts of interest involving board members have to be disclosed, if inevitable. The board 

must disclose if there is a process that takes care of such circumstances, "as well as the 

hierarchy of obligations to which directors are subject," as asserted by Panchasara (2012, p. 

110). The guidelines recommend that all issues regarding conflicts of interest must be 

revealed with the decision of the board.  
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3.3.2.6 Material Issues Regarding Stakeholders, and Environmental and Social Stewardship 

Boards of corporations must disclose if there is in place, a system that protects the rights of 

other stakeholders. OECD (2004) requires that the rights of stakeholders are cherished as 

recognized by law (e.g., labor, business, commercial, and insolvency laws) or by contractual 

relations. If there is no regulation in place, then it is expected as good practice to add some 

assurances, as company character and performance may call for recognition of broader 

interests. 

Employees' role has to be disclosed 

The guidance recommends that whichever method was adopted to involve employees in the 

management of the company must be spelled out clearly.  

Environmental and societal responsibility 

The strategy and performance concerning ecological and societal responsibility should be 

disclosed in the CARs showing specific impacts recorded by implementing the policy. This 

disclosure is essential for the initiators of "socially responsible investing" indexes. 

3.3.2.7 Material Foreseeable Risk Factors 

Applicable disclosures and declaration on the goals, structures, and actions of risk 

management should be made. Boards have to disclose requirements for detecting and 

dealing with the impacts of risk posture happenings. Boards have a responsibility to report 

continuously on the internal control arrangements aimed at mitigating risks. The said report 

must consist of risk identification mechanisms. UNCTAD (2006, p. 24) stated that 
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3.3.2.8 External Auditors Objectivity  

Boards must report on the confidence it has with the external auditors that shows they are 

independent, capable, and truthful in the discharge of their duty. The procedure for the engagement 

of and dealings with external auditors ought to be disclosed. 

In OECD (2004 p. 54), the principles recommended that 

 

The disclosures are to cover the selection and approval procedure for the external auditor. 

The audit committee is generally stated as having oversight function on the activities of 

internal audit. It is also charged with managing the general link with the external auditor, 

including the nature of non-audit services provided by the auditor to the company. Providing 

non-audit services by the external auditor of a company could considerably impair their 

independence and might involve them auditing their work. This requires disclosure to address 

the skewed incentives which may arise from non-audit services. 

Internal audit role 

The range of work and responsibilities of the internal audit role should be disclosed by the 

organization and the reporting channel for the internal audit. The board of directors, usually 

in conjunction with the audit committee, determines the work scope and duties of internal 

audit, and this could vary considerably depending on the characteristics of the firm and funds 

available. All organizations that do not establish an internal audit should clarify the motives 

behind this. A functioning internal audit exhibits an integral part of the corporate governance 

structure of an organization. Referable to the possible disparity in the use of internal audit 
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among organizations, it is demanded by the guidance that information on this role is made 

known. 

3.3.2.9 General Meetings 

Corporations should provide sufficient information on the procedures of organizing and 

voting at the AGMs, and shareholders have to be informed of the rules that govern such 

meetings. Notice of meetings should be timed with date, place, and the schedule of meetings 

with full information on matters to be deliberated on. Shareholders ought to have the chance 

to ask questions concerning the external audit report. The outcomes of the meeting should, 

without delay, be transmitted to all shareholders. The OECD (2004) recommends that voting 

by proxy should have consented for the furtherance and protection of shareholder rights. 

3.3.2.10 Timing and Means of Disclosure 

Every matter concerning corporate governance of a company must be disclosed 

appropriately. The guidance requires that information should be rich, brief, and exact and 

directed by the “substance over form” principle. Some issues call for constant disclosure. 

Thus, important information has to be within reach of users in a cost-efficient way, if possible, 

using the company’s websites of the company and that of the stock exchange. 

OECD (2004) recommends the use of the Internet in improving the spreading of information 

to users by the companies. UNCTAD (2006) urged that whatever method is employed to make 

the disclosures, a distinction has to be made between unaudited and audited financial data, 

and should offer ways of authentication of other non-financial data. 

3.3.2.11 Compliance with Good Practices 

Companies are expected to adopt the “comply or explain” rule if an indigenous code on 

corporate governance is in operation. Companies should disclose the degree of their 

compliance and give reasons for non-compliance. Companies are encouraged to use the 

“comply or explain” rule as it enables stakeholders’ access to company data. Companies are 

requested by UNCTAD (2006) to use internationally recognized good practices if there is no 

indigenous code.  
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Companies are to disclose awards or honors for good corporate governance practices 

UNCTAD (2006) recommends companies disclose accolades or recognitions received from 

stock exchanges and other recognized financial institutions; this is important as it offers 

independent proof of the company’s place in corporate governance. 

3.4 Nigerian Code of Corporate Governance 

With the desire to improve corporate governance in Nigeria, the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC) and the Corporate Affairs Commission (CAC), in June 2000, inaugurated a 

committee under the chairmanship of Atedo Peterside. With a mandate to identify the 

weaknesses in the current corporate governance practice in Nigeria, examine practices in 

other jurisdictions to adopt international best practices and make recommendations on 

necessary changes to current practice (SEC, 2003). 

3.4.1 Code of Best Practices for Corporate Governance 

According to Nmehielle and Nwauche (2004), the committee in the course of its work found 

out that the corporate governance system in Nigeria is still in its infancy and that the principles 

of corporate governance are not well appreciated in the country.  

The Peterside report, which was accepted and adopted by the SEC in April 2003, is known as 

the Code of Best Practices for Corporate Governance in Nigeria.  

A perusal of the code indicates that it addresses issues of accountability and transparency. 

The code focuses on the following key areas: (i) the board of directors, (ii) the shareholders’ 

rights and privileges, (iii) the audit committee.  

The board of directors: Under the board of directors, the SEC 2003 code started with the 

responsibilities of the board of directors. The board of directors should be responsible for the 

affairs of the company lawfully and efficiently. In a way as to ensure that the company is 

continuously improving its value creation as much as possible.  The SEC 2003 code in section 

1 (c) continued to list the functions of the board to include the following; 
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On the board composition, the SEC 2003 code encouraged that on the composition of the 

board, the Code of the SEC 2003 encouraged that it should be composed as much as possible 

in such a way as to ensure the diversity of expertise without compromising compatibility, 

honesty, availability and freedom. The code proposed that the board should consist of a 

combination of executive and non-executive directors to be headed by the chairman and that 

the size of the board should not exceed 15 persons or less than five persons in total in order 

for this to be possible.    

The SEC 2003 code advises that roles at the top of a corporation should be clearly defined in 

order not to have a concentration of power and a board controlled by one person. Ideally, the 

roles of the chairman and chief executive officer should be divided and filled by various 

individuals. It states that the roles are merged into one individual; the vice-chairman of the 

board, should be an influential non-executive independent director. 

The SEC 2003 code also recommends the setting up of the remuneration committee made up 

mainly of non-executive directors that should fix the remuneration of the executive directors. 

It also went further to suggest that there should be disclosure on directors’ emoluments and 

that of the chairman and highest-paid director.  

The SEC 2003 code stated that the board has the prime responsibility for proper internal 

controls, an obligation to present a balanced, reasonable, and transparent assessment of the 

company’s position, and also to ensure an objective and professional relationship is 

maintained with the auditors. 
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The rights and privileges of shareholders: the SEC 2003 code advises that the company 

preserve the legislative and general rights of shareholders at all times; shareholders should 

remain responsible for the appointment of directors and approve the terms and conditions 

of their tenure as well. Notices for the annual general meeting under the code should be 

submitted at least 21 working days before the meeting, and the location should be carefully 

selected in such a way as to make it possible and affordable for the majority of shareholders 

to participate. The SEC 2003 Code also proposed that the Board should use the Annual 

General Meeting as an avenue to connect with and facilitate the involvement of shareholders. 

The audit committee: The code made extensive recommendations about the audit 

committee, which includes: the establishment of the committee should be by CAMA Section 

359 (3) and (4) with the sole aim of improving expectations for corporate governance. That 

the committee should not be an obstacle between the board's executive directors and the 

auditors; that the board should not be under the control of any board personality. In order to 

ensure that the composition of the audit committee is autonomous, the Code of the SEC 2003 

specifies that the chairman of the committee be a non-executive director with no more than 

one executive, while the remaining members, who should be the majority, should be non-

executive and independent of management. At least one committee member should also be 

able to interpret and comprehend fundamental financial statements. The Code also defined 

the attributes that the committee members should possess, including: honesty, engagement, 

a comprehensive understanding of the company and its goods and services, a fair 

understanding of the company's risks, and the willingness to provide new insights and 

constructive suggestions. 

The SEC (2003) code suggests that the committee meet at least three times a year and should 

have a meeting with the external auditors at least once a year without the executives present, 

in order for the committee to have a handle on the financial health of the business. The audit 

committee should maintain an operational working relationship with the auditors (internal 

and external), the management and the board, as specified in section 15(d), in the course of 

discharging the duties assigned to it. 

The committee is empowered to seek professional advice from an outside expert to enable it 

effectively to discharge its duties and responsibilities. Also, in section 14 (a) of the SEC (2003) 
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code, the members of the committee and the committee itself will be assessed periodically 

to determine their performance. 

The SEC (2003) code lists specimen terms of reference for an audit committee as guidance 

only, in schedule 1 as follows: 
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It must be emphasized that the SEC 2003 code encouraged voluntary compliance by 

companies, which means it lacks the legal backing to enforce its recommendations. 
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3.4.2 Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies  

In 2011, the SEC issued the Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies in Nigeria, 

SEC 2011 code, which replaced the SEC 2003 code. The SEC 2011 code is the minimum 

standard expected of public companies in Nigeria. The SEC 2011 code is divided into nine parts 

made up of 37 sections that include: 

Application of the code: The SEC 2011 code applies to all public companies listed on a 

registered stock exchange in Nigeria, all companies seeking to acquire funds from the capital 

market or to be listed by way of introduction, and to all other public companies.Besides, the 

code is not intended to be a rigid set of rules but should be seen as a forceful document that 

defines the least possible standards of corporate governance for companies that are listed. In 

the first place, the SEC 2011 code emphasized that the responsibility for ensuring compliance 

with the provisions of the code lies squarely with the board of directors and that companies 

should indicate their level of compliance with the code in their annual reports to the SEC. 

The board of directors: The code in section 2 outlined the board responsibilities as cited in 

Ofo (2013) to be: 

i) Accountable and responsible for the performance and affairs of the company. 

ii) It should define the company’s strategic goals and ensure that both human and financial 

resources are deployed effectively towards attaining the goal. 

iii) Oversee the adequate performance of the management to protect and enhance 

shareholder value. 

iv) Ensure the company carries out its business following its Articles and Memorandum of 

Association and also conforms to the laws of the land. 

v) Ensure good corporate governance. 

Furthermore, the SEC 2011 code in section 3.1 stated the board duties would take account of 

the following: 
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Board structure and composition:  

Equally significant, in section 4.1, the SEC 2011 code recommended that the board's shape 

and composition be adequate in size relative to the scope and complexity of the operation of 

the organization. It should be composed in such a way that there is a diversity of expertise 

and that members can attend meetings without sacrificing freedom, compatibility, honesty, 

and availability. 

Additionally, the code encourages in section 4.2 that the  

“Membership of the board should not be less than five (5)” 

Moreover, the code also specified in section 4.3 that the board should consist of a 

combination of executive and non-executive directors, led by a chairman. In addition, the 

Code proposed in the same section that the majority of the members should be non-executive 

directors with at least one independent director. Also, the code suggests that only people 
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with honest character, appropriate core competencies, and business spirit are to be on the 

board. 

Board committees: The SEC 2011 code has provided for the establishment of an audit 

committee and risk management committee. But, the duties and roles played by the 

remuneration and nomination committees are bestowed on the governance/remuneration 

committee formed by section 11 of the SEC 2011 code. According to Ofo (2013), in the present 

era, four central board committees have been recognized as being vital for the establishment 

of good corporate governance practices. The committees are audit, risk management, 

remuneration, and nomination. 

Still, the SEC 2011 code in sections 4.3 and 5.5 (c) recommends that public companies are 

required to have at least one independent director on the board. The SEC 2011 code is 

considerably in line with practices recognized internationally on central board committees. 

Relationship with shareholders: The code in section 21 directed companies to conduct annual 

general meetings in an open manner allowing for free discussions on all issues on the list with 

all the chairmen of all committees present. The section continued to demand fair treatment 

for all shareholders and equal access to company information. Section 25 states that, 

“The Board should ensure that decisions reached at general meetings are properly and fully 

implemented.” 

On institutional shareholders and other shareholders with significant holdings, the code 

recommends they should seek to positively influence the standard of corporate governance 

in the companies in which they invest.  

Performance evaluation of the board: Section 15.1 of SEC (2011) recommended that the 

assessment of individual directors, including chairman of the board, the committees, and the 

board as a whole, should be done annually. Similarly, section 11.2 (h) re-echoes that on an 

annual basis, the board should conduct an evaluation.  
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The code in section 15.6 encourages the board to make use of external consultants to aid in 

the performance evaluation process. Furthermore, section 15.4 of the SEC (2011, p. 25) 

requires that. 

 

The compliance of the SEC 2011 code with best practice on board performance evaluation is 

commendable. 

Directors’ remuneration: Section 14.1 of the code provides that firms are to cultivate a 

comprehensive policy on directors and executive compensation. The notches or steps of the 

pay should be adequate to entice, encourage, and maintain experience and competent 

persons required to oversee the success of the company. The policy has to: 

 

 

Section 14.3 stipulates that only non-executive directors should be involved in decisions 

regarding the remuneration of the CEO and executive directors. 

Disclosure:  

Section 34 of the SEC 2011 code, recommends that boards of companies should ensure CARs 

make adequate disclosure on the company’s capital structure, company’s CG report, enough 

information on accounting and risk management matters. It should also contain the 
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statement of the chairman, the directors’ report, any interests of directors’ in contracts with 

the firm, substantial contracts with principal shareholders, current accounts or loans of 

directors with the firm, and related-party transactions. A report on the application of the SEC 

2011 code, and a consultant evaluation report if incase the company involved a consultant in 

the evaluation of its compliance.  

Furthermore, the SEC (2011, p. 48) code, recommends in section 34.13 that the 

 

Also, the SEC 2011 code encourages firms to have websites or investor portals, where 

shareholders and other stakeholders could access information. 

Based on the above recommendations from the guidelines for good governance and the 

provisions in the SEC codes, non-financial disclosure items have been identified as contained 

in Table 3.2 
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Table 3.2: Nonfinancial Disclosures as per SEC Codes 

 Nonfinancial Disclosures 
 Disclosure items 
 Company Objectives 

1 Vision & Mission Statement 
2 Chairman’s Report 
3 Director’/Chief Executive’s Report 

 Ownership & Shareholders’ Right 

4 Shareholding Structure 
5 Shareholders’ Right 

 Board and Management structure and process 

6 Composition of board of directors (executives and non-executives) 
7 Size of the Board (Minimum of 5, Maximum of 15) 
8 Chairman & CEO Duality 
9 Role & Functions of the Board 
10 Qualifications and biographical information on board members 
11 Number of Board Meetings (At least once every quarter) 
12 Attendance of Board Meetings (2/3 of meetings for renewal) 
13 Determination and composition of directors' remuneration 
14 Existence of procedure(s) for addressing conflicts of interest among board members 
15 Audit Committee (At least 3 times in a year) 
16 Governance/Remuneration Committee 
17 Risk Management Committee 
18 Other Committees 
19 Function of the Committees 
20 Composition of the Committees 
21 Organisational Code of Ethics 
22 Professional development and training activities 
23 Performance evaluation process 

 Issues in Employee Relation, Social/Environmental 

24 Employee Relation/ Industrial Relation 
25 Policy on "whistle blower" protection for all employees 
26 Corporate Social/Environmental  Responsibility 

 Auditing 

27 Internal Control System 
28 Auditor Appointment & Rotation 

 Annual General Meeting 

29 Notice & Agenda of the AGM 

 Means of Disclosure 

30 Separate CG Statement/ Section 
31 Investors’ portal on website 

 Compliance with CG 

32 Recognition/Award for CG 
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3.5 Chapter Summary 

This chapter looked at the good governance practices as recommended by the United Nations 

Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) guidelines in conjunction with the Nigerian 

codes to come up with disclosure items that suit the Nigerian environment. The emphasis is 

on widely applicable disclosure issues that are relevant to most enterprises. The study 

identified 11 financial disclosure items and 32 non-financial disclosure items. The list is the 

best practice for corporate governance disclosures required or recommended by UNCTAD 

guidelines and Nigerian codes to be used by companies to describe the state of corporate 

governance. Compliance with Nigerian codes requires a company's board of directors that 

jointly oversees the activities of the company. To establish keyboard committees like an audit 

committee, risk committee, governance/remuneration committee, among others, to keep 

abreast of the many new issues facing companies, while keeping up with their on-going 

oversight responsibilities. Companies are required to have regular audits of their financial 

statements by the auditors so that they could express an opinion on whether the company's 

financial statements are free of material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. 

External auditors may also be required to express an opinion over the effectiveness of internal 

controls over financial reporting. Best practices in company governance disclosure involve 

internal audits of financial and essential activities of the company, reporting them in a truthful 

and timely manner. Maintaining records of all transactions and documents, and maintaining 

a policy of transparency of management and operations on all but the most sensitive 

company matters. Also, best practices include bringing in non-executive and independent 

directors and adopting strategies for self-dealing and conflict of interest that might occur in 

the management and board activities while running the company. 

The next chapter reviews and discusses the theory and literature that provides the theoretical 

framework for defining the concept of corporate governance, sustainability practices, and the 

methodology for examining the relationship between corporate governance, sustainability 

practices, and corporate performance. 
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4.1 Introduction 

This chapter appraises and deliberates on the existing literature on corporate governance, 

sustainability practices, and corporate performance. Precisely, it strives to achieve two 

primary objects. Foremost, it seeks to put up a critique of the existing theoretical literature 

that attempts to link specific corporate governance mechanisms to corporate performance. 

The reason is to see if the adoption of these governance mechanisms is of benefit to corporate 

performance. Secondly, it is to carry out a broad appraisal of the experimental literature on 

internal corporate governance structures and corporate performance. Precisely, it tries 

through the existing internal corporate governance-performance association in the literature 

to develop hypotheses among the variables studied in this work. 

The rest of this chapter is separated into five parts. Section 4.2 defines the concept of 

corporate governance, some theories of corporate governance, and their impacts. Section 4.3 

examines what corporate performance is, the link between CG-CP. Section 4.4 summarises 

the chapter. 

 

4.2 Corporate Governance 

Corporate governance has been a priority for business and international communities for the 

last decade (Rossouw, 2005 as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). Because of the series 

of corporate collapses which brought the need for change around the world, the prominence 

of corporate governance is further highlighted. These failures have occurred since the 1990s, 

and the recent events in the Nigerian banking sector that have brought corporate governance 

topics to the forefront in almost all countries have led them to adopt corporate governance 

practices to address the weaknesses (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). Governmental bodies 

like the OECD and individual country codes have recommended these activities. 

4.2.1 Concept and Definition of Corporate Governance 

There are numerous definitions of corporate governance. For instance, O’Donovan (2003) 

defines corporate governance as: 
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Zingales (1998) cited in Newman (1998 p. 499) defines corporate governance as: 

 

Hussey (1999) describes corporate governance as: 

 

 

According to Sir Adrian Cadbury as cited in Nmehielle and Nwauche, 2004, pp. 2, corporate 

governance is: 

 

 

The definition therefore links guidelines and procedures to ensure that a business operates 

freely and professionally in such a way that it continues to be an ongoing concern and meets 

the needs of its shareholders, financiers and other stakeholders (Cheffins, 1999), as cited in 

(Nmehielle and Nwauche, 2004). 

According to Ouyang (2007), the definition of corporate governance from a theoretical angle 

is entrenched in agency theory.  

Present-day businesses have separated the company’s ownership (shareholders) from the 

company’s control (management) and afford the managers the chance to do things that will 
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be in their interest against the interest of the owners. This conflict of interest between owners 

and managers is mainly due to different goals. 

Shleifer and Vishny (1997, p742) defines corporate governance as “how suppliers of finance 

to corporations assure themselves of getting a return on their investment” This definition of 

Shleifer and Vishny (1997) stresses the need to motivate managers to act in the best interest 

of the suppliers of finance. 

The world over, it’s well known that the main task of businesses is long-term value creation 

that comes through corporate governance practices. This task, according to Heenetigala 

(2011), is categorized into value creation and value protection. Concerning value creation,  

Heenetigala (2011) claims that the priority is on shareholders through the implementation of 

long-term sustainable performance strategies, while the goal of value protection focuses on 

the company's management transparency and monitoring to protect both the interests of 

shareholders and stakeholders. 

This view has been taken up by stakeholder theorists such as Freeman (1984), Donaldson and 

Preston (1995), and Letza et al (2004) according to Spitzeck and Hansen (2010) as cited in 

Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015). They claimed that for the continued life of the organization, 

stakeholders are important, and they need to be included in the system. As qouted in Dembo 

and Rasaratnam (2015) Jensen (2001) believed that other proponents of agency theory 

understand that in " enlightened " governance systems, stakeholder interests need to be 

addressed. It should be noted that the structure of corporate governance has provided for 

the exchange of rights and responsibilities between the organization's various contributors, 

such as executives, managers, stock holders and other stakeholders, and for the disclosure of 

corporate decision-making conventions and processes. Zu (2007) as cited in Dembo and 

Rasaratnam (2015) believed that doing so offers the system by which the goals of the business 

are set and the way to achieve those goals and results.  

Individuals, institutional investors, and family holdings can be stock holders who can have a 

direct effect on corporate behavior. As equity shareholders, institutional investors are 

constantly seeking corporate governance for organizations. In general, ordinary shareholders 

don’t get into governance, and could be highly concerned about receiving sufficient action 
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from the management and core investors. On the other hand, the position of the financiers 

in the system is critical because they are the outside observers of the organization's 

achievement. The workers and other stakeholders play an important role in helping the 

company to achieve its goals, while governments provide corporate governance with a formal 

and legitimate framework (Demboand Rasaratnam, 2015). 

Corporate governance comprises a circle of relations between a company’s board, 

management, stockholders, and stakeholders. The interactions between the directors, 

management, core investors, individual shareholders, and other stakeholders are its primary 

worry. It compacts with the rights and obligations of directors, executives, shareholders, and 

other stakeholders. According to Clarkson (1995), societal performance can be examined and 

assessed more efficiently by applying a structure centered on managing a company’s 

relationship with its interested parties rather than using models and methods founded on 

ideas relating to societal responsibilities. Sound governance practice tries to unite the 

different structures in the system in such a way that it balances and protects the firm’s various 

stakeholders against the maneuvers demanded by managers and core investors for 

incentives. 

According to Muller (2017), a broader and more all-purpose definition is the definition of 

corporate governance by OECD (2004):  

“Corporate governance involves a set of relationships between a company’s management, its 

board, its shareholders, and other stakeholders. Corporate governance also provides the 

structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining 

those objectives and monitoring performance are determined”.  

The above concept of corporate governance includes all categories of stakeholders that are 

taken into account, such as personnel, clients and suppliers. This concept is also seen as 

connected with the theory of stakeholders. 

Furthermore, Deakin et al. (2002) asserted that literature on corporate governance gradually 

identifies that job satisfaction, fair treatment, a conducive atmosphere of the workplace, and 

above all, the security of job are significant influences in creating investments. The next 
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section examines two theoretical frameworks of corporation grounded on agency and 

stakeholder theories. 

4.2.2 Corporate Governance Theoretical Framework 

Several theoretical frameworks have been developed to illustrate and discuss corporate 

governance. According to Solomon (2007), each of the structures led corporate governance 

to a diverse approach, with different terms, and interprets it from a different standpoint, 

arising from a diverse field. For example, the agency theory paradigm comes from finance and 

economics, while the stakeholder theory is from a social-orientated view. Many differences 

exist between them, as each framework tried to evaluate the same issues, but then using 

different perceptions and sharing essential commonalities. This sub-section specifies a 

number of commonalities and differences between the competing paradigms. These 

evaluations are necessary for knowing the value of the different standards of corporate 

governance on the performance of companies. 

4.2.2.1 Agency Theory 

Friedman (2002) stressed that companies have no ethical or social responsibilities at all, other 

than the growth of their profit. This belief is called “shareholder theory.” Friedman (2002) 

continued to stress that a business aims to make a profit. In other words, a business can only 

continue to be in business if it makes a profit. So, shareholders, as owners of the company, 

have engaged managers to run it on their behalf to make a profit. In conclusion, Friedman 

(2002) remarked that personnel has one object to the organization, which is to maximize 

profit. This approach links corporate governance with the principal-agent theory, which 

Jensen and Meckling (1979) define an agency relationship as: 

 

 

Many researchers in the area of accounting, finance, marketing, economics, and sociology 

have used the agency theory (Eisenhardt, 1989). Theoretically, two questions arise: how does 

the principal enforce accountability and what if the agent is accountable to other parties other 
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than the principal. According to Zu (2007), these problems are the motives that make 

organizational behavior depart from profit-maximizing thinking. 

Recognizing the implication of the agency problem and costs, agency theorists argued that 

some governance mechanisms exist that may limit managers from focusing on their interests 

rather than the shareholders’ interests. Among them is through specifying managers’ and 

shareholders’ rights (Jensen and Meckling, 1979). Another way of resolving the agency 

problem is through alignment of interests. Alignment of interests is at times called goal 

congruence. The arrangement of interests could be well attained and an agency problem 

better handled by giving executives several bonuses, or by approving incentives connected to 

profits or share price. Another approach is by monitoring the managers by the board through 

the presence of non-executive directors. According to Fama and Jensen (1983), the presence 

of non-executive directors on the board can limit executive discretion by exploiting their 

monitoring ability. To lessen the agency problem, stockholders also need to exercise their 

rights to attend the annual general meetings and seeking to be directors themselves. An 

alternative way in which the agency costs may be minimized between shareholders and 

managers is through external factors (Owusu, 2012). For example, through mandatory 

financial disclosures, a statutory audit provides independent confirmation of financial 

performance measures by external auditors, which can be the basis to assess the efficient 

contract between the shareholders and the managers (Watts and Zimmerman, 1983). 

Notwithstanding the theory’s widespread support in academia, it has been critiqued for 

inspiring short-term decision-making and disregarding unethical behavior. Smith (2003) is a 

critic of agency theory who believes that it is 

 

The challengers of agency theory have repeatedly supported that corporations should 

balance the interests of equity holders against those of clients, workers, and other 

stakeholders when making decisions on behalf of the organization (Freeman, 2002). The 

benefit of the shareholder model, according to Zu (2007), is that it offers a clear direction in 

assisting managers in setting objectives and establishing a system for evaluating the 

effectiveness of the firm's managing team. 
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4.2.2.2 Stewardship Theory 

Berle and Means (1933), invented the word "modern corporation," which means a limited 

liability company in which ownership is separated from business control. The stewardship 

theory suggests that managers are truthful persons as such should be allowed to run the 

corporation since, according to (Ntim, 2009) they are "good stewards of the resources 

entrusted to them." These managers have possessed depth knowledge, commitment; have 

access to current operating information and technical expertise (Ouyang 2007).   

As a result, the stewardship theory promotes stronger the concentration of power and 

authority to a particular individual that is combining the role and responsibility of chairman 

and CEO.  

Research conducted by Muth and Donaldson (1998), shows that chairman and CEO duality 

could bring more returns to shareholders than when the positions are separated. 

Stewardship theory advocates, managers believe that by maximizing shareholders' interest, 

they may also serve their interests. An example of such is the reputation cost. Senior 

managers mostly tie their wealth and reputation to the companies' operational performance, 

and they have the inducement to maintain their status as experts or professionals. And so 

stewardship theory argued that company performance that fulfills the requirements of 

interested parties' results in dynamic performance equilibrium for balanced governance 

4.2.2.3 Resource Dependence Theory 

One more key theory that explores corporate governance, most notably the role directors' 

perform in the corporate governance structure, is the resource dependence theory. The 

clarification of the directors' role in corporate governance from the standpoint of the resource 

dependence theory is complementing that of agency theory. 

The agency theory emphasis that the directors' role is mainly to reduce agency problems 

because the interest of shareholders and managers may diverge. The agency theory suggests 

that Independent members of the board of directors can ease the agency problem through 

monitoring of the management and ensuring that managers act in the best interests of the 

shareholders. On the other hand, resource dependence theory maintains that directors being 
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knowledgeable and committed to the success of the company; they may combine the 

monitoring and resource dependence roles simultaneously.  

According to Ouyang (2007), resource dependence theory advocates that in the business 

setting, "there are a great number of external factors that may give rise to uncertainty and 

external dependencies. Firms have to deal with those uncertainties-generating factors to 

succeed in the competitive environment, and directors serve as liaisons between the firm and 

those uncertainties-generating external factors and help firms deal with those factors and 

make better investment decisions". 

Tehseen and Sajilan. (2016) believes that firms have to develop and maintain relationships 

with their customers, suppliers, and other relevant organizations to achieve essential 

resources. And their reliance on the external environment for financial support exposes them 

to resource dependence and the possibility of external control (Mitchell, (2014). 

4.2.2.4 Stakeholder Theory  

Stakeholders are any entity (person or group) that could affect or be affected by the 

organization achieving its aims. It is very much a mutual relationship. Every stakeholder group 

has a different hope of what it desires and varied assertions upon the institution. The 

stakeholder theory suggests corporate responsibility to a vast collection of stakeholders. The 

theory is centered on the significance of the firm's impact not only to shareholders but also 

to society and other stakeholders. Stakeholders should be seen not as just living, but making 

genuine demands upon an organization. The relationship should be viewed as a reciprocal 

relationship, according to ACCA (2009, p. 14) 
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According to Donaldson and Preston (1995), two types of motivations take place when 

organizations respond to stakeholder anxiety: instrumental view and normative view.  

The instrumental perspective of stakeholders reveals the belief that businesses have mostly 

economic responsibilities and lawful requirements they have to satisfy to be in business. From 

this standpoint, the discharge of stakeholders’ obligations is necessary because it makes firms 

maximize their earnings or meet the requirements of the law or stock exchange. Thus, a 

business does not possess any moral vantage point of its own; it only echoes whatever are 

the views of the stakeholders. 

The normative perspective is founded along with the idea that businesses have ethical duties 

to stakeholders; as a result, accepting stakeholder views is an end in itself. This indicates the 

existence of ethical and philanthropic responsibilities as well as economic, legal 

responsibilities, and organizations focusing on being selfless. 

Their proximity to the establishment can sort stakeholders. They are classed into three 

groups; the first is the internal stakeholders who happen to be the employees and 

management. The connected stakeholders are the second group, which includes 

shareholders, customers, suppliers, lenders, and competitors; the third group is the external 

stakeholders that include the government, the public, and pressure groups. Other ways 

stakeholders are classified are: Evan and Freeman (1988) claimed that there are narrow and 

wide stakeholders. According to them, narrow stakeholders are those most touched by the 

corporate strategy like the shareholders, directors, employees, and clients. The wide 

stakeholders are the least affected by the corporate policy like government, clients, and the 

community. In this classification, businesses should concentrate more on narrow 

stakeholders and less on wider stakeholders. Still, Clarkson (1991) argued that there are 

primary and secondary stakeholders. He defines the primary stakeholders as those without 

whose involvement the establishment will have trouble remaining as a going concern, like 

shareholders, customers, suppliers, and government. The secondary stakeholders are those 

whose loss of involvement will not touch on the business’s continued survival, like broad 

communities and management. The peculiarity amid this and narrow-wide classification is at 

the foundation of how much the stakeholders affect the establishment. And how much the 

system affects its stakeholders. The active and passive stakeholders are another classification, 
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by Mahoney (1994). The active stakeholders are those that take part in the organization’s 

actions. Stakeholders in this group consist of institutional investors, managers, and 

employees. The passive stakeholders are those that do not strive for participating in making 

policy for the organization—for example, government and host communities. Passive 

stakeholders may, all the same, be concerned and influential. If corporate governance 

structures are to grow, there is a need for influential passive stakeholders to adopt a more 

active part. 

In attempting to reconcile the perspectives of diverse stakeholders, Jensen (2001) as cited in 

ACCA (2009, p. 20) claimed   

 

In the first place, Blair (1996) asserted that the idea did not give excellent guidance in helping 

directors and managers agree on priorities and decide between the contending social benefits 

of using corporate resources.  So did not provide precise enforcement methods in ensuring 

that companies are alive to their social responsibilities. As a result of these lapses, policy-

makers, a small number of academics, and advocates of corporate governance reforms still 

support this idea. Also, Zu (2007) claimed that critics of the stakeholder model said that 

directors or managers might well use "stakeholder" motives to explain poor firm 

performance. Notwithstanding the critiques of the model, its benefit is on its emphasis on 

overpowering difficulties of underinvestment related to unethical conduct and in boosting 

active collaboration between stakeholders to enable the organization to meet its long-term 

profit (Zu, 2007). 
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4.3 Sustainability Practices 

Corporate organizations operate in ever more dynamic systems that are subject not only to 

commercial and economic stresses, but also to government, shareholders, investors, 

creditors, suppliers, civil society, customers, managers and workers' social and environmental 

demands (Dembo, 2017). Some of these consequences, such as particular government 

requirements or more general social credibility standards, are external to the organization 

(DiMaggio and Powell, 1983; Wood, 1991 cited in Dembo, 2017). Additional impacts on social 

performance results are continually replicating the commitments made by managers from 

within the organization (Greening and Gray, 1994; Miles, 1987).The responses of companies 

to the standards of responsible conduct may also differ (Oliver, 1991 cited in Dembo, 2017). 

In certain situations, demands for social responsibility may cause major changes that are 

incorporated into the systemic affairs of the organization. In other cases, as cited in Dembo 

(2017), Meyer and Rowan (1977) argued, corporate responses to demands for responsible 

behavior are leaning towards "window dressing" responses that can easily be decoupled from 

daily organizational activities. A company is said to be economically sustainable when it 

internalizes social costs and preserves and develops capital stocks. As stated in Dembo (2017), 

Kaptein and Wempe (2001) claim that socially sustainable companies are those that are seen 

by all stakeholders as fair and trustworthy. 

4.3.1 Concept and Definition of Sustainability Practices 

Sustainability is a concept, according to Dobson (1996), which has been applied and 

interpreted in significantly different ways. Crane and Matten (2007) noted that sustainable 

growth, as described by UNWCED (1987), as cited by Bebbington and Thomson (1996), is the 

most common use of sustainability. 

 

As cited in Crane and Matten (2007), Elkington (1998) said the perception of sustainability has 

been expanded to include not only environmental, but also economic and social reflections 

(Elkington, 1998). The Triple Bottom Line (TBL) was promoted by Elkington which symbolizes 

the belief that business should not have a single goal, which is economic profit. Nevertheless, 

it should also have interests that include social and environmental values. 
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From the environmental point of view, the fundamental sustainable philosophies concern the 

efficient use of physical resources so that they are conserved for the future. The economic 

definition will concentrate on the long-term financial success of the organization itself while 

social justice is a crucial topic from a social perspective (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015).  

The study described sustainability as the organization's ability to maintain a reasonable 

balance between economic growth, environmental security and social progress after analysis 

of the work done by the WHO (2005) and Ngwakwe (2009). The idea is that the environmental 

and social responsibility part of the triple bottom line objective should not be ignored for 

sustainable economic growth if a company needs to achieve its long-term economic objective 

(Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). 

4.3.2 Sustainability Practices and Stakeholders 

CSP denotes, according to Mallin (2009) as cited in Ogunremi (2010), how corporations match 

their beliefs and practices with those of their various stakeholders. It is connected to the 

organization's liberal range of ties with its various stakeholders and their surroundings 

(Crisóstomo et al., 2010 as cited in Ogunremi, 2010). An organization's stakeholders include 

the title holders, workers, clients, vendors, government, and several others who are indirectly 

or directly connected to the organization. In the organization's procedures and resolutions, 

these collections of persons each have rights or concerns (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). 

According to Prior et al. (2008) as cited in Ogunremi (2010), they are perceived as a set that 

tolerates several risks as a result of financing the organization's financial and human capital.  

As quoted in Burchell (2008), Carroll (1979) indicates that social or communal roles are 

personalized by the idea of stakeholders. This is achieved by identifying the specific classes or 

individuals that the organization should take into account in its SP orientation. He further 

argued that the difficulty of working out the urgency or significance of different stakeholder 

rights is faced by managers. It was concluded that two basic requirements, the power and 

legitimacy of shareholders, were used. While the win-win result is not always feasible, it is 

therefore the objective of the management to ensure that other stakeholders can also be 

happy as primary stakeholders achieve their goals (Burchell, 2008).  

SP has now become an important part of the dialogue between the businesses and their 

stakeholders (Bhattacharya, 2009 cited in Ogunremi, 2010). This is because it holds the key to 
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commercial success in the long term. To a large degree, profits rely on credibility, which in 

turn relies on how the company is perceived to be socially responsible (Henderson, 2009 cited 

in Ogunremi, 2010). Many public limited corporations not only participate in social 

responsibility programs but also commit considerable funds to reporting to corporate 

stakeholders on SP (KPMG, 2003 cited in Bhattacharya, 2009). The business case for SP is 

endorsed in academic works as stated by Bhattacharya (2009). This is the concept that an 

investment in SP initiatives by a business will generate returns for a company, and that the 

stakeholders can also reward their SP activities (Ogunremi,2010).  

Tokoro (2007) as cited in Ogunremi (2010) argues that the actions of shareholders constitute 

a significant restrictive factor in the operations of a company in the evaluation of corporate 

management from a social responsibility point of view. Therefore, he argued that SP should 

be calculated through a CSR system consisting of a triple bottom line of economic, 

environmental, and societal issues. He adds that the steps taken by shareholders to engage 

in the position of socially responsible investment funds (SRI) have been taken. This investment 

strategy takes environmental, social and financial performance aspects into account when 

choosing a business to invest in. In the selection process, a method known as “negative 

screening' is used, which includes the assessment of businesses based on ethical standards 

and the exclusion of businesses engaged in unacceptable ethical corporate activities (Dembo 

and Rasaratnam, 2015).  

4.3.3 Arguments against Sustainability Practices 

As quoted in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015), Friedman (2002) echoes that, provided that 

corporations work within the rules of the game, the corporation's only obligation is to 

generate value for its shareholders. Henderson (2009) as cited in Ogunremi (2010) considers 

that both individual businesses and the entire economy suffer from SP. He points out that 

SP's implementation increases costs and mars the company's functioning as companies begin 

to redefine their position, objectives, and activity to meet a common objective shared by all 

stakeholders. Henderson (2009) went on to suggest that business executives have to clarify 

the comprehensive mix of priorities and get active in the imaginative practice of sustainable 

growth. He also claims that there are three individual scopes of sustainable growth, economic, 

social and environmental, which is not a straightforward concept since there is no such path 
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of corporate good. He assumes, therefore, that it is wrong to accept that the world will be a 

better place when businesses dedicate themselves 

In addition, Henderson (2009) as cited in Ogunremi (2010) asserted that SP suggests that the 

universe is increasingly over-determined. This can be gathered from what is on the ground: 

that the profit organizations gained from it far outweigh the cost to organizations. 

Consequently, it can be argued that businesses participate in this method because it has 

become an established rule in the culture in which they work. CSR opposes the growth of 

poor countries according to Henderson (2009) as cited in Ogunremi (2010). In other words, 

because of the monetary value of financing in SP, job prospects are regulated. He clarified 

this by explaining that corporations would cause the planet to be poorer and overregulated 

by participating in SP, even though it would increase the fiscal status of certain organizations.  

Different researchers however have questioned such a positive finding. Preston and 

O'Bannon (1997) as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015) demonstrate that management 

is following short-range strategies that emphasize the financial effects rather than long-

standing social problems. It has been noted that such practices are carried out by newly 

appointed managers who want to gain more seniority. In addition, Prior et al. (2008) in Dembo 

and Rasaratnam (2015), stress that the handling of a large circle of stakeholders with various 

goals will result in the company becoming highly inflexible and wasting resources. This in 

effect, will hinder the organization's efficiency since the decision-making process in the 

organization may be deferred by different sometimes conflicting priorities. Similarly, Jones 

(1995), quoted in Prior et al. (2008), examined managers' behavior of this nature. He added 

that such exercises are aimed at meeting the interests of stakeholders, which leads to the 

financial performance of the business being disadvantaged (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015).  

Again, Aupperle et al. (1985) as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015) argued that socially 

responsive behavior could siphon the resources and capital of the organization and put it at 

a disadvantage relative to those associated with less socially responsive businesses. It has also 

been argued that management are after their goals to the detriment of shareholders and 

other stakeholders objectives (Weidenbaum and Vogt, 1987 as cited in Dembo and 

Rasaratnam, 2015). Similarly, according to researchers such as Alkhafaji (1989) and Posner 

and Schmidt (1992), managerial opportunism, as cited in O'Bannon (1997), pursues personal 
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management goals in the sense of short-term profit-related reward schemes that lead to a 

negative correlation between financial and social results. This means that when company 

output is high, managers try to cash in to reap the advantage of increasing their own short-

term personal benefits by reducing spending on social activities. And when corporate output 

is poor, executives attempt to explain the losses by taking care of the results. 

4.3.4 Arguments for Sustainability Practices 

As cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015), Freeman (2010) concluded that social 

responsibility contributes to competitive advantage, as the relationship with its stakeholders 

would be strengthened by the rise in social responsibility. Similarly, Prior et al. (2008) as cited 

in Ogunremi (2010) suggested that participating in SP practices has a positive impact on the 

image of the organization as it tackles environmental security, workforce management, 

consumer relationships, workplace health and safety, and community relations concerns. As 

a result, stakeholder satisfaction is increased, and stakeholder activism and attention is 

directed towards the organization. In addition, he noted that the release of facts on corporate 

actions and social responsibility commitments helps to build an inspiring picture among 

stakeholders. The explanation for this is that stakeholders are not far from approving 

companies that respect their needs and make available useful data for economic decision-

making. 

A business can gain the backing of its stakeholder groups by choosing the sustainability 

practice option. Such support includes positive media attention and endorsements by 

advocacy organizations and community groups (Prior et al., 2008 as cited in Ogunremi, 2010). 

Henderson (2009) as quoted by Ogunremi, 2010 similarly shows that SP encourages more 

employee commitment and dedication. It also assists in the recruitment of skilled and 

hardworking staff. The adoption of SP by corporations means enlightened self-interest, which 

means a way to communicate to the public, today and in the near future, the ideas that the 

organization has for the world. This guarantees on-going public support for the framework of 

free enterprise. Therefore, SP actions are seen to be powerful tools in the business for growth 

and development (Ogunremi, 2010). 

According to Preston and O'Bannon (1997) as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015), 

stakeholder theorists thought that meeting the needs of different stakeholders would 
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ultimately lead to favorable corporate results. Similarly, as quoted in Preston and O'Bannon 

(1997), Cornell and Shapiro (1987) reasoned that not meeting stakeholder expectations 

would trigger investor concerns and this would raise the company's risk premium, resulting 

in increased costs and low profit. Profits rely on a considerable amount of legitimacy, which 

also depends on how the business is determined to function in a socially responsible manner 

(Henderson, 2009). Cornell and Shapiro (1987), as quoted in Preston and O'Bannon (1997), 

have argued that it strengthens the company's image by aiding the implied arguments of 

stakeholders in such a way that there is a positive impact on corporate results and vice versa. 

In addition, Epstein (2008) as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015) argued that the 

shareholder value is a fundamental objective. Most organizations and executives have 

understood that when the value of workers, vendors, consumers, community and other 

stakeholders is created, shareholder value can be increased.  

Solomon (2007) as quoted in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015) believed that it could reduce 

corporate efficiency by overlooking stakeholder needs and even lead to corporate failure. He 

showed that companies that are efficiently run are likely to have an outstanding system of 

environmental management and high levels of discussion and interaction among 

stakeholders. And any business with bad relationships between stakeholders could be 

characterized by poor management and poor corporate results as a result.  

In a recent 2012 Accenture survey as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015) covering eight 

markets around the world to explore the relationship between sustainable business and 

business growth, several businesses put environmental and social stewardship at the core of 

their operations. This makes them better positioned to enhance their profile, comply with 

laws, and reduce cost. 

One could argue that the study of shareholder value provides an opportunity for sustainability 

managers to participate in investment openings to produce shareholder value. Therefore, 

management will increase the probability that company targets which will be pursued by 

recognizing and including wider and longer-term social and environmental effects that affect 

corporate profitability in a single performance metric such as shareholder value analysis.  
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4.4 Corporate Performance  

Corporate performance can be defined as an indicator of how well an organization uses its 

resources for sales over a given period. It is believed to be a company's accomplishment in 

terms of profitability over time. The benefit is the excess of a corporation's generated income 

over expenditures. It is widely regarded as the most significant indicator of a company's 

performance (Powell, 2005). The resources that companies use to make profit are provided 

from the community where they operate directly or indirectly. Then you can infer that 

businesses can play an active role in their surroundings. Besides, corporate bodies must 

continuously be proving their economic and financial performance to the immediate 

environment (Dorina et al., 2012). Equally important, Tatiana and Mărioara (2012) argue that 

a performance measure is a necessary form for declaring the progress of one's company, and 

for growth not measured, it means it does not exist. 

The details presented by a corporation in its financial statement are used correctly to assess 

the corporate performance of a company. Its users evaluate such data, and some conclusions 

are drawn about the company's corporate performance. Ratio analysis, which includes the 

estimation of accounting ratios, is the most common method used in analyzing financial 

statements (Melville, 2008). An accounting ratio is the relationship of one figure to another 

in a series of financial statements, and they are of various kinds, shaping the definition of 

corporate performance with many aspects, including social responsibility. According to the 

meta-analysis of Boaventura et al. (2012), most studies use return on assets (ROA) to measure 

CP. Boaventura et al. (2012) claimed that almost 48% used ROA, trailed by ROE with 17%, 

sales growth 12%, return on sales 9%, contribution margin 9%, Tobin's Q 6%, etc. As a result 

of these developments, one may conclude that ROA and ROE are mostly used to measure 

corporate performance. 

For this thesis, Return on Equity (ROE) and Return on Assets (ROA) are used, and this is 

because we want to have a clear picture of the companies' health. The two ratios provide a 

more precise representation of a company's performance. Specifically, ROE is a basic test of 

the company's management effectiveness of the use of investor's funds. While ROA enables 

us to test the competence of the management's capability to use the company's assets to 

maximize shareholders' investment. It is imperative to note there is no single measure of 

corporate performance that should be used alone. Somewhat, for an exhaustive evaluation 
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of firm performance, different measures should be considered. To fulfill the objective of 

analyzing the impact of specific corporate governance mechanisms and sustainability 

practices on the corporate performance of companies, opinions of scholars on corporate 

governance, sustainability practices, and corporate performance have been reviewed. 

4.4.1 Corporate Governance –Corporate Performance Link 

In this sub-section, prior literature on the association between the specific corporate 

governance mechanisms and corporate performance relevant to the study are highlighted. 

Of particular concern to this study is the board size, proportion of NEDs, CEO duality, audit 

committee, and board diversity as they are among the mechanisms the Nigerian SEC codes 

recommended as earlier discussed in Chapter 3. Several studies have investigated the link 

between these mechanisms and corporate performance using performance measures like 

ROE, ROA, Tobin's Q, and Market Returns or both. These corporate governance mechanisms 

and corporate performance variables related to prior studies are reviewed to formulate the 

five hypotheses tested in Chapter 7. 

4.4.1.1 Board Size 

Agency theory proposes that boards with small size are more efficient and better than boards 

with large size in improving corporate performance (Lipton and Lorsch, 1992; Jensen, 1993). 

Lipton and Lorsch (1992) propose that corporate board size should probably be between eight 

and nine members. This is because as the size of the corporate board goes further than ten 

members, it may attract extra costs due to slow decision-making associated with larger 

boards. Also, Lipton and Lorsch (1992) believe that boards with smaller sizes are expected to 

be more organized and more productive. This is because board directors are more willing to 

contribute and express their views within the limited time available. Moreover, Jensen (1993) 

maintained that as soon as a corporate board becomes too large, it becomes more demanding 

to direct and so an overriding CEO finds it much easier to control the board owing to director 

shirking and free-riding.  

On the other hand, Haniffa and Hudaib (2006) argued that boards with large size are related 

with different talents, business associates, and knowledge that the boards with small size, 

possibly will not have, which provides ample opportunity to secure the much-needed 
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resources. Similarly, John and Senbet (1998) found that board monitoring capacity has a 

positive relation to board size. Equally important are Zahra and Pearce's (1989) assertion that 

 

Empirically, the evidence of the relationship between board size and corporate performance 

has mixed results. Yermack (1996) was among the earliest researchers that examined board 

size-performance relationship. Yermack (1996) found a significant and negative association 

between board size and profitability measured by ROA. Also, Eisenberg et al. (1998) reported 

a significant negative association when they examined the relationship between board size 

and firm performance of 879 firms from 1992 to 1994 in Finland. Similarly, in Conyon and 

Peck’s (1998) study of 701 listed companies across European countries from 1992 to 1995, 

they reported an association that is negative between board size and firm performance. Still, 

Bhagat and Black (2002), in their study with 941 US companies, reported a relationship 

between board size and performance when ROA and ROS were used as the accounting 

performance measure as negative. 

Furthermore, Guest (2009) examined 2,746 companies from the UK, found board size to be 

significantly and negatively related to performance proxy by ROA. Recent results from Sri 

Lanka by Azeez (2015) indicate that board size is negatively associated with firm performance. 

This suggests that small boards are associated with higher firm performance, possibly through 

closely monitored management. Previous investigations in the Gulf Cooperation Council by 

Naushad and Malik (2015) and Al-Matari et al. (2012) reported a negative relationship 

between board size and performance. Recently, Pillai and  

Al-Malkawi (2018) investigations reveal that the CG variable board size emerged as a vital 

determinant of performance with both the ROA and Tobin Q measures in all the Gulf 

Cooperation Council. This implies that large board size is detrimental to the FP of companies 

and the firms ought to limit their board size ranging 8–11. 
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In contrast, Faccio and Lasfer (1999), using 1,650 non-financial companies in the UK listed on 

the London Stock Exchange over the period June 1996 to June 1997, found board size to be 

positively related to firm performance. Similarly, Haniffa and Hudaib (2006) reported an 

association that is positive between board size and corporate performance measured by ROA. 

These findings are in line with Zahra and Pearce’s (1989) assertion that boards with large size 

assist in obtaining much-needed resources like investments and raw materials. Moreover, 

Leng (2004) claimed that performance increases with the size of the board. Besides, 

Kyereboah-Coleman and Biekpe (2006) also reported a relationship that is positive between 

board size and corporate performance. Moreover, Sulong and Nor (2010) found the link 

between board size and firm performance is positive in a study that involves Malaysian 

companies. This result revealed that larger boards are more relevant in monitoring the 

decisions of managers (Zahra and Pearce, 1989). 

The outcome of Yasser et al. (2015) offers proof of a substantial positive correlation between 

ROE and board scale. The consequence of this is that the size of the board should be restricted 

to a significant amount. Similarly, using 235 non-financial public limited companies listed in 

the NSE 500, Bansal and Sharma (2016) found a substantial positive association of board size 

with ROA and ROE's firm performance proxy. Research by Malik and Makhdoom (2016), 

shows that smaller board sizes in Fortune Global 500 companies are found to generate better 

company efficiency.  

Zabri et al. (2016) examine the link between corporate governance practices with company 

results using the top 100 publicly listed companies in Bursa Malaysia. The result showed a 

strong weak negative association with ROA for board size, but it was found to be negligible 

for ROE.  

However, Wintoki et al. (2012) reported no causal link between board size and ROA when 

they investigated 6,000 US-listed companies from 1991 to 2003. 

In Nigeria, Kajola (2008) found a positive and significant relation between board size and firm 

performance measured by ROE, for 20 Nigerian quoted firms from 2000 to 2006. In a prior 

study, Sanda et al. (2005) found a positive correlation between board size and accounting 
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measure as a proxy by ROE. Sanda et al. (2005) concluded that the positive sign holds up to 

10 board members and a negative relationship set in when it is beyond.  

The Nigerian code of best practices recommends that all public companies operating in 

Nigeria should have a board size of at least 5 persons, which is consistent with Lipton and 

Lorsch (1992). Even though many studies have argued that firms benefit from having larger 

boards for monitoring, strategy, and resources. No compromise is reached as to whether 

boards with smaller or larger sizes are better and more able to improve firm performance or 

what exactly is the optimal number of board members or whether large boards are more 

diverse and less cohesive (Al-Saidi, 2010). Thus, the connection between board size and 

corporate performance has shown a mixed relationship. Still, the negative correlation 

between the two is well established across countries, so the second hypothesis is: 

HO2: The relationship between board size and corporate performance is negative. 

Table 4.1 shows the empirical research between board size and corporate performance that 

relates to this study.
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Table 4.1: Empirical Studies of the Relationship between Board size and Corporate Performance 

Author Variables Performance 
Measures 

Sample Sign of Result 

Yermack (1996) Outside directors and Board 
size 

ROA and Tobin‘s 
Q  

452 firms 
1981-1991 

Inverse relationship between corporate board size and 
performance (Tobin’s Q) and a negative relationship with 
ROA and board size. 

Eisenberg et al. 
(1998) 

Board size ROA 879 firms 
1992-1994 

A significant negative relationship between board size and 
profitability. 

Conyon and Peck 
(1998) 

Board size ROE and Tobin’s 
Q 

481 firms 1990-
1995 

Significant negative relationship between board size and 
performance measures. 

Bhagat and Black 
(2002) 

Board size and Outside 
directors 

Tobin‘s Q, ROA, 
ROS 

941 firms 1991-
1995 

Negative relationship with board size and no relationship 
with outside directors. 

Guest (2009) Board size ROA, Tobin’s Q 
and Share 
Returns 

2746 firms 1981-
2002 

Significant negative association between board size and 
performance -ROA, Tobin’s Q and Share returns.  

Faccio and Lasfer 
(1999) 

Board size, Role duality and 
Outside directors 

ROE, ROA, Tobin‘s 
Q, and P/E 

1650 firms 
1996-1997 

Larger board size companies over perform companies with 
smaller board size. 

Haniffa and 
Hudaib (2006) 

Board size, Outside directors 
and Role duality 

ROA and  Tobin‘s 
Q  

347 firms 1996-
2000 

Positive association between board size and performance 
variable ROA. 

Kyereboah-
Coleman and 
Biekpe (2006) 

Board size, Outside directors 
and Role duality 

ROA, Tobin‘s Q, 
and sales growth 

16 firms 1990-
2001 

Positive association between board size and performance. 

Leng (2004) Board size ROE 77 firms 1996-
1999 

Positive association between board size and performance 
measure. 

Wintoki et al. 
(2012) 

Board size and Non-executive 
directors 

ROA 6000 firms 1991-
2003 

No causal relation between board size and ROA. 

Yasser et al 
(2015) 

Board size, Board 
composition,  Duality and 
Audit committee 

ROE and Profit 
Margin 

60 firms 
2008-09 

Significant positive relationship between board size and ROE 

Azeez (2015) Board Size, Duality, and 
proportion of non- executive 
directors 

EPS, ROA, and 
ROE 

100 firms   2010-
2012 

Board size is negatively associated with firm performance 
ROE and ROA 
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Bansal and 
Sharma (2016) 

Duality, Board composition, 
and Board size 

ROA and ROE 235 public limited 
companies listed 
in NSE 500. 2004-
2013 

Results reveal significant positive association of board size 
and firm performance measured by ROA and ROE 

Zabri et al (2016) Board size and Board 
Independence  

ROA and ROE 100 firms  The result showed that board size has significantly weak 
negative relationship with ROA but it was found to be 
insignificant to ROE. 

Pillai and  Al-
Malkawi (2018)   

Board Size, Duality, and Audit 
Type 

ROA and Tobin Q 349 firms 2005-
2012 

Board size significantly affect the performance 

Sanda et al. 
(2005) 

Board size, Outside director 
and Role duality 

ROA, ROE, PE 
ratio and Tobin‘s 
Q 

93 firms 1996-
1999 

A positive association between board size and profitability, 
as proxy by return on equity (ROE). 

Kajola (2008) Board size, Board 
composition, Role duality and 
Audit committee 

ROE and Profit 
Margin 

20 firms 2000-
2006 

A positive significant association between ROE and board 
size as well as chief executive status. 
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4.4.1.2 Proportion of Non-Executive Directors 

Among the suggestions for operational corporate governance practices that may reduce 

agency problems are the appointment of non-executive directors (NEDs) on the board of 

companies (Fama and Jensen, 1983; Lipton and Lorsch, 1992). According to Cadbury (1992), 

non-executive directors have the responsibility for appraising the performance of the board 

and executive directors. Non-executive directors bring independent judgment in decision-

making to the board (Cadbury, 1992); they offer expertise, experience, and a reputation for 

the firm (Haniffa and Hudaib, 2006). Hart (1995) argues that non-executive directors are 

“delegated monitors” responsible for overseeing management’s utilization of the firm’s 

resources by the shareholders. This is the foundation on which international best practice and 

most standards around the globe have commended the appointment of NEDs onto the board 

of companies. Lastly, it has been contended that the nomination of NEDs aids in straightening 

out the policy-making and control functions (Fama and Jensen, 1983). 

Empirically, previous studies have shown that the relationship between the proportion of 

non-executive directors and firm performance to be mixed. Klein (1998) reported the 

connection between the proportion of outside directors and ROA as a proxy for organizational 

performance is negative when he evaluated 486 firms listed on the S&P 500. Similarly, 

Kyereboah-Coleman and Biekpe (2006) found the link between the proportion of non-

executive directors and firm performance in Ghanaian companies is negative. Also, Abdullah’s 

(2007) study focusing on UK listed companies on the association between firm performance 

and corporate governance finds negative relation between the proportion of NEDs and firm 

performance over the periods 1999-2001 and 2002-2004. 

However, Pearce and Zahra (1992), using 119 Fortune 500 firms in their study, reported that 

the proportion of NEDs has a significant and positive association with accounting measures 

of ROE, ROA, and EPS. Also, using a sample of 186 firms, Daily and Dalton (1993) found a 

significant positive association between the proportion of NEDs and firm performance. In a 

study of UK quoted companies over the period June 1996 to June 1997 by Faccio and Lasfer 

(1999), they found a positive connection between the proportion of non-executive directors 

and the performance of companies. Similarly, Cho and Kim (2007) examined the impact of 

non-executive directors on corporate performance in Korea in 1999 and found that there is a 
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positive impact between the two. Of recent, Yasser et al. (2015) found a significant positive 

relationship between ROE and non-executive directors. This result implies that the board 

must be of the right mixture of executive and non-executive directors. 

 By contrast, some studies reported no association between the proportion of NEDs and 

performance (Daily and Dalton, 1992; Weir and Laing, 2000; Sanda et al., 2005; Haniffa and 

Hudaib, 2006; Kajola, 2008; Wintoki et al., 2012). Besides, Azeez. (2015) reported that the 

presence of non-executive directors on the board are not associated with the firm 

Performance of the listed companies in Sri Lanka. 

Of importance to this study is the Nigerian survey of Sanda et al. (2005) that indicated that 

the presence of outside directors on the board does not affect firm performance in their 

sample of 93 listed companies. Similarly, Kajola (2008), another Nigerian study of 20 firms, 

found that the proportion of NEDs has no significant impact on firm performance. However, 

the Nigerian code recommends that the board of a Nigerian public company should comprise 

of a mix of executive and non-executive directors. The majority of the board members should 

be non-executive directors. This signifies that the appointment of non-executive directors on 

the board should hence warrant effective monitoring of the executive whose interests are 

not aligned with shareholder value maximization. In this respect, and as specified by the 

Nigerian Code, public companies should have a majority of board members as non-executive, 

so the third applicable hypothesis is: 

HO3: The relationship between the proportion of non-executive directors and corporate 

performance is positive. 

Table 4.2 shows the empirical research between the proportion of non-executive directors 

and corporate performance that relate to this study.
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Table 4.2: Empirical Studies of the Relationship between Proportion of NEDs and Corporate Performance 

Author Variables Performance 
Measures 

Sample Sign of Result 

Klein (1998) Non-executive 
directors 

ROA, market returns, 
and Jensen’s 
productivity measures 

S&P 500 firms 
1992-1993 

The proportion of NEDs is Negatively related to firm 
performance when measured with ROA  

Kyereboah-Coleman 
and Biekpe (2006) 

Non-executive 
directors, Board 
size, and Role 
duality 

ROA, Tobin‘s Q, and 
sales growth 

16 listed firms 
1990-2001 

Negative relationship between the proportion of non-
executive directors and firm performance 

Abdullah (2007) Non-executive 
directors and 
Board size 

ROA, Tobin’s Q and 
sales to total assets 

350 UK listed 
firms 
1999-2004 

Negative link between the proportion of NEDs and firm 
performance 

Pearce and Zahra 
(1992) 

Non-executive 
directors and 
Board size 

ROE, ROA, EPS and 
Net profit margin 

119 Fortune 500 
firms 
1983-1989 

The proportion of Non-executive directors is significantly 
positively with firm performance (ROE, ROA and EPS) 

Daily and Dalton 
(1993) 

Non-executive 
directors 

ROE, ROA and P/E 
Ratio 

186 small listed 
firms 

The proportion of Non-executive directors are 
significantly and positively related to all the performance 
measures 

Faccio and Lasfer 
(1999) 

Non-executive 
directors, Board 
Size and Role 
duality 

ROE, ROA, Tobin‘s Q, 
and P/E 

1,650 listed  firms 
1996-1997 

The proportion of Non-executive directors is positively 
related to firm performance 

Cho and Kim (2007) Non-executive 
directors 

ROA 347 listed firms 
1999 

Positive impact between the proportion of Non-executive 
directors and performance 

Daily and Dalton 
(1992) 

Non-executive 
directors and Role 
duality 

ROA 100 listed firms 
1989 

The proportion of non-executive directors has no impact 
on performance 

Weir and Laing 
(2000) 

Outside directors, 
duality and 
Remuneration 
committee 

ROA 200 listed firms 
1992 and 1995 

Insignificant relationship between the proportion of NEDs 
and firm performance 
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Haniffa and Hudaib 
(2006) 

Non-executive 
directors, Board 
size and Role 
duality 

ROA and  Tobin‘s Q  347 listed firms  
1996-2000 

No relationship between with the Non-executive directors 
and firm performance as measured by ROA 

Wintoki et al. (2012) 
 

Non-executive 
directors and 
Board size 

ROA 6,000 firms 
1991-2003 

No causal relation between the proportion of NEDs and 
ROA 

Yasser et al (2015) Board size, Board 
composition,  
Duality and Audit 
committee 

ROE and Profit Margin 60 firms 
2008-09 

Significant positive relationship between NEDs and ROE 

Azeez (2015) Board Size, 
Duality, and 
proportion of 
non- executive 
directors 

EPS, ROA, and ROE 100 firms   2010-
2012 

The presences of non-executive directors on the board 
are not associated with firm Performance 

Sanda et al. (2005) Board size, 
Outside directors 
and Role duality 

ROA, ROE, PE ratio and 
Tobin‘s Q 

93 firms  
1996-1999 

No significant relationship with a large proportion of 
NEDs but with small numbers of NEDs 

Kajola (2008) Board size, Board 
composition, Role 
duality and Audit 
committee 

ROE and Profit Margin 20 firms  
2000-2006 

No significant relationship with NEDs 
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4.4.1.3 Role Duality 

Role duality is another board characteristic that has the possibility of reducing the agency 

problem. Agency theory proposes that separating the role of chairman and CEO will improve 

firm performance by enabling directors to monitor CEOs better. According to Cadbury (1992), 

combining the roles should be avoided. Cadbury (1992) suggested that the position of 

chairman of the board is part-time, separate, independent, and distinct from the CEO. The 

board chairman should be answerable for managing the board. 

On the other hand, the CEO should be full-time, have sound knowledge, experience, and 

understanding of the tasks and opportunities that face the company (Weir et al., 2002). In 

Nigeria, like the UK and South Africa, the code recommends that the position of CEO should 

be separated from that of chairman of the board. Combining the two positions to one person 

will compromise the system of checks and balances of the board and create a conflict of 

interest (Monks and Minow, 1995), as cited in Al-Saidi (2010). Agency theorists (Lipton and 

Lorsch, 1992; Haniffa and Cooke, 2002) argued that splitting the positions will assist in raising 

board objectivity through adequate checks and balances over executive performance. Jensen 

(1993) also advocated that splitting the two positions will enable the board to do away with 

an ineffective CEO. 

Empirically, as shown in table 4.3, the relationship between role duality and corporate 

performance is mixed. Using accounting measures to investigate the relationship between 

role duality and corporate performance for 141 companies from 1978 to 1983, Rechner and 

Dalton (1991) found that companies choosing independent leadership consistently 

outperformed those relying upon CEO duality. Likewise, Faccio and Lasfer (1999) reported a 

negative relationship between role duality and firm performance for 1,650 listed corporations 

in the UK. Similarly, Abdul Rahman and Haniffa (2005) found a negative correlation between 

role duality and accounting performance variables. Also, Haniffa and Hudaib (2006), using 347 

firms from Malaysia, established that companies that separate the two positions outperform 

those that combine the two positions in one person. Besides, Kholief (2008) found that 

corporate performance and CEO duality have a negative relationship. These results show that 

when the chairman and CEO roles are split, oversight by the board is strengthened. Yasser et 

al. (2015) recently recorded no significant relationship among Pakistani companies between 
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the performance measure ROE and duality. Likewise, Arora and Sharma (2016) findings also 

show that the duality of the CEO is not correlated with any organizational performance 

metrics for the sample businesses. This finding concludes that by adopting good corporate 

governance practices, companies in the developing world will boost their performance. 

In contrast, prior studies (Donaldson and Davis, 1991; Kyereboah-Coleman and Biekpe, 2006; 

Peng et al., 2007) reported a positive relationship between role duality and performance of 

firms. In particular, Peng et al. (2007), using an archival database of 403 publicly listed firms 

in China, investigated the role or the CEO duality performance relationship. They reported 

positive association and also argued that role duality might be good for performance due to 

the unity of command it presents. However, some studies (Daily and Dalton, 1993; Baliga et 

al., 1996; Faccio and Lasfer, 1999; Chen et al., 2008) established a negligible relationship 

between CEO duality and company results. Azeez (2015), a study in Sri Lanka, found a major 

positive correlation with the firm's success by the separation of the two posts of CEO and 

Chairman.  

Similarly, Bansal and Sharma (2016) found a significant positive association of CEO duality 

with firm performance proxy by ROA and ROE. Recent studies by Pillai and Al-Malkawi (2018) 

show that duality is representing a positive inclination in the Gulf Cooperation Council with 

varying levels of significance. This is because family businesses are dominant in the region, 

and as such, agency problems are negligible.  

Focusing on Nigeria, earlier studies that investigate the effect of CEO duality on company 

performance have reported a negative association between the two. For instance, Sanda et 

al. (2005) and Kajola (2008) found the role of duality to be negatively associated with firm 

performance. The SEC (2011) has recommended in section 4.3. 

 

 

And in section 5.1 (b), it explicitly states that  
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This suggests that Nigerian companies recognize the role duality as detrimental, while role 

separation is seen as good corporate governance practice. Therefore the fourth hypothesis 

is: 

HO4: The relationship between role duality and corporate performance is negative. 
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Table 4.3: Empirical Studies of the Relationship between Role duality and Corporate Performance 

Author Variables Performance 

Measures 

Sample Sign of Result 

Rechner and Dalton 

(1991) 

Role duality ROE, ROI and 

Profit Margin 

141 firms 

1978-1983 

Independent leadership consistently outperformed those 

relying upon CEO duality 

Faccio and Lasfer 

(1999) 

Role duality, Non-

executive directors 

and Board size  

ROE, ROA, 

Tobin‘s Q, and 

P/E 

1650 listed  

firms 

1996-1997 

Role duality has a negative effect on firm performance 

Abdul Rahman and 

Haniffa (2005) 

Role duality  ROE, ROA, and 

Tobin‘s Q 

All non-

financial 

1996-2000 

Negative relationship between role duality and accounting 

performance variables 

Haniffa and Hudaib 

(2006) 

Role duality, Board 

size and Outside 

directors 

ROA and 

Tobin‘s Q  

347 firms 

1996-2000 

Negative impact on performance for firms with role duality 

Kholief (2008) Role duality and 

Board size 

ROE and ROA 50 listed firms 

2007 

Corporate performance is negatively affected by CEO 

duality 

Donaldson and Davis 

(1991) 

Role duality ROE 321 firms  

1985-1987 

Shareholder returns, in terms of ROE, are superior when 

there is role duality 
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Kyereboah-Coleman 

and Biekpe (2006) 

Role duality, Non-

executive directors 

and Board size  

ROA, Tobin‘s 

Q, and Sale 

growth 

16 listed firms 

1990-2001 

Positive association between role duality and firm 

performance 

Peng et al. (2007) Role duality ROA and Sales 403  listed 

firms 

1992-1996 

Role duality is positively related with firm performance 

Daily and Dalton 

(1993) 

Role duality ROA 186 listed 

firms 

1989 

Role duality has no impact on firm performance 

Baliga et al. (1996) Role duality ROE, ROA and 

MVA 

375 Fortunes 

500 firms 

1980-1991 

Role duality has an insignificant effect on firm performance 

Chen et al. (2008) Role duality, 

Ownership and 

Board size 

ROE, ROA and 

Tobin’s Q 

Firms on S&P 

500 

1999-2003 

The insignificance of the relationship between CEO duality 

and firm performance 

Yasser et al (2015) Board size, Board 

composition,  Duality 

and Audit committee 

ROE and Profit 

Margin 

60 firms 

2008-09 

No Significant relationship between duality and ROE 
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Azeez (2015) Board Size, Duality, 

and proportion of 

non- executive 

directors 

EPS, ROA, and 

ROE 

100 firms   

2010-2012 

Duality has a significant positive relationship with the firm 

performance 

 

Arora and Sharma 

(2016) 

Board size and 

Duality 

ROE and 

Probability 

20 

Manufacturing 

industries 

2001-2010 

 CEO duality is not related to any firm performance 

measures for the sample firms 

Bansal and Sharma 

(2016) 

Duality, Board 

composition, and 

Board size 

ROA and ROE 235 public 

limited 

companies 

listed in NSE 

500. 2004-

2013 

Results reveal significant positive association of CEO 

duality and firm performance measured by ROA and ROE 

Sanda et al. (2005) Board Size, Outside 

director and Role 

duality 

ROA, ROE, PE 

ratio and 

Tobin‘s Q 

93 firms 

1996-1999 

Negative relationship between role duality and 

performance measures 

Kajola (2008) Board size, Board 

composition, Role 

duality and Audit 

committee 

ROE and Profit 

Margin 

20 firms 

2000-2006 

Role duality has negative effect on firm performance 
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4.4.1.4 Audit Committee Existence 

Past literature advocates that the setting up of committees of the board will assist in 

increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of company boards (Jiraporn et al., 2009). Harrison 

(1987) argues two broad forms of board committee exist: oversight and operating. The 

oversight or monitoring board committees are envisioned to look after shareholder interests 

by being objective, reviewing corporate executives, and affairs with an independent mind. 

While the board operating committees advise the board and management with significant 

business decisions. Agency theorists (Jensen and Meckling, 1979; Fama and Jensen, 1983) 

advocate that the utmost meaningful monitoring task of the board is to make sure that 

corporate actions are properly checked. As a result of that, Harrison (1987) claimed there had 

been an increment in the role of board monitoring committees of organizations in the last 

decade. Crucial among the monitoring board committees are auditing, remuneration, and 

nomination committees. The setting up of these committees has been recommended by 

almost all the codes of best practices (for example, Cadbury, 1992; Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002). The board monitoring committees are generally composed of non-executive directors, 

setting them in a more upright position to look after shareholders’ interests by efficiently 

checking managerial actions. Studies (Harrison, 1987; Wild, 1994; Ntim, 2009; Sun and Cahan, 

2009) have shown that the formation of the monitoring committees can impact positively on 

performance. 

In the same way, Weir et al. (2002) argue that the presence of board committees may improve 

accountability, credibility, and legitimacy by performing specific functions. In this respect, and 

given the emphasis of this study on the audit committee, the primary purpose of the audit 

committee is to regularly meet with the company’s auditors (external and internal) to 

appraise the company’s finances, internal controls, and audit process. This, according to Klein 

(1998), helps in reducing agency costs and information asymmetry by expediting timely issues 

of balanced accounting information to shareholders by directors. Also, minimizing financial 

fraud and increasing firm value could be attained through effective monitoring by the audit 

committee. 

Empirically, the literature on the relation between the presence of audit committee and 

corporate performance is limited and undertaken mainly in developed markets, as shown in 
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table 4.4. This makes the area a prolific one for future studies, particularly in an emerging-

country context.  

Bozec (2005), using a sample of 25 Canadian firms for five years, found the presence of the 

audit committee to have a negative impact on performance. In contrast, Laing and Weir 

(1999) found a positive association between the presence audit committee and performance 

through the examination of 115 UK companies. Besides, a study conducted recently in 

Pakistan among 30 firms by Yasser et al. (2015) provides evidence of a significant positive 

relationship between ROE and the presence of the audit committee. Whereas, Klein (1998) 

reported no significant relationship between the existence of an audit committee and 

performance in 486 US companies over the period 1992-1993. Furthermore, Ntim (2009) and 

Owusu (2012) provided similar evidence that shows the presence of audit committees has an 

insignificant effect on corporate performance. 

In Nigeria, the evidence from Kajola’s (2008) study of 20 listed firms from 2000 to 2006, 

reported no connection between the existence of audit committees and performance. Given 

that, the SEC (2011) in section 30.1 recommended the setting up of an audit committee by 

emphasizing that; 

 

Therefore, in order to improve the effectiveness of the Nigerian quoted companies, the fifth 

hypothesis is: 

HO5: The relationship between the presence of an audit committee and corporate 

performance is positive. 
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Table 4.4: Empirical Studies of the Relationship between presence of Audit Committee and 
Corporate Performance 

Author Variables Performance 
Measures 

Sample Sign of Result 

Bozec 
(2005) 

Audit, 
Compensation, 
and Nomination 
committees 

ROA, ROS 
and Assets 
Turnover 

25 SOE 

1976-
2000 

The existence of the audit 
committee has a negative 
impact on performance 

Laing and 
Weir 
(1999) 

Audit, 
Compensation, 
and Nomination 
committees 

ROA 115 listed 
firms 

1992 and 
1995 

Positive relationship 
between the presence of 
audit committee and 
performance 

Klein 
(1998) 

Audit, 
Compensation, 
and Nomination 
committees 

ROA and 
Market 
Return 

486 S&P 
500 firms  

1991-
1993  

No significant relationship 
between the presence of 
audit committee and 
performance 

Ntim 
(2009) 

Audit, 
Remuneration, 
Nomination 
committees, Board 
size, Board 
diversity, 
Proportion of 
NEDs and Role 
duality 

ROA and 
Tobin’s Q 

100 listed 
firms  

2002-
2006 

No significant association 
between the presence of 
audit committee and 
performance 

Owusu 
(2012) 

Audit, 
Remuneration, 
Nomination 
committees, Board 
size, Proportion of 
NEDs and Role 
duality 

ROE, ROA 
and Tobin’s 
Q 

283 listed 
firms  

2000-
2009 

No significant relationship 
between the presence of 
audit committee and 
performance 

Yasser et 
al (2015) 

Board size, Board 
composition,  
Duality and Audit 
committee 

ROE and 
Profit Margin 

60 firms 
2008-09 

Significant positive relationship 
between the Audit Committee 
and ROE 

Kajola 
(2008) 

Audit committee, 
Board size, Board 
composition and 
Role duality 

ROE and 
Profit 
Margin 

20 firms 

2000-
2006 

No significant relationship 
between the presence of 
audit committees and 
performance 

 

 

 



92 
 

 

4.4.1.5 Board Diversity 

Prior investigations on the board diversity impact on the performance of companies are 

mixed. Some argued for more board diversity and those that favor monoculture and 

boardroom uniformity. Agency theorists (Shrader et al., 1997; Carter et al., 2003; Erhardt et 

al., 2003; Van Der Walt and Ingley, 2003; Stephenson, 2004; Baranchuk and Dybvig, 2009) 

have advocated for board diversity. Shrader et al. (1997) argue that the diversity of the board 

may improve a company’s reputation and commercial opportunities. Second, Carter et al. 

(2003) asserted that board diversity increases originality and inventions in boardrooms due 

to diverse thinking abilities, which can as well aid in effective decision-making. They 

demonstrated that the diverse board could assist better in appreciating the complexities of 

the corporate external environment and marketplace. 

Similarly, Van Der Walt and Ingley (2003) indicated that a diverse board increases the 

independence of the board and advances the monitoring of the executive. Likewise, 

Stephenson (2004) outlined that a diverse board generates an improved communication in 

areas often not covered by the board which eases stagnant thinking, reintroduces the 

organization, and widens the effort of the firm. Also, Baranchuk and Dybvig (2009) illustrated 

that boards of diverse backgrounds bring diverse thoughts, views, business knowledge, and 

experience to the decision-making process in boardrooms. Finally, boards that have qualified 

personalities with diverse backgrounds can assist in providing a better link with the company’s 

stakeholders like consumers and the local community (Carter et al., 2003).  

However, opponents of board diversity claimed that it could impact negatively on corporate 

performance (Baysinger and Butler, 1985; Goodstein et al., 1994; Rose, 2007). Board diversity, 

according to one of the leading opponents, Goodstein et al. (1994), can inhibit boardroom 

cohesion and performance. So they argued that board members might have their separate 

obligations and interests of the board. Furthermore, Baysinger and Butler (1985) and 

Baranchuk and Dybvig (2009) suggested that if these individual interests are high, then there 

is the possibility of more conflicts, which will result in having factions on the board. In the 

same way, Rose (2007) demonstrated that if board members are not appointed on merit or 

their ability to contribute meaningfully to the decision-making process in the boardroom, 
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ceteris paribus, will result in the formation of diverse but relatively unproductive large boards. 

This could impact negatively on company financial performance. 

Empirically, the evidence of board diversity and corporate performance is limited and mostly 

centers on US firms. Shrader et al. (1997) find board diversity to be negatively associated with 

accounting measures (ROE, ROA, and profit margin). Whereas (Adler (2001), Erhardt et al. 

(2003), Farrell and Hersch (2005), and Nguyen and Faff (2007)) in their studies reported a 

positive link between the two. Adler (2001) found a positive association between board 

diversity and performance measures (ROA, ROI, and ROS), in a survey of 25 US firms. Similarly, 

Erhardt et al. (2003) found board diversity to be positively related to return on equity and 

return on assets. 

In addition, Farrell and Hersch (2005) find evidence that the return on Fortune 500 companies' 

assets in 1990 was influenced by a diversified board. Lastly, Nguyen and Faff (2007) reported 

that there is a positive relationship between board diversity and results. Using a sample of 

Asian companies from Hong Kong, South Korea, Malaysia and Singapore, Low et al. (2015) 

recently found that growing numbers of female board members have a positive impact on 

corporate performance, as measured by return on equity (ROE).  

As some surveys reported a positive or negative association between board diversity and 

corporate performance, so also, some do not find any relationship (Zahra and Stanton, 1988; 

Carter et al., 2010). Using accounting measures proxy by ROE and EPS, Zahra and Stanton’s 

(1988) study of 95 firms reported no relationship between board diversity and performance 

of companies. Besides, Carter et al. (2010) found no connection between diverse board and 

performance among some US corporations. In Nigeria, Ujunwa et al.’s (2012) study using 122 

listed companies found that diversity was negatively linked to firm performance. SEC (2011) 

does not set any specific targets for public companies. However, the code in section 4.1 

recommends that the boards of public companies should be composed in such a way as to 

ensure diversity. And from the existing literature, companies that support diversity are more 

in number. Therefore, for the benefit of shareholders and also to promote equity and fairness, 

the sixth hypothesis is: 

HO6: Board of directors diversity does affect corporate performance. 
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Table 4.5:  Empirical Studies of the Relationship between Board Diversity and Corporate Performance 

Author Variables Performance 
Measures 

Sample Sign of Result 

Shrader et al. 
(1997) 

Board diversity ROE, ROA and 
Profit Margin 

200 listed firms 

1992 

Negative relationship between corporate performance 
accounting measures and diversity of the board 

Adler (2001) Board diversity ROE, ROA, ROI 
and ROS 

25 Fortune 500 
firms 

 

Positive association between corporate performance and 
board diversity 

Erhardt et al. 
(2003) 

Board diversity ROE and ROA 127 listed firms  

1993 and 1998 

Board diversity is positively related to accounting measures 
ROE and ROA 

Farrell and 
Hersch (2005) 

Board diversity ROA and 
Market Returns 

Fortune 500  

1990 

Diverse board affects return on assets 

Nguyen and 
Faff (2007) 

Board diversity 
and Board Size 

ROA and Tobin’s 
Q 

500 Largest 
Companies  

2000 and 2001 

Board diversity and company performance are positively 
related 

Zahra and 
Stanton (1988) 

Board diversity ROE and EPS 95 listed firms  

1998-2001 

No connection between board diversity and performance of 
companies 

Carter et al. 
(2010) 

Board diversity ROA  and 
Tobin’s Q 

Fortune 1000 
firms 

 

No connection between diverse board and performance of 
major US corporations 

Ujunwa et al. 
(2012) 

Board diversity ROA 122 listed firms  

1991-2008 

Board diversity was negatively linked to firm performance 

Low et al (2015) Board diversity ROE  Asian firms Positive effect on performance 
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4.4.2 Prior Studies of the link between Corporate Governance Index and Performance 

The previous section has revealed varied results about the internal Corporate governance 

variables-performance link indicates that not all the internal corporate governance variables, 

when separated, are useful in bringing down the agency problems. Nevertheless, the inspiring 

studies of Black (2001) and that of Gompers et al. (2003) on the link between governance 

index and performance conducted in Russia and the US, respectively, are examples that 

reported a significant and positive association between corporate governance index and 

company performance. According to Padgett and Shabbir (2008), company performance is 

generally affected by a set of specific governance mechanisms but not on an individual basis. 

This developed method emphases on and supports the corporate governance index (CGI) 

development by putting in all the available corporate governance provisions into compliance 

or non-compliance indices to investigate governance-performance relationship (Owusu, 

2012)  

In this regard, there is a need to find some evidence of this developmental approach that 

advocates a consistently positive and significant relationship between CGI and firm 

performance or not?  

Most of the earlier studies on the link between corporate governance index and performance 

were mainly conducted in the developed nations. This could be due to the ease of access of 

data obtainable from the rating agencies in the countries.  

Studies by Labelle (2002) on Canadian firms found an insignificant link between the 

governance index of 162 listed firms with ROE measured as performance. Similarly, Gupta et 

al. (2009) their study failed to find a significant relationship between the governance index 

and company performance. Also, Bozec et al. (2010) study found no link between financial 

performance proxy by Tobin’s Q and corporate governance index. 

Using an index with 24 provisions in the USA 1500 listed companies, Gompers et al. (2003) 

found a significant association between the governance index and company performance. 

Furthermore, studies conducted by Bhagat and Bolton (2009) show a positive and significant 

relationship between the index and performance. On the other hand, Core et al. (2006) 

examined US firms with 9917 observations found out that performance measure ROA has a 

significant and negative association with the governance index. 
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Due to inadequate data from the rating agencies on corporate governance, few studies were 

conducted on the relationship between governance index and performance in Europe as 

compared to North American. The first study was conducted by Drobetz et al. (2004), using a 

sample of 91 German listed companies that covers five years (1998-2002). The study made 

use of governance rating from the survey on the provisions of the German Governance Code. 

The study found a positive association between governance rating and performance. This 

means improved corporate governance is linked to improved operating performance.  

On the other hand, a later study conducted by Bassen et al. (2008) reported a significant 

negative relationship between the compliance index and company performance when they 

used 100 ranked corporate governance practices practiced by companies that are in the 

annual reports of the companies. The dissimilarities in the outcomes of Drobetz et al. (2004) 

and Bassen et al. (2008) findings even though the studies were conducted in the same country 

could be because of different methodologies employed in developing the governance index. 

This means there could be errors of bias in measurement due to approach, and this might 

have accounted for the varying results. 

Using a similar methodology with Drobetz et al. (2004) for Switzerland firms, Beiner et al. 

(2006) reported a significant positive link between the governance index developed from 

Swiss code and performance. It is important to note here that the Swiss result supports the 

German findings.     

Resulting from comply or explain the idea in the UK, studies like (Padgett and Shabbir 2008; 

Clacher et al. 2008) examined the connection between corporate governance compliance and 

performance. Using FTSE 350 firms, Padgett and Shabbir (2008) reported that companies that 

comply with the UK combined code enjoyed higher shareholder returns. So also, the study by 

Clacher et al. (2008) reveals that companies with a higher level of compliance with the UK 

combined code provisions have performed much better. 

Furthermore, Ponnu and Ramthandin (2008) in their studies reported a significant and 

positive link between the corporate governance index and ROA as a measure of performance 

from 100 listed firms in Malaysia. Also, Balasubramanian et al. (2010) developed a governance 

index for India based on a survey (questionnaire) conducted using 301 companies. They found 

that there is a significant positive relationship between the index and performance. Cheung 
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et al. (2010), in a different setting in China, developed a corporate governance index using 

100 listed companies in China, established a significant positive connection between the index 

and performance. This point to companies with good governance practices are inclining to 

better performance. However, Price et al. (2011) disclose there is no connection between the 

Mexican governance index and performance. Using a sample of 107 listed companies, they 

developed an index from the compliance data of practices disclosed in their annual reports 

and found no link. This result is consistent with the earlier study conducted by Yan-Leung et 

al. (2008) that did not find any connection between companies with enhanced corporate 

governance and better performance in China. 

 

The literature has reported very few studies from African countries on the corporate 

governance index-performance association. The first study was conducted in South Africa by 

Fisher (2007) with 97 listed companies who developed a governance score with some 

governance mechanisms like remuneration, risk management, board effectiveness, internal 

audit, and ethics as a yardstick for the research. The work submits that there is a relationship 

between the governance score and performance. Furthermore, Ntim (2009) developed a 

corporate governance index for South Africa using 500 observations from 100 listed 

companies in South Africa. The outcome shows that the index of corporate governance has a 

strong and optimistic correlation with ROA results as a proxy. Such results are compatible 

with the (Ponnu and Ramthandin, 2008; Padgett and Shabbir, 2008; Clacher et al., 2008; 

Drobetz et al., 2004; Gompers et al., 2003). The relation between the degree of compliance 

with the Ghanaian Code and firm performance was investigated by Owusu (2012). The results 

of the study show that the Ghanaian Corporate Governance Index (GCGI) and profitability 

across Ghanaian listed companies have a statistically important and optimistic relationship.  

Dyczkowska (2014) research on Polish listed companies reveals that, while Polish firms are 

aware of the significance, Polish firms do not obey all the recommendations of their 

governance code.  

Lately, Rose (2016) explores the degree of Danish company adherence to the Danish 

Corporate Governance Code; the study shows that ROE/ROA and Danish company complete 

corporate governance comply with or clarify disclosure scores in a positive relation. In 
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addition, Akbar et al. (2016) developed a Governance Index in a study that explores the 

relationship between compliance with corporate governance and firm performance in the UK. 

Using a sample of 435 publicly listed non-financial companies over the period 1999-2009, they 

investigated its impact on corporate performance. The findings indicate that compliance with 

regulations on corporate governance is not a determinant of UK corporate success.  

 Nigeria, as now, there is no first-hand proof of the link between a developed governance 

index and company performance apart from the few studies on disclosure index that examine 

governance practices. The Nigerian code (SEC, 2011) provided for nine recommendations for 

best practices that include; Application of the code, the board of directors, Board structure 

and composition, Board committees, the shareholders’ rights and privileges, Performance 

evaluation of the board, Directors’ remuneration, and Disclosure. The Nigerian corporate 

governance code is the minimum standard expected of public companies in Nigeria to comply 

with or provide reasons in case of non-compliance with code provisions. 

Certainly from the literature, the relationship between governance index and performance 

studies in developing and developed nations shows positive and consistent results in 

countries with the occurrence of a code of best practices than the rules-based approach 

counterpart, the seventh hypothesis is: 

Ho7: There is a significant positive relationship between the Nigerian Corporate Governance 

Disclosure Index (CGDI) and company performance. 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 4.6:  Empirical Studies of the Relationship between Governance Index and Corporate 

Performance 

Author Performance 
Measures 

Sample Sign of Result 

Beiner et al 
(2006) 

Tobin Q 109 firms Positive 
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Clacher et al 
(2008) 

Tobin Q and 
ROA 

All FTSE 100 
2003-2005 

Positive 

Padgett and 
Shabbir (2008) 

ROA and EBIT FTSE 350 firms Positive 

Yan-Leung et al 
(2008) 

MTBV and 
Tobin’s Q 

100 firms Negative 

Ntim (2009) Tobin Q and 
ROA 

100 firms 
2002-2006 

Positive 

Balasubramanian 
et al (2010) 

Market Value 301 firms Positive 

Cheung et al 
(2010) 

Market 
Evaluation 

100 firms 
2004-2006 

Positive 

Price et al (2011) Dividends 107 firms Negative 

Owusu (2012) Tobin Q, ROA 
and ROE 

35 firms 2000-
2009 

Positive 

Dyczkowska 
(2014) 

Profitability 143 firms Positive 

Rose (2016) ROA and ROE 155 firms 
2010-2011 

Positive 

Akbar et al 
(2016) 

ROA and ROE 435 firms 
1999-2009 

Negative 
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4.4.3 Sustainability Practices-Corporate Performance Link 

Sustainability is seen as an organizational practice that points to the more efficient utilization 

of resources which as a consequence, causes an impact on business efficiency. The capacity 

of a company to remain operational for a long time, according to Perrini and Tencati (2006) 

as cited in Dembo (2017), depends on the longevity of its relationship with stakeholders. 

Business stakeholders include shareholders, staff, consumers, vendors, government, rivals, 

and other stakeholders that are directly or indirectly involved or influenced by the 

organization's policies. 

Different researches seek to test the association between sustainability and corporate 

performance; studies have followed diverse methodologies that have yielded a variety of 

outcomes. Freeman (1984), Waddock and Graves (1997) and Dong-shang and Li-chi (2008) as 

cited in Dembo (2017) argued that a constructive partnership with key stakeholders 

strengthens a company's corporate performance. This is because the upright relationship of 

stakeholders improves the satisfaction of all stakeholders, which increases the profitability of 

the business in return. Ameer and Othman's (2012) results in Dembo (2017) indicate that 

sustainability enterprises have strengthened and sustained greater corporate efficiency over 

the years 2006-2008, 2006-2009 and 2006-2010. They claimed that the return on investment, 

profit before tax, and cash flow from operations improved steadily over the 2006-2010 

period. In addition, the adoption of sustainable strategies will lead to improved market 

performance in the long term (McWilliams and Siegel, 2001 as cited in Dembo, 2017). 

But Kasum et al., (2011) argued that high sustainable development output would decrease 

profitability and Sneirson (2009) concluded that the quest for revenue was a hindrance to 

sustainability. Similarly, Prior et al. (2008) found the social responsibility variable has affected 

corporate performance negatively. Also, studies of Brammer et al. (2006) found that the 

relationship between the SP and CP has a negative correlation. The study of Yang et al. (2010) 

found mixed links; some neutral relationships are the studies of Aupperle et al. (1985) and 

Fauzi et al. (2007). The meta-analysis of Orlitzky et al. (2003), for example, reported that SR is 

positively related to CFP. The meta-analysis of Margolis and Walsh (2003) also said that out 

of 109 studies investigated, 54 reported a positive association, 7 reported a negative 

association, 28 reported a non-significant connection. Finally, 20 found a combined result. 

Boaventura et al. (2012) published in their meta-analysis that 65.5% of the studies reviewed 
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reported a positive relationship between SR and CFP, 19% say a negative and 31% reported 

neutral or non-existent relationship. In general, the relationship between SR and CFP is mixed 

results but predominantly positive. More often than not, the direct link between SR and CFP 

is mostly positive, as explained by many meta-analyses (Orlitzky et al., 2003; Boaventura et 

al., 2012).  

The SEC (2011) in section 28.1 recommends that 

 

 

And in section 28.3 it requires that 

 

From the preceding and coupled with the mixed results arising due to the constant problem 

of measuring the social performance variable and the effects it has on corporate 

performance, this provides further room for a new study, which is one of the objectives this 

study aims to address. Therefore, in this part of the study, the following hypotheses to test 

are: 

HO8: Better corporate performance (CP) results in improved sustainability performance (SP).   

HO9: Improved sustainability performance (SP) leads to better corporate performance (CP).  

HO10: Corporate Governance (CG) positively moderates the Sustainability Practices-

Corporate Performance link.  

Table 4.6 shows the sign of the relationship between sustainability practices and corporate 

performance found in the literature, which is mainly from the developed economies. 
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The only Nigerian study in the review, which is that of Kasum et al. (2011), reported 

profitability is reduced when there is high performance of the SP is distinct from this study 

due to the different performance measures, period of study and sample size used. While this 

study used ROE and ROA, the Kasum et al. (2011) study uses profit after tax, net asset, and 

market value of the asset as performance measures.
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Table 4.7: Empirical Studies of the Relationship between Sustainability Practices and Corporate Performance 

Paper Variables Sample Sign of Result 

Brangdon and Marlin (1972) ROE, ROC, EPS 17 Firms Positive 

Spicer (1978) ROE, P/E Ratio, Beta 18 Firms Positive 

Waddock and Graves (1997) ROA, ROE, ROS Firms by 

S&P 500 

Positive 

Preston and O’Bannon (1997) ROA 67 Firms Positive 

Luce et al. (2001) ROA 100 Firms Positive 

Ameer and Othman (2012)  ROA 100 Firms Positive 

Ahmed et al. (2012) ROE, EPS, P/E ratio 20 Firms Positive 

Poddi et al. (2009) ROE, ROCE, MKTCAP, MVA 417 Firms Positive 

Kasumu et al. (2011) PAT, NET ASSET, MVA 44 Firms Negative 

Prior et al. (2008) ROA 539 Firms Negatie 

McWilliams and Siegel (2001) ROA, R&D Expenses 524 Firms Neutral 

Aupperle et al. (1985) ROA, Beta 241 Firms Neutral 

Fauzi (2009) ROA, ROE 383 Firms Neutral 

Yang et al. (2010) ROA, ROE, ROS 50 Firms Neutral 
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4.5 Corporate Governance – Sustainability Practices Link 

The literature has shown that corporate governance attributes had influenced voluntary 

disclosures (Ho and Wong, 2001; Collett and Hrasky, 2005; Barako et al., 2006; Ghazali and 

Weetman, 2006; Akhtaruddin et al., 2009). A meta-analysis of disclosure studies, conducted 

by Ahmed and Courtis (1999) found that size, listing status, and financial leverage has a 

significant impact on disclosure level. Other CG attributes linked with voluntary disclosure are 

corporate performance (Renders et al., 2010; Bozec and Bozec, 2012), ownership (Haniffa and 

Cooke, 2005; Chau and Gray, 2010). Similarly, others investigated the relationship between 

size and social responsibility (Mahadeo et al., 2011; Fifka, 2013) and industry (Cooke, 1992). 

This study draws from these works of literature potential corporate governance variables that 

might influence social responsibility/sustainable development disclosures. Specifically, this 

study examines how sustainable development patterns are moved by the superiority of a 

company's governance mechanisms, as measured by ownership structure and board 

characteristics that include board composition, board size, CEO duality, and board 

committees. 

Going by the above indications, there is an apparent connection between CG and SP. More 

precisely, according to Kendall (1999), looking at the CG concept, it is evident that good 

governance practices revolve around accountability and due concern for the regards of all 

critical stakeholders. Also, Dunlop (1998) indicates that corporations are answerable to all 

stakeholders. Again, Jamali (2008) and Jamali et al. (2008) stressed that there exists a 

transparent overlay between the notion of corporate governance and the stakeholder idea of 

social responsibility that reflects business as accountable vi's-à-is a multifaceted network of 

related stakeholders that endure and add value to the corporation. On the other hand, several 

scholars (Rosam and Peddle, 2004; Perrini et al., 2006; Jamali et al., 2008) in the area of 

sustainable development have stressed the need to sustain the utmost standards of 

governance in the organization, most notably when discussing the internal dimension of social 

responsibility. Both corporate governance and sustainable development demand 

organizations take on their fiduciary and ethical duties towards stakeholders. According to 

Page (2005), actions of accountability are vital for businesses to acquire and keep the 

confidence of all stakeholders. Hence, the two concepts attract strength from identical 

sources, namely transparency, accountability, and fairness (Aras and Crowther, 2008). 

Furthermore, Marsiglia and Falautano (2005) illustrated that governance and social 
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responsibility initiatives are increasingly gaining ground from a humanitarian view of business 

entrepreneurship to realistic plans projected to regain the confidence of customers and 

society. Whereas corporate governance entails "being held responsible for," sustainable 

development involves "taking account of," and the two are more and more being used by 

organizations to standardize their operations (Marsiglia and Falautano, 2005; Jamali et al., 

2008).  

According to Windsor and Preston (1988), corporate governance and sustainable 

development are complicatedly connected concepts central to the relations concerning a firm 

and its environment. Lenssen et al. (2005) argue that both are increasingly well-thought-out 

as essential complementary prerequisites for sustainable progress within a global business 

environment. Similarly, Jamali et al. (2008) claimed that both fields are perceived to advise 

on significant, enduring benefits that ensure the survival of companies. Concerning the CG, it 

is remarked that good governance practices bring together the interests of shareholders, 

directors, and all persons that rely on the organization, so that it could secure long-term 

finance, retain the confidence of investors, and utilize the funds proficiently (Jamali et al., 

2008). 

Empirically, the literature on the association between corporate governance and 

sustainability practices/corporate social responsibility is limited, which makes the area a 

fertile one for further studies. Aras and Crowther (2008) find no sufficient evidence to either 

prove or disprove that good corporate governance will address issues of sustainability. They 

claimed that what is possible is to state, though, that a firm that has a comprehensive 

understanding of both sustainability and corporate governance will address these issues more 

thoroughly. Jamali et al. (2008) demonstrated that corporate governance and social 

responsibility should not be considered and sustained independently. They concluded that 

CG is not entirely effective if a sustainable CSR drive is not in place in the company since a 

company is supposed to react to the wants of its numerous stakeholders to be cost-effective 

and generate earnings for its shareholders. Ntim and Soobaroyen (2013) found that, on 

average, better-governed corporations tend to follow a more socially responsible agenda 

through increased CSR practices. Their findings as well show that a mixture of CSR and CG 

practices have a robust positive effect on CFP than CSR alone, suggesting that CG positively 

impacts on the CFP-CSR relationship. Therefore, the hypothesis to test is: 
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H011: Good governance will address the issue of sustainability. 

 

4.6 Chapter Summary 

This chapter has appraised earlier empirical studies on corporate governance, sustainability 

relationships from the existing literature. Specifically, the chapter has three main objects. 

Firstly, it began by defining corporate governance. Numerous definitions were offered that 

classified the definitions into narrow and broad. The chapter reviewed existing models that 

try to link corporate governance structures with corporate performance. In line with this 

agency, stewardship, and resource dependence theories were identified as the main 

theoretical framework for the study. The second objective of the chapter was to review the 

existing empirical literature on the relation between corporate governance mechanisms and 

corporate performance and corporate performances. In this respect, the chapter suggested 

that companies adopt many corporate governance mechanisms to moderate agency 

problems to improve performance. Among the mechanisms discussed are board size, the 

proportion of non-executive directors, separation of the position of board chairman and CEO, 

and establishment of the audit committee and board diversity. The studies showed evidence 

of mixed results for the relationship between these mechanisms and corporate performance. 

On the link between sustainability practices and corporate performance, documented 

evidence shows that numerous studies seek to test the connection by adopting different 

methodologies that discovered a variety of results. These mixed results provide further room 

for new reviews.  

The appraisal points to past corporate governance, sustainability practices, and corporate 

performance studies widely utilized information on the particular governance mechanisms 

and social performance without seeking to find out if the governance practices embark by 

companies enhance the social responsibility of the companies. The next chapter provides the 

road map of the study. 
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Chapter Five:  Research Methodology 
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5.1 Introduction 

This part of the study outlines the road map to realize the aim and objective set for this study. 

The purpose of the study is to examine the compliance with corporate governance codes, 

investigate the association between governance and performance of companies, and also, to 

examine the association between sustainability practices and corporate performance of the 

Nigerian oil companies. It is critical to compile a fit database for the specific governance 

mechanisms, development of the CGDI, and sustainability practices ratings of companies. 

Therefore, the study focuses on the top six Nigerian oil firms from 2004 to 2013. Precisely, 

this study uses multiple data to investigate the association between corporate governance, 

sustainability practices, and corporate performance of these Nigerian oil companies. 

The rest of the chapter is structured as follows. In section 5.2, the research design is discussed 

and the justification for the method adopted for the study. In Section 5.3, the population and 

sample selection are discussed. Section 5.4 presents the methodology for data collection and 

the types collected. Section 5.5 discusses the variables measured and hypotheses identified. 

Section 5.6 offers the methods employed for data analysis. To conclude, section 5.7 

summarises the chapter.  

 

5.2 Research Design 

The way research is conducted could be explained in terms of the research philosophy, which 

is a belief about how data about an occurrence should be collected, studied, and applied. The 

two philosophies of the research approach identified are: interpretive and positivist (Collis 

and Hussey, 2003).  

5.2.1 Positivism 

Positivism is derived from the philosophy of science; it brings an unbiased opinion when 

carrying out an inquiry, and it is separated from those taking part in the investigations. 

Positivists have the belief that research can be conducted in a scientific way (Collis and 

Hussey, 2003). It is perceived that research should follow a firm set of rules. The standard 

process for the positivist is that research is commonly built on a deductive approach, testing 

theory through the development of hypotheses and collection of data (Saunders et al., 2011). 

Generally, positivists want their results to be generalized. The predominantly quantitative 
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analysis of data is statistical. Furthermore, there is the possibility of a high degree of validity 

and reliability in the positivist inquiry because of its structure approach (Collis and Hussey, 

2003). 

5.2.2 Interpretivism 

Interpretivism, on the other hand, is derived from the philosophy of social science. The central 

element for the interpretive investigator is to understand the societal world of the study 

members (Collis and Hussey, 2003). The interpreters are repeatedly interdependent with 

their research, which is subjective. Thus, interpretivism views the inquiry as being mutually 

cooperative and participatory. Conducting this kind of investigation is usually founded on an 

inductive method, proceeding from remark to theory (Saunders et al., 2011). In interpretive 

research, the predominantly qualitative data is analyzed through intuition and is thematic 

(Collis and Hussey, 2003). Overall, interpretivism observes the world as complicated and open 

to rendition. Rendition of the results leads to anomalies related to reliability. This type of 

investigation provides new insights and makes good use of a recognized method. 

The philosophy you adopt has great importance for the methodology you employ. Collis and 

Hussey (2003) argue that methodology means the overall method of the investigation 

process, from the theoretical support to the gathering and examination of the data. Likewise, 

the technique used in examining data relies on the philosophy chosen by the investigator. A 

qualitative approach is usually linked with inductive reasoning and interpretive philosophy. 

Unlike qualitative research, quantitative strategy is usually linked to a deductive approach 

and positivist philosophy (Saunders et al., 2011). Interestingly, researchers used both in 

research methodologies. The use of the two methodologies is termed mixed method research 

– which many writers define differently. 

 

 

 

 

5.2.3 Mixed Methods Research 

According to Creswell (2009) as cited in Tashakkori and Teddlie (2010), 
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Similarly, Johnson et al. (2007) come up with a definition of mixed-method research after 

analyzing the different meanings of the leading writers in the field as: 

 

In these two definitions, the writers are emphasizing methods or techniques of collecting and 

analyzing data. As mixed-method research has continued to be articulate, attached to 

research practice and getting recognized as a research approach or research philosophy along 

with qualitative research and quantitative research, according to Tashakkori and Creswell 

(2007) mixed methods research can also be defined as: 

 

From this definition, the critical concept is integration. And one can conclude from the three 

definitions stated above that mixed-method research contains both collecting and analyzing 

quantitative and qualitative data. 

5.2.3.1 Quantitative and Qualitative Data 

Quantitative data are empirical facts in the form of figures, created by measurement. Mostly 

quantitative information is closed-ended found on documents or annals. The analysis entails 

statistical analysis of scores gathered from instruments, or free leaflets to answer 

investigative questions or hypothesis testing.  

However, qualitative data are mostly recording what people have said. Qualitative data 

consists of flexible evidence that the researcher collects over conversations with the 
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participants. The general, flexible questions enquired in the course of these interviews allow 

the participants to present responses in their own words. Furthermore, qualitative 

information could be gathered from seeing participants or locations of research, collecting 

documents, or materials from different sources. The examination of qualitative data usually 

follows the pathway of grouping the words or images into classifications of facts and 

presenting the variety of ideas collected during data collection. The open-ended versus 

closed-ended nature of the information distinguishes between the two categories better than 

the sources of the data.  

5.2.3.2 Sources of Data 

The sources of the information do not map onto the qualitative and quantitative inquiry, at 

least as far as they used to. There are two primary origins of the data. The data collected at 

the source, which is referred to as primary data. For example, interviews, observations, 

questionnaires, and investigation data. The data, which by now exists, stand as secondary 

information, like annual reports, published statistics, books, and in-house records saved by 

companies (Veal, 2005). The proof required to examine the hypotheses in this thesis is 

founded on the annual accounts of companies, written information, and interviews. Thus, 

data derived for this thesis is from both primary and secondary sources. 

5.2.3.3 Combining the Data 

The combining of data is a distinctive characteristic of the definitions stated above. By 

combining the datasets, Creswell and Clark (2010) asserted that the researcher offers a better 

knowledge of the problem than if only one of the datasets had been used exclusively. Creswell 

(2009) outlined three techniques in which the combination takes place. Merges the two 

datasets to examine the problem thoroughly; collects one data set, analyzes it, and uses the 

result to explain the other data set; and inserting one dataset inside the other with one data 

providing support to the other dataset. Creswell (2009) concluded that it is not sufficient to 

gather and examine quantitative and qualitative information; they demand to be “mixed” in 

a particular manner so that collectively they made a whole new image of the problem than 

when used alone. 

For this study, the mixed-method approach is adopted. This approach comprises collecting 

and analyzing quantitative and qualitative data.  This approach combines seeking facts and 

using deductive reasoning because hypotheses were formulated, and data was collected later 
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to test them. Combining quantitative and qualitative methods will enhance the validity of the 

results. In this study, the qualitative data collection and analysis were followed up with 

quantitative data collection and analysis. The researcher interprets how the quantitative 

results help to explain the initial qualitative results. The approach used is an explanatory 

sequential mixed method where the researcher first conducts quantitative research, analyses 

the results, and then builds on the results to explain them in more detail with qualitative 

research. 

Moreover, these two methods complement and reinforce one another. Bryman (2004) noted 

that combining different approaches, strengths, and weaknesses yields more accurate 

representations of the phenomena studied. According to Denscombe (2007), the mixed 

method is the act of using different sources of data in a study to see things from a broader 

perspective. Similarly, Migiro and Magangi (2011) argue that the approach is chosen so that 

any weaknesses in one method will be counterbalanced by the other method. Effective 

quantitative research usually requires a large sample size; but, lack of data as in this study 

makes large-scale research impossible, so the qualitative approach typically small enables 

detailed and case by case analysis. 

The sample selection, the data sources, the data collection procedure, and the method of 

analysis are discussed in the next sections. 

 

5.3 Population and Sample Selection 

This study uses multiple data to investigate the relations between corporate governance and 

sustainability practices and the corporate performance of listed oil firms in Nigeria. Prior 

studies have mainly focused on merely one kind of data. For instance, a particular governance 

variables such as board size (Yermack, 1996) or developed governance index (Beiner et al., 

2006) or sustainability practices (Waddock and Graves, 1997) to investigate whether its 

implementation has an impact on corporate performance. This study utilizes information 

from all the three categories, triangulated concurrently, as shown in figure 5.2, which makes 

it unique from other studies. 
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Figure 5.2: Multiple Data 

In the beginning, the study selected the top 50 companies in terms of market capitalization 

and liquidity on the Nigerian Stock Exchange. A total of 18 financial services companies that 

represent 36% of the top 50 companies were removed because of their specific core business, 

as was done in studies of Ho and Williams (2003). They investigated the association among 

board structures and performance using 286 companies on the stock exchanges of South 

Africa, Sweden, and the UK. Similarly, Mangena and Chamisa (2008) excluded financial and 

utility companies in their examination of the link among corporate governance variables and 

the frequencies of listing suspension from the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) of South 

Africa. Two additional companies without complete financial data were removed from the 

sample, leaving a sample size of 30 companies; see Table 5.1. 
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Table 5.1: Population and sample  

Selected the top companies 50 

Financial services companies were removed 18 

Companies with incomplete Financials were removed 2 

Total left in the sample 30 

Oil companies 6 

Non-oil companies 24 

 

The names of companies used are on the Nigerian Stock Exchange1. 

 

5.4 Data Collection Methodology 

The data collection method involved three stages. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5.3 Data Collection stages 

 

 
1 http://www.nse.com.ng/DataProducts/Indices/Pages/NSE-50.aspx 
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The first stage is the content analysis of the CARs and the corporate websites of all the 30 

companies selected to study the degree of compliance with the Nigerian code of corporate 

governance. Via content review, information on corporate social success was also gathered 

by analyzing the CARs and the companies' respective websites, as used by several reports 

(Abbort and Monsen, 1979; Anderson and Frankle, 1980; Aras and Crowther, 2008; Ahmed et 

al., 2012).  

Zhang and Wildemuth (2009) claimed that Miles and Huberman (1994) explained that the 

method of qualitative content inquiry usually starts at the beginning stage of data collection. 

The initial involvement in the examination stage will assist you in working backward and 

forward between idea development and information collection. It may aid or direct your 

successive data gathering to source more is beneficial in addressing the study questions. 

Content analysis has been defined by Guthrie et al. (2004) as a method for collecting 

information; it involves classifying qualitative and quantitative data into pre-defined groups 

to infer outlines in the arrangement and reporting of data. According to studies made by 

Krippendorff (1980), Guthrie and Parker (1990), and Guthrie (1983), as cited in Guthrie et al. 

(2004), they argued that content analysis seeks to examine available data thoroughly, 

objectively and reliably. 

The second stage consists of secondary data collected between 2004 and 2013 from the 

reported annual reports and accounts of the companies sampled. The explanation behind the 

2004-2013 selection was that the standards for corporate governance were adopted in 

Nigeria in the second quarter of 2003. By 2008, the SEC had inaugurated a study committee 

to investigate the shortcomings of the 2003 code and to recommend ways of implementing 

enforcement. A draft report was submitted by the Committee in 2009; most organizations 

attempted to comply with the draft report in 2010 until it was adopted in 2011 (Dembo,2018). 

The duration 2004-2009 was therefore appropriate to observe the efficacy of the 2003 output 

code of the SEC. The 2010-2013 era was when the businesses put into use the revised code 

(Dembo,2018). The corporate annual reports (CAR) for these companies were obtained from 

the NSE and each company’s website. Information on the financial variables used was 

collected from the CARs of the companies.  

The third stage is the in-depth interview method under the primary data collection. One of 

the main ways of collecting qualitative data is through in-depth interviews. According to 
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Guion et al. (2011), the technique can be used for a variety of purposes and is most suitable 

for situations in which the researcher desires to ask open-ended questions that bring about 

the depth of information from reasonably few people. Burgess (1982), as cited in Easterby-

Smith et al. (2012), points out that the interview is the chance for the investigator to probe 

deep to unearth new evidence, open up additional scopes of the problem and to protect vivid, 

accurate, complete accounts that are founded on own experience. From this, one can 

conclude that an in-depth interview is a conversation meant to achieve a purpose. 

In-depth interviews are mostly taken on a one-to-one basis between the interviewer and the 

interviewee (Easterby-Smith et al., 2012). Guion et al. (2011) outlines four critical 

characteristics of in-depth interviews as follows: 

• Open-ended Questions. Questions are to be expressed in such a manner that interviewees 

give further details on the matter, not precisely to answer “yes” or “no.” Open-ended 

questions should start with “why” or “how,” which allows respondents to resolve the 

problems using their own words. 

• Semi-structured Format. The audience should be conversational and open, guided to enable 

issues to be wielded in the order that suited the interviewee to allow responses to be 

excavated and thoroughly researched.  

• Seek Understanding and Interpretation. The interviewer should be totally dedicated to the 

interviewing; he or she should be focused on listening and responding. The interviewer should 

try to understand what is being stated and should seek clarity and understanding throughout 

the interview. 

• Recording Responses. In an in-depth interview, it is desirable to audio-record the interview 

and complements it with the interviewer taking notes. This practice makes probing detailed 

and the researcher to pay full attention to the interviewee. 

The in-depth interview conducted was based upon open-ended questions and was done with 

the top management of the six oil companies to explore their interpretations about corporate 

governance, sustainability practices, and their perceptions of the corporate governance–

sustainability practices link. For a better understanding of CG/SP interpretations, this 

interpretive part requires seeking viewpoints from the top managers involved in the six firms. 

The sample composition enables the researcher to understand and observe conflicts in views, 
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practices, and explanations between the managers of the six companies, and also compare 

the possibly different CG and SP dynamics. A similar methodology was used in research 

conducted for eight companies in Lebanon by Jamali et al. (2008). 

 

5.5 Design of Variables and Propositions 

5.5.1 Measure of Corporate Governance Indices 

Among the principal explanatory variables measured in this work to test the relationship 

between corporate governance and sustainability practices and corporate performance is the 

CGDI. The CGDI is an aggregation of 43 corporate governance provisions as contained in the 

Nigerian Code. This variable was selected based on previous works (Beiner et al., 2006; 

Cheung et al., 2007) that have relied on national and international codes to construct their 

composite governance indices. 

There are two main approaches to building up a corporate governance index identified in the 

literature. The first line of attack involves the rating from independent professional rating 

organizations such as S&P, ISS, AIMR/AFAF, and CLSA, among others, that prior studies 

conducted by Gompers et al. (2001) and Brown and Caylor (2009) had relied on to create a 

governance index. However, this approach has its limitations, which include that the rating 

organizations tend to limit their scope to the leading firms that are heavily followed in an 

industry, and as such may not show sufficient cross-sectional variation in corporate 

governance disclosure levels. The ratings from these organizations have also been criticized 

because it is standardized for all firms from different countries. This has implications as the 

rankings may not reveal differences due to the size, culture, location, and background in 

corporate governance practices within different nations.     

The second approach is the researcher-constructed governance index. In this approach, the 

researcher directly measures the number of disclosures based on published reports such as 

corporate annual reports (Price et al., 2011). Similarly, Garay and González (2008) used 

information from the CARs to find the connection between corporate governance and 

company performance in Venezuela. However, this approach also has some limitations. 
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According to Core (2001), a researcher may be vulnerable to judgment errors and bias. Also, 

this approach is more labor-intensive in gathering information from CARs. 

Aside from these limits, this study takes the researcher-constructed governance index 

method for various purposes. Firstly, the ratings from the agencies are normally based on the 

country, and there is no governance information freely accessible from any of the rating 

organizations, where any CG practice was assessed and their compliance level by Nigerian 

listed firms. Secondly, the methodologies used by the evaluation agencies follow a standard 

that may not suit the Nigerian circumstances. Thirdly, the CGDI is manually constructed but is 

relatively comprehensive in terms of scope and coverage with 43 corporate governance 

disclosure items, a period of ten years, and a sample size of six firms. Fourthly, the CGDI is an 

actual direct measurement of corporate governance disclosures of the selected companies 

from CARs, which makes it more reliable and accurate, as asserted by Lang and Lundholm 

(1993). 

5.5.1.1 Development of Corporate Governance Disclosure Index 

The development of the CGDI was followed by the work of Gompers et al. (2001) and Garay 

and González (2008), where a system for rating corporate governance disclosures in CARs was 

developed. The approach is binary coding that consists of awarding a value of “1” if a 

particular Nigerian corporate governance provision is revealed in the CARs or “0” if not 

(Dembo, 2018). 

The corporate governance recommendations used in the CGDI are only found in the Nigerian 

code. It covers all areas of best corporate governance practices under two broad sections, 

namely financial disclosure items and non-financial disclosure items. Listed companies in 

Nigeria are required to ‘comply’ or ‘explain’ in case of non-compliance.  

There are 11 clauses in the financial disclosure portion of the CGDI, while the non-financial 

disclosure section has 32 provisions, taking the total provisions to 43. Specifically, the scoring 

procedure includes going through the CAR of each company and awarding one point if a 

specific provision of corporate governance is revealed or zero if not. A company's cumulative 

score ranges from zero to forty-three points for a particular year, zero points give 0 percent 

indicating complete non-compliance, and 43 points express 100 percent indicating complete 

compliance (Dembo,2018). So, a company for the overall period of study 2004–2013 will get 

a maximum of 430 points (43*10), for the period 2004–2009 will receive 258 points (43*6), 
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and for the period 2010–2013 will obtain 172 points (43*4) for full compliance. All the 

companies involved in this study are expected to comply with the recommendations of the 

Nigerian codes issued by the SEC to establish and maintain standards for governance practice.  

In this study, the data set was manually collected from the individual annual reports by the 

researcher. To certify objectivity, the supervisory team did a random sample and confirmed 

the scores of some of the companies. 

5.5.1.2 Internal Governance Variables 

Specific corporate governance mechanisms may affect the corporate performance of 

companies, to account for that, this study made use of board size (BDSIZE), role duality 
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(DUALITY) and the existence of the audit committee (AUDCOM), the proportion of non-

executive directors (NED) and the presence of diversity of board (BDIVERSITY) 

Table 5.2 presents the measurement of the specific corporate governance mechanisms as per 

the provisions in the Nigerian SEC codes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 5.2: Corporate Governance Variables 
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Variable  Code  Operationalisation of the variable 

Board Size BDSIZE Number of directors sitting on company boards 

at the end of every fiscal year. 

 

Chairman/CEO Duality 

 

DUALITY 

 

A dummy number which indicates ‘1’ if the 

roles of Chairman and CEO are separated or ‘0’ 

if both positions are combined. 

 

Audit Committee 

 

AUDCOM 

 

A dummy number which indicates ‘1’ if a 

company has an audit committee at the end of 

every fiscal year with only an ED as a member 

or ‘0’ if otherwise. 

 

Proportion of Non-

Executive Directors 

 

NED 

 

The fraction of non-executive directors to total 

directors on board at the end of every fiscal 

year in percentage. 

 

Board Diversity                       

 

BDIVERSITY 

 

 

 

 

A dummy number which indicates ‘1’ if there is 

a female member of the board or ‘0’ if 

otherwise. 

 

 

 

5.5.2 Measure of Sustainability Performance (SP) 

Studies conducted by (Griffin and Mahon, 1997; Orlitzky et al., 2003) as cited in Marom (2010) 

have discussed the measurement of social performance of a firm in greater detail.  According 

to Marom (2010), earlier researchers stressed the difficulty in the measurement of social 

performance of firms, and the imperfections associated with each method covered the real 

value of the social variables. The challenge in determining the social performance measure is 

generally because of three reasons that are integral to the concept. Firstly, the SP concept is 
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elusive. Furthermore, when scholars try to operationalize the concept, they end up with a 

series of constructs for SP. Finally, there is no perfect world-wide scale of measuring social 

performance along its various dimensions. 

Due to the above teething troubles, studies by Griffin and Mahon (1997) and Margolis and 

Walsh (2001), as cited in Marom (2010), have reported several measures of social 

performance. The inconsistency in these measurements could be due to two reasons. Firstly, 

as argued by Margolis and Walsh (2001) as cited in Marom 2010), there has been a theoretical 

change in the source of information, which helped to determine the level of social 

performance. Marom (2010, p. 52) stressed that; 

                    

 

Secondly, Rowley and Berman (2000) and Margolis and Walsh (2001), as cited in Marom 

(2010), asserted that the construct of a single weighted index for social performance was 

methodically debatable. Furthermore, Rowley and Berman (2000), also cited in Marom (2010, 

p. 52), maintained that it is arguable “whether such a weighted index, which was aggregated 

along different dimensions for different industries, can be compared.” These two issues 

highlighted above are discussed further below. Margolis and Walsh (2003) indicated that data 

sources for measuring social performance exist under corporate disclosure-based data and 

external evaluation.  

1.  Corporate disclosure-based data 

Researchers like Abbott and Monsen (1979), Davidson and Worrell (1990), and Verschoor 

(1998) used measures that are officially disclosed by the companies to devastate the 

vagueness and imperfection of survey-based methods. One of the most widely used for 

official disclosures is the annual reports to the shareholders of the companies as per CAMA 

and SEC requirements. An annual report is a document that company directors present to the 

shareholders of a company for ratification at its annual general meeting. Under this category, 

there are two types. 

Qualitative Text-based Reports 
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Based on Margolis and Walsh (2003), extracting qualitative information on SP rating from 

corporate annual reports is founded on content analysis. Such analysis could be based on the 

different kinds of data on the authorized document of the company. In a study conducted by 

Esrock and Leichty (1998), they used content analysis of 100 companies’ web pages from the 

list of Fortune 500 companies to scrutinize how large corporate entities are using the web to 

show themselves as socially responsible citizens. For every company website, they observe 

for the absence or presence of communications concerning 13 social responsibility content 

areas. In the same way, Abbott and Monsen (1979) developed a corporate social involvement 

disclosure scale founded on a content analysis of the annual reports of the Fortune 500 

companies. Also, Verschoor (1998) did a study context analysis by using CARs, to show a 

relation between financial performance and a corporate governance practice of ethics.  

Quantitative Numerical-based Reports 

Extracting quantitative SP score from corporate annual reports is centered on numerical data 

in the reports. Those types of figures could be data regarding funds allocated to social 

responsibility actions, or other related limits. Research by Griffin and Mahon (1997) and 

Margolis and Walsh (2001), as cited in Marom (2010), provided a comprehensive overview of 

past research that reported situations where numerical data that disclose social responsibility 

data were used; this relates to environmental issues and philanthropic contributions. Though 

the practice of using numerical data to rate SP appears to be the right method, on the other 

hand, Margolis and Walsh (2003) suggested the opposite. They argued that the fundamental 

issue lies mostly with the companies that use such publications “to improve their image, while 

at the same time, their negative impact on society is concealed.” 

2.  External Evaluation-based Measures of Sustainability Practices 

Another way to gauge social performance is centered on having an external independent 

evaluation of the information the companies reported. Two methods have been identified: 

Survey-Based Subjective Measures and Evaluation-Based Measures (Marom 2010). 

Survey-Based Subjective Measures of Sustainability Practice 

According to Margolis and Walsh (2003), information gathered by ‘informed observers’ is 

usually done through polls and surveys. This method of measuring of SP was developed when 
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research on the association between the SP and CP began. Many studies used a survey 

method to obtain data (Arlow and Gannon, 1982; Cochran and Wood, 1984). 

According to (Cochran and Wood, 1984; Margolis and Walsh, 2003), cited in Marom (2010, 

P.57) making use of survey method has advantages and disadvantages. 

 

As for the disadvantage, Cochran and Wood (1984), cited in Marom (2010), maintained that 

survey-based rankings are incredibly subjective. 

External Evaluation-Based Measure of Sustainability Practice 

Under this method, Marom (2010, p. 60) emphasized that the measurement is based on two 

central beliefs: 

 

The numerous measurements of SP are supposed to measure different stakeholder groups of 

the company that includes shareholders, employees, clients, contractors, regulators, host 

communities, and the surrounding area. Altogether, these figures are analyzed by the 

company arrive at a sum up CSP ranking. Many companies have sprung up and taken the task 

of doing the scoring of that kind of process of social responsibility worldwide today, with some 

attending to local businesses, while others control the global markets, for example, the 

Kinder, Lydenberg and Domini Company (KLD) 

Unlike the UK, the USA, and other developed economies, there is no SP rating for Nigerian 

companies. In arriving at a measure of SP as stated earlier, this work used a content analysis 

method to extract information from the CAR and the corporate social reports on the websites 
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as per the work of Fauzi et al. (2007). SP for each company was judged on a measure that uses 

an ordinal coding scheme, the scale samples to obtain the level and extent of the disclosed 

data by applying a calibrated scale. According to Beattie et al. (2004), the scale is “not 

restricted to only one, but often three levels – 0, 1 and 2”. This study uses: 

A 0 rating indicates no concern: when a company did not report activity carried out on CG, 

CSR sections of the CAR. 

A 1 rating indicates notable concern: when a company reported activities carried out in the 

CG section of the CAR only. 

A 2 rating indicates major concern: when a company reported activities carried out in the CSR 

section of the CAR. 

Each company was evaluated based on the above criteria and scored accordingly. The yearly 

scores were used in subsequent analysis, in Chapter 8, to establish the relationship between 

sustainability practices and corporate performance.  

5.5.3 Measure of Corporate Performance (CP) 

The range of corporate performance measures used is extensive, and there is no harmony on 

which corporate performance ratios are more suitable (Cochran and Wood, 1984). According 

to Islam et al. (2012), corporate success metrics typically fall into two categories: investors’ 

returns and accounting returns. In order to calculate corporate success, this investigation 

used only accounting measures: Return on Equity (ROE), Return on Assets (ROA), following 

the work of Griffin and Mahon (1997) and Moore (2001). In order to calculate the linkage 

between financial and social results, Waddock and Graves (1997) used return on equity (ROE), 

return on assets (ROA) and return on sales (ROS). In their work,' Is Pollution Profitable,' 

Bragdon and Marlin (1972) used EPS to decide whether the pollution control and profitability 

of the 17 companies was compatible. Similarly, Islam et al. (2012) used the ROA, EPS, and PE 

ratios to measure the essence of the CSR-corporate performance relationship (CP). In the 

same way Gompers et al. (2001), Moore (2001), and Core et al. (2006) used accounting 

performance measures to look at the relationship with a governance index.  

In this study, ROE is defined as operating income after tax divided by the book value of equity 

at the closing of each fiscal year (Haniffa and Hudaib, 2006). The higher the value of ROE, the 

better the management’s capability in generating earnings for shareholder investment in the 
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company. ROA, in this study, denotes operating income after tax at the close of each fiscal 

year divided by the book value of total assets for the same period (Haniffa and Hudaib, 2006). 

ROA measures the operating performance, which is directly connected to the returns 

management has made through the effective utilization of a company’s assets that belongs 

to shareholders. Also, like ROE, higher ROA points to management efficiency of using 

company assets to grow shareholder wealth. Information on both measures was obtained 

from the CAR and the websites. 

5.5.4 Control Variables 

The current study includes control variables in the analysis—namely, firm size, gearing, and 

industry—to control for other potential influences of firm performance. These variables have 

been used in many previous studies in both developed and developing countries to 

investigate the connection between corporate governance mechanisms and company 

performance.  

Size: Size is important, according to Waddock and Graves (1997), because evidence suggests 

that smaller firms can be less socially responsible than larger firms. Total revenues were used 

in this analysis to assess the size of the company in conjunction with the work of Crown et al. 

(1987) and Patten (1991), as cited in (Poddi and Vergalli, 2009). Business size was also 

controlled by corporate governance studies performed by Core et al. (2006) and Cheung et 

al. (2007). Business size was shown to be favorably linked to corporate governance practices 

in literature (Beiner et al., 2006). According to Hossain et al. (2001), firm size is an essential 

variable for board characteristics, being significantly and positively related to the number of 

external directors and board size but negatively correlated with CEO duality.  

Gearing: Following the studies of Black et al. (2006) and Garay and González (2008), the debt 

ratio was used to see its influence on governance and firm performance relationship. The 

performance of a firm may be effected through a change in the cost of capital. The efficiency 

of a business may be achieved by a shift in the cost of capital. In addition, Poddi and Vergalli 

(2009) used a debt ratio, taking into account the crucial role of indebtedness in business 

efficiency. As cited in Poddi and Vergalli (2009), studies by Myers (1977) and Jensen and 

Meckling (1976) have shown a positive correlation between gearing and SP because 
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organizations prefer to increase their social data to minimize rising monitoring costs due to 

high leverage.  

Industry: Dierkes and Preston's (1977) research has shown that because of their economic 

activities, industry may affect social efficiency. Dummy variables may be used to monitor 

output that varies from industry to industry (Fauzi et al., 2007). Demsetz and Lehn (1985) 

suggested that the industry dummy variable is vital for controlling for the possibility of a 

spurious relationship correlation between firm performance and governance mechanisms 

that may come from industry impacts. The industry sector is a significant determinant of firm 

performance because the return may be influenced by some industries ‘sensitivity to 

macroeconomic and political factors’ (Short and Keasey, 1999). Others have argued that firms 

in highly competitive sectors perform more efficiently (Black et al., 2006). Finally, Welch 

(2003) found that ownership concentration occurs more in the media and financial firms 

relative to firms operating in other industries while Omran et al. (2008) found that industrial 

firms achieve more performance compared to other firms in Arab countries. Haniffa and 

Hudaib (2006) also found that the construction sector is performing significantly better than 



128 
 

in other sectors. In this study, the dummy variable value one was assigned to oil and value 2 

for non-oil companies.  

Table 5.3 presents the summary of the variables and their measures as used in the study in 

addition to the specific corporate governance mechanisms earlier stated in table 5.2. 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 5.3: Variables Measures 
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No Variable Measure Study 

1 Corporate 

Governance Index 

(CGDI) 

Based on Nigerian Corporate 

Governance Code 

SEC (2003), SEC (2011) 

2 Internal Corporate 

Governance 

Mechanisms 

Board size, Proportion of NEDs, 

CEO duality, Audit committee, 

Board diversity, Audit Type, 

Institutional ownership, Disclosure 

and Corporate 

Governance/Remuneration 

committe 

Owusu (2012), Ntim (2009), Al-

Saidi (2010) 

3 Sustainability 

Practices (SP) 

Support for educational 

institutions; health establishment; 

community projects such as 

building roads, markets, help to 

less privileged persons and 

promotion of sports 

Fauzi et al. (2007), Beattie et al. 

(2004) 

4 Corporate 

Performance (CP) 

Return on Equity (ROE) and Return 

on Assets (ROA) 

Waddock and Graves (1997), 

Dierkes and Preston (1977), 

Poddi and Vergalli (2009), 

Gompers et al. (2001), Core et al. 

(2006) 

5 Control Size, Debt and Industry Waddock and Graves (1997), 

Dierkes and Preston (1977), 

Poddi and Vergalli (2009), Fauzi 

et al. (2007) 

 

5.5.5 Model Specification 

This study adopts the regression models as employed by Wintoki, Linck, & Netter (2012) that 

put forward the usage of four lags to control the endogeneity problem in assessing a 

regression model of present performance of businesses. The regression models include 

performance measures (ROA and ROE) with several control variables. The empirical analysis 

was considered based on claim by Akbar et al. (2016) that the “number of lags of corporate 

performance which are adequate for capturing the dynamic completeness of benchmark 

model” (p. 421). However, a lot of researchers (such as Glen, Lee, & Singh, 2001; 

Gschwandtner, 2005), as cited in Akbar et al. (2016), recommend the method of two lags in 

arresting the effect of past performance on present data. Thus the model is presented below: 
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𝐶𝑃𝑖𝑡 =  𝛼1 + ∑ β𝑖

p=4

𝑝=1

Controlst−1 +  εit … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … . . (1) 

 

Where, CPit denotes performance as measured by return on equity (ROE) or return on assets 

(ROA), and controls represent control variables, which include size, gearing, and industry. 

Similarly, the likely influence of earlier financial variables on present performance and 

corporate governance practice is considered. This in line with the point of view raised in more 

initial findings of Hermalin and Weisbach (1988); Guest (2009); Wintoki et al., (2012) as cited 

in Akbar et al. (2016).  In examining the existence of this association, the following model was 

estimated: 

 

CPit =  𝛼0  + β2Current Variablest−1  + ∑ β𝑖

n

𝑖=1

+  εit … … … … … … … … … … (2) 

 

The equation shows that current variables and controls include board size (BSIZE), audit 

committee (AUDCOM), duality (DUAL), board diversity (BDIVER), the proportion of non-

executive directors (NED), or CGDI as the case may be,  

size, gearing, and industry. At the same time, CP denotes corporate performance as measured 

by ROE or ROA.  

Severe exogeneity in the midst of the variables and was tested through the use of fixed-effects 

model: 

CPi,t = α + β1CGi,t + βxControlsi,t + Ω1CGi,t+1 + ΩxControlsi,t+1 + μi + εit… … … … … … … (3) 

 

CPit = α + β1CGDIi,t + βxControlsi,t + Ω1CGDIi,t+1 + ΩxControlsi,t+1 + μi + εit… … … … … … … (4) 

Where CGit signifies the corporate governance variables, CGDIit signifies the governance 

index and Controls denotes control financial variables, as explained in equation (1) above. 

According to Akbar et al. (2016), “a fixed-effects specification is used to control for one type 

of endogeneity, in which time-invariant firm characteristics (fixed effects) may be correlated 
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with the explanatory variables”(p. 422). Therefore, if upcoming values of CG/CGDI is 

significant in equations (3 and 4), it may indicate the “existent endogeneity of the explanatory 

variables may not only be the result of fixed effects but also because of a dynamic 

relationship.  i.e. future realizations of the explanatory variables are associated with the 

current performance” (Akbar et al. 2016, p. 422). Thus, equations (3 and 4) tries to focus if 

future values of CG variables/CGDI and control financial variables amend in reaction to 

company performance or by contrast are exogenous (Guest, 2009; Wintoki et al., 2012) as 

cited in Akbar et al. (2016). 

Application of System GMM 

Having compared the results of the estimators gotten after regressions were performed by 

using ordinary least square and fixed effects, having decided that the primary analysis for this 

study be conducted using the GMM system application as the chosen method. Therefore, a 

dynamic model was specified where ROA and ROE are used as a proxy for corporate 

performance (CP); this is presented as follows: 

                     

CPit = α1 + k1CPit-1 + k2CPit-2 + k3CPit-3+ βCGit + γxControlsit + μi + εit… … … … … … … … (5) 

CPit = α1 + k1CPit-1 + k2CPit-2 + k3CPit-3+ βCGDIit + γxControlsit + μi + εit… … … … … … … … (6) 

 

Where CG represents corporate governance variables, CGDI signifies the corporate 

governance disclosure index, and Controls means control variables as clarified in equation (1). 

This study follows the work of Akbar et al. (2016) and considers the endogeneity tests and 

presents the outcomes using two changed specifications with the GMM system (GMMª and 

GMMᵇ). Where very variables were treated apart from the dummies as endogenous, and all 

explanatory variables that are not severely endogenous are therefore treated as determined 

(Akbar et al. 2016).  

It was discovered by Akbar et al. (2016) that "a problem with fixed effects estimations is that 

they do not account for time-varying omitted variables that could be present in the model 

and/or reverse causality" (p. 422). Nonetheless, there is the likelihood that CG 

variables/compliance index do not show considerable discrepancy across time, as such the 

relationship with performance variables can be considered as a firm-fixed effect (Akbar et al. 
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2016). Akbar et al. (2016) claim that instrumental variables could be used to reverse causality.  

In this study, the regression's result was correlated with the CGDI, which did not show a direct 

association with performance. Studies conducted by Durnev and Kim, (2005); Aggarval et al. 

(2007) as cited in Akbar et al. (2016) argued that regularly, the choice of "instruments is based 

on unrealistic assumptions of data, leading to the use of instruments that are not exogenous" 

(p. 423). 

           In overcoming the problems mentioned above, as claimed by Akbar et al. (2016), a 

dynamic panel data model should be appraised using the GMM system because it permits 

previous values of CP to be used as instruments devoid of giving the efficacy and reliability of 

the estimators through instrumental explanatory variables that have lagged values can cause 

problems most, especially if there is a weak correlation between current and lagged values 

(Akbar et al. 2016). Therefore, in obtaining estimates of System GMM, the xtabond2 

command was applied. In this study, as in Akbar et al. (2016), the function was specified for 

adjustment due to the small sample and reports t-statistics and Wald chi-square. Robust 

standard errors were used, "which are consistent with panel specific autocorrelation and 

heteroskedasticity in the one-step estimation" (Akbar et al., 2016, p. 423). Furthermore, 

Akbar et al. (2016) reports the strength of System GMM regressions was established "by 

testing for exogenous instruments with the Hansen test of over-identification and the 

difference in Hansen test of Exogeneity" (p. 423). 

The study similarly takes account of the effects of autocorrelation by applying AR (2). The 

method is used to test second-order serial correlation in the first-differenced residuals (Akbar 

et al. 2016). The result of AR (2) will indicate the existence of no autocorrelation or not and 

defends the model's validity. The instruments also appear exogenous and effective as 

submitted by the outcomes of Hansen and the difference in Hansen tests. Furthermore, the 

regression results in the study are consistent, which confirmed the validity of the system 

GMM.  

With regard to the contributions of this study, the outcome indicates that the lag of the 

instruments and dependent variables is endogenous because of the existence of 

autocorrelation. Lastly, to analyze the likelihood of present level of CG practices/governance 

index may have an influence on future CG practices/ governance compliance, As such, 
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Wintoki, et al., (2012) model was adopted to assess if previous practices/compliance with CG 

determines present firm performance through the subsequent models: 

CPit = α1 + k1CPit-1 + βCGit-1 + γControlsit-1 + μit + εit ………………………………………………………….. (7) 

CPit = α1 + k1CPit-1 + βCGDIit-1 + γControlsit-1 + μit + εit ……………………………………………………….. (8) 

Where CP signifies corporate performance, CG denotes the corporate governance variables, 

CGDI symbolizes the corporate governance disclosure index, and Controls means control 

variables as defined before in equation (1). Following the work of Waddock and Graves 

(1997), Trebucq and D’Arcimoles (2002), Fauzi et al. (2007) and Yang et al. (2010), equations 

(9) and (10) were used to test the relationship between SP and CP 

When SP is the dependent variable the equation is 

SPᵢ = α + β₁CPᵢ+ β₂SIZE + β₃GEARING +β₄IND + ε…………………………… (9) 

When SP is the independent variable and CP is the dependent variable the equation is 

PERFᵢ = α + β₁SP + β₂SIZE + β₃GEARING + β₄IND +ε ………………….(10) 

Where PERFᵢ = corporate performance of the firm i (measures of accounting profits), 

SPᵢ = a proxy for corporate sustainability practices of the firm I (based on the dummy variable 

as no quantitative measure of SP in Nigeria), SIZEᵢ = a proxy for the size of firmᵢ  

GEARINGᵢ = a proxy for the leverage of firmᵢ (debt ratio) and INDᵢ = industry of firmᵢ (dummy 

variable). 

Lastly, and to examine whether SP impacts CP, the study appraise a basic fixed-effects 

regression model stated as follows: 

CP it =  𝛼0  + β2SPit  + ∑ β𝑖

n 

𝑖=1

+  μit + εit … … … … … … … … … … (11) 

Whereby CP refers to corporate performance proxies return on equity and return on assets, 

and SP represents sustainability practices, while the rest remains the same as defined in 

equation (1). 
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5.6 Method of Data Analysis     

 

The data analysis of the work is separated into two parts; the first part in which the "case 

study" method was employed to analyze the corporate governance practices of the six oil 

companies. This part of the study gives us, at a glance, the position of the governance 

structures and disclosure standards in the case of Nigerian SEC codes. To evaluate the 

structure and processes for CG adopted by the six companies, the efficiency in terms of 

substance and superiority of disclosure in the CARs for CG practice by the companies, an 

investigation was conducted based on statutory and non-mandatory requirements as 

contained in the CAMA and SEC codes. The second part is the regression analysis, which was 

employed to investigate the association between i) sustainability practices and corporate 

performance and ii) corporate governance mechanisms and corporate performance.  

 

5.6.1 Quantitative Analysis   

Initial data analysis was carried out for the 2004–2013 period. At this stage, 18 financial 

services companies and two companies with incomplete data were removed from the analysis 

bringing down the sample size to 30 companies from the initial top 50 companies. To 

investigate the relations proposed in the hypotheses stated earlier in chapter 4, the 

Generalized Method of Moments (GMM) considered a dynamic panel approach was used.  

Among the analysis conducted with the package included descriptive analysis, Pearson's 

correlation, t-tests, and regression analysis. The sample companies were first separated into 

two categories: oil companies and non-oil companies. 

 

5.6.1.1 Descriptive Statistics 

Several studies conducted on the CG / sustainability practice / corporate social responsibility 

and firm/corporate performance have used descriptive statistics (Waddock and Graves, 1997; 

Trebucq and D'arcimoles, 2002; Yang et al., 2010). Descriptive statistics are statistical 

procedures for presenting data in a tabular and graphical form to make the information brief 

but clear to the reader (Harris, 1998). The measures of descriptive statistics frequently used 

are frequency, mean, median, mode, and standard deviation. The mean measure is used the 

most; it is a measure of central tendency (Harris, 1998). The descriptive analysis used in this 

study comprises of frequency, mean, and standard deviation. 
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5.6.1.2 Pearson's Correlation 

Pearson's correlation is a measure of the degree of the linear relationship between two 

variables. The value of the coefficient r gives information about the strength and the bearing 

of the link. Previous research had shown that this approach had been used to measure the 

linear relationship between social performance and financial/firm performance (Waddock 

and Graves, 1997; Trebucq and D'Arcimoles, 2002). Pearson's r can only take on values that 

range from -1 to +1. A value of +1 or -1 indicates a perfect prediction as well as the direction 

of the relationship. In this study, the linear association between CG and/or social performance 

and corporate performance measures was established. 

 

5.6.1.3 T-tests  

Research has shown that t-tests can be applied to find out if there is a significant conflict 

between two sets of means. Islam et al. (2012) used this method to examine if a difference 

exists between two categories of banks in Bangladesh. Therefore an independent sample test 

using SPSS was used in this study to determine if there is a difference between the oil and 

non-oil companies concerning their ROE and ROA based on data collected from the CARs. 

5.6.1.4 Dynamic Panel GMM 

The OLS estimation is desirable because of its manageability, indicating the need for strict 

and meticulous assumptions to ensure consistency of the coefficient estimates. As Schultz et 

al. (2010) emphasized: "the OLS form requires that corporate governance and control 

variables are strictly orthogonal to the errors and that the errors are independently and 

identically normally distributed with a mean of zero and a variance equal to σ2" (p. 147). 

However, unsatisfactory results may be achieved if, in the data generating process, there is a 

minimum of one basis of endogeneity, thereby causing the estimations to be inefficient and 

subjective. It is not a coincidence that Wintoki et al. (2010) as cited in Schultz et al. (2010) 

categorize three types of possible endogeneity in the link between governance and 

performance: 

1. Dynamic Endogeneity: This happens when present CG practice, control characteristics, and 

financial performance of the entity are dogged by the company's past performance where 

the present value of the variable is affected earlier. For example, as clarified by Hermalin and 

Weisbach (1998) as cited in Schultz et al. (2010), preceding low company performance may 
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probably make the company's owners to change the directors of the board and follow up with 

stringent governance control measures. That may drive a change in the company's present 

CG practices, specific control characteristics, and performance. 

2. Simultaneity: In the relation between corporate governance and performance, Schultz et 

al. (2010) contend that "the corporate governance mechanisms and control characteristics 

may be determined concurrently with the firm's level of performance" (p. 147). When two 

variables are co-determined, they may affect one another simultaneously (Schultz et al., 

2010). For instance, a company could select a corporate governance practice because of the 

performance projected by the company. 

3. Unobserved Heterogeneity: In the relationship between corporate governance and 

performance, Schultz et al. (2010) claimed that "firm-specific characteristics—firm fixed-

effects—may affect a firm's governance structure, control characteristics, and performance, 

but maybe unobservable to the researcher and therefore difficult to quantify" (p. 147). This 

happens once an unobservable factor is affected once there is a link amid two variables or 

more. As exemplified by Haubrich (1998) cited in Schultz et al. (2010), the top management 

of the company capability and the chief executive's risk aversion level may influence the 

company's performance. Yermack (1996) and Himmelberg et al. (1999) cited in Schultz et al. 

(2010) to overcome issues of estimation linked with endogeneity used fixed-effects. Also, 

Petersen (2009) in Schultz et al. (2010) posited that "if the unobservable characteristics are 

constant over time for an individual firm, the researcher can then use a fixed-effects panel 

model to produce consistent parameter estimates robust to unobservable heterogeneity" (p. 

147).  

 

One of the prime assumptions in this research is that it's probable a company would be 

subjected to both simultaneity and dynamic endogeneity. When this happens, the postulation 

of severe exogeneity is impured. Still, fixed-effects panel specifications only produce 

consistent parameter estimates under the assumption of strict exogeneity (Schultz et al., 

2010, p.147). Furthermore, Schultz et al. (2010) suggested that it is expected that a company's 

CG, as well as controls, are orthogonal to previous, current, and forthcoming improvements 

in performance.  

Also, studies such as those of Coles et al., (2007) and Welch (2003), as cited in Schultz et al. 

(2010) purport that the governance–performance relations provide evidence consistent with 
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simultaneity as discussed above. Schultz et al. (2010) argued that "this simultaneity will also 

violate the strict exogeneity assumption of the fixed-effects panel estimation procedure, as it 

will result in the regressors being contemporaneously correlated with the errors" (p.148).  

More so, Schultz et al. (2010) continue to argue that "given the strict exogeneity assumption 

and the consequent inability to account for dynamic endogeneity and simultaneity in the 

governance–performance relation, the fixed effect method is not an adequate control for all 

sources of endogeneity" (p.148). Hence, this study uses the dynamic difference GMM model 

and the dynamic system GMM model, which are robust to dynamic endogeneity, 

simultaneity, and unobservable heterogeneity.  

The Dynamic Difference GMM Model         

GMM was advanced by Hansen (1982) to provide a non-parametric method towards model 

parameter estimates. The method model the connection between governance and 

performance relation by not enforcing distributional suppositions on the model design. The 

robustness of the model standard errors to autocorrelation and heteroskedasticity is in an 

unknown form (Schultz et al., 2010). Furthermore, Schultz et al. (2010, p.148) explain that 

 

Holtz-Eakin et al. (1988) and Arellano and Bond (1991) developed the dynamic difference 

GMM model for panel datasets that produce a reliable estimation of parameters in the 

presence of endogeneity. This was clarified by Schultz et al. (2010) as follows, “these 

estimates are robust to dynamic endogeneity, firm fixed-effects, endogenous regressors, 

heteroskedasticity and serial correlation in the innovations of firm performance” (p. 148). 

Also, Schultz et al. (2010) argued the entire variables are time differenced; as a result, 

unobservable company characteristics are removed devoid of the need for stringent 

exogeneity assumptions. 
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As illustrated by Wooldridge (2002), and Wintoki et al., (2010), sequential exogeneity is 

expected to develop the instrument set for the GMM estimates. Notably, performance 

measures, CG, and control variables are presumed to be orthogonal to forthcoming 

improvements in performance, yet possibly connected with earlier and current 

improvements (Schultz et al., 2010). Further, Schultz et al. (2010) state that sequential 

exogeneity is a considerably weaker condition than strict exogeneity, and provides an 

additional accurate setting for the analysis of the governance–performance link. Also, it is 

presumed that there is a certain form of perseverance in the CG, controls, and performance 

variables, such that earlier insights of company features possibly will function as valid 

instrumental variables (Schultz et al., 2010) 

The Dynamic System GMM Model  

The Dynamic System GMM Model is a system developed by Arellano and Bover (1995) and 

Blundell and Bond (1998) as cited in (Schultz et al., 2010). The dynamic system GMM model 

increases the efficacy of the difference GMM specification in two respects. Schultz et al. 

(2010) contend that firstly if indeed the relation between CG and performance is in levels, 

there is a need to make available a correct design of the link’s fundamental dynamics. If small 

perseverance is present in the levels of the variable, at that moment, the lagged levels of the 

variables may be weak instruments in the difference equation. More so, Schultz et al. (2010) 

claim that the levels may virtually be uncorrelated with the differences. Schultz et al. (2010, 

p.150) further explains that  

 

 

All the same, the errors in the levels equation will comprise the possible unobservable 

heterogeneity that is obvious in the data instruments, or the differences in the variables, have 

been purged of unobservable firm effects and are orthogonal to the errors (Schultz et al., 

2010). Also, the assumption that the connections between the regressors and the firm fixed-



139 
 

effects should be continuous all through the sample time needs to be enforced on the model. 

In the case of endogenous variables, the lagged differences are available as a valid 

instrument. Furthermore, the current and lag changes in the predetermined variables are 

used as instruments.  

The estimation method of the parameters, as explained by Schultz et al. (2010), follows a 

similar procedure of two-step GMM used in the difference GMM specification. Hence they 

claimed that the procedure “produces consistent and efficient estimates of the model 

parameters for the dynamic system GMM, robust to the biases introduced by simultaneity, 

dynamic endogeneity, and unobservable heterogeneity” (Schultz et al., 2010, p. 151). 

In conclusion, the CG and performance link was examined employing a pooled ordinary least 

square regression that cannot spot-on every form of endogeneity. Afterward, the relationship 

was assessed with the widely held fixed-effects model that fully explains for unobservable 

heterogeneity. Lastly, the study showed the procedure of the dynamic panel GMM and the 

dynamic system GMM, which corrects every form of endogeneity and, as a result, produces 

efficient and consistent estimates. 

5.6.2 Qualitative Analysis 

This part of the study discusses Content analysis and in-depth interviews that were used   

The Nigerian SEC corporate governance codes were used to investigate compliance by the six 

listed oil companies; this stage analyzed the six companies’ corporate governance practices 

over ten years, namely from 2004 to 2013. The CARs of these six quoted companies are 

available through the NSE. ‘African Financials’ is another database that provides the CARs in 

PDF format for many listed African firms. This work has made use of the services offered by 

both databanks.  

According to Guthrie et al. (2004), CARs are handy sources of information because the 

directors of organizations usually hint at what is vital over the reporting machinery. Similarly, 

Guthrie and Petty (2000) viewed cars as an announcement device that allows an organization 

to relate to various stakeholders. Yearly reports are made consistently by registered 

organizations as required by law; this makes it easy for comparisons to be drawn.  
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5.6.2.1 Content Analysis 

The 2003 and 2011 SEC codes were first scrutinized to bring out the key recommendations 

made for Nigerian companies to implement. After that, a total of 60 CARs were reviewed over 

the period to establish the compliance level with each of the fundamental corporate 

governance mechanisms. 

Some technical requirements should be present in content analysis to be well-organized 

(Guthrie and Mathews, 1985). First are the types of classification that should be obvious and 

functionally defined. Second is fairness which means an item should be placed correctly, it 

either belongs in a particular category, or it does not belong. The third is that information 

should be quantified, and last, the coder should be reliable. 

5.6.2.1.1 Unit of Analysis 

An essential idea in a study is the unit of analysis. It is the principal object that an investigator 

examines in his study. The persons or objects whose features will be measured are 

categorized as the units of analysis.  The unit of analysis examples in research could be 

individuals, groups of persons, companies, monetary units. In this study, the unit of analysis 

is companies examined if their voluntary disclosure has an impact on their performance. 

5.6.2.1.2 Categorisation  

This part focuses on the disclosure classification for corporate governance practices on which 

content units may be categorized. Currently, no such disclosure scheme is identified to subsist 

in the literature of Nigeria, and therefore an essential section of this examination was to 

develop the disclosure categorization scheme. In doing so, this study made reference to the 

SEC codes of 2003 and 2011. 

Through the use of these documents, a list of recommended corporate governance practices 

comprising 43 disclosure items under two categories, financial and nonfinancial items, were 

extracted for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013 from the SEC codes. The period 2004–

2009 was when the SEC code of 2003 was in operation, while 2010–2013 covers the SEC code 

of 2011 since its implementation started in 2010 when it was introduced to stakeholders and 

the Nigerian public for comments before the regulatory authorities enforced it in 2011. Also, 

information on the sustainability practices was extracted from the CARs for the two periods. 
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5.6.2.1.3 Coding 

The content analysis involved going through the company’s yearly report and coding the facts 

held in that per the provisions of SEC codes of 2003 and 2011. Each practice is scored either 

1 or 0 in case of conformity or non-conformity with the recommendations for corporate 

governance practices. 

At the end of the exercise, scores for each firm are tallied to get a total score of compliance. 

For each company, the maximum rating for compliance with all the recommendations is 43 

per year for the period 2004–2013, respectively. Lastly, compliance percent is drawn up for 

each company, which tells the level of compliance for easy comparison. And for the 

sustainability practices, a calibrated scale of three levels – 0, 1, and 2 – was applied. A 

company can only score between 0 and 2 to indicate its social responsibility. 

5.6.2.2  Assumptions of Content Analysis   

According to Guthrie and Mathews, (1985) as cited in Guthrie and Abeysekera, (2006), the 

assumptions of content analysis are;  

➢   Types of classification should be obvious and functionally defined 

In conducting a content analysis of any manuscript, the manuscript should be broken down 

into convenient groupings on a range of levels like a sentence, theme, word, or phrase, which 

will be scrutinized using any of the basic methods of content analysis: conceptual analysis or 

relational analysis. In this study, the conceptual method is used.  

After determining the method to use, the next step is to determine the number of concepts 

to code. This consists of developing a pre-defined or interactive set of concepts and 

categories. For example, this study uses a pre-defined number set as per the guidelines issued 

by the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) and the 

recommendations of the Nigerian codes, which are divided under two parts, financial and 

nonfinancial disclosure items for the corporate governance practice. Through the use of these 

documents, a list of recommended corporate governance practices comprising 43 disclosure 

items under two categories, financial and nonfinancial items, were extracted for the periods 

2004–2009, 2010–2013 and 2004-2013 from the SEC codes. 

            

 

➢ Information should be quantified 
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After determining the concepts to code, which were divided under two parts, as is shown in 

table 3.1, the financial disclosure items are 11 items, while the nonfinancial items to disclose 

as identified in table 3.2 are 32 items, respectively. The next vital aspect is for the investigator 

to answer a fundamental question: whether he is going to code for existence or frequency.  

In this study, existence is used for compliance with the corporate governance by the selected 

companies, while frequency is used for sustainable practices. In this study, a dichotomous 

procedure is followed to score each of the disclosure issues. A company is awarded a score of 

'1' if it appears to have disclosed the concerned issue and '0' otherwise. The score of each 

company is totalled to find out the net score. 

CGDI = Total Score of the Individual Company / Maximum Score Obtainable by the Company 

x 100 

➢ There should be fairness which means an item should be properly placed 

Here, the researcher makes rules that will enable him to rationalize and organize the coding 

procedure so that he will code what he intends to code. In this study, a dichotomous 

procedure is followed to score each of the disclosure issues. A company is awarded a score of 

'1' if it appears to have disclosed the concerned issue and '0' otherwise. That means if the 

concerned issue appears in the annual report, a score of ‘1’ is given and ‘0’ if it did not. At the 

end, score of each company is totalled to find out the net score to develop CGDI. The 

researcher ensures that he is coding consistent throughout the CARs, in the same way, every 

time going through each CAR and recording appropriate data in the right categories (financial 

and nonfinancial items). As stated earlier, the guidelines given by the United Nations 

Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) and the recommended best practices by 

the Nigerian as in tables 3.1 and 3.2 were used. A company can only score a maximum of 430 

points (43*10) for the study period. 

➢ The coder should be reliable 

 An investigation is considered authentic if the same result is gotten repeatedly. This means 

uniformity of measure. In this study, reliability was achieved with the assistance of two (2) 

master's degree students of the University of Bedfordshire. Who, after showing them the 

documents (CARs), the categories (pre-defined number set as per the guidelines issued by the 

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) and the recommendations 

of the Nigerian codes: financial and nonfinancial items) a few were tested together, by coding 

based on the categories and review based on the items on each category. They were asked 
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to re-code fifteen (15) companies each earlier coded by the researcher, which was used to 

confirm the validity of the investigator's findings, and it was found to be consistent. This 

supports the submission by Neuendorf (2016), who advocates that if a human is used as 

coders in content analysis, at least there should be two independent coders. The supervisory 

team also cross-check the scores of ten companies-all the six oil companies and four other 

non-oil companies selected at random to confirm the investigator's scores. 

 

Links between steps and assumptions 

 

• Formulate the Research question and the Text to be studied 

The research question in this study is to examine the level of compliance with the corporate 

governance code in Nigeria and subsequently develop the Corporate Governance Disclosure 

Index (CGDI) for Nigeria using the published corporate annual reports.. 

• Decide on Unit of Analysis 

Babbie (2001) said organizations could be the unit of Analysis in content analysis. In this study, 

the selected oil companies are the Unit of Analysis. 

• Construct Coding Categories 

The researcher answers a fundamental question: whether he is going to code for existence or 

frequency.  

In this study, existence is used for compliance with the corporate governance by the selected 

companies. A company is awarded a score of '1' if it appears to have disclosed the concerned 

issue and '0' otherwise. The score of each company is totalled to find out the net score. 

• Coding, Validity and Reliability Check 

The researcher ensures that he is coding consistent throughout the CARs, in the same way, 

every time going through each CAR and recording appropriate data in the right categories 

(financial and nonfinancial items). To test the reliability of the results, it was confirmed that 

the findings are reproducible and accurate with the assistance of 2 students of the university. 

 

5.6.3 In-depth Interview 

After getting the consent of the six companies through telephone conversation on the need 

to conduct the interviews, the researcher wrote a letter (see Appendix 1) to the companies 

explaining the research’s scope. Attaching a copy of the interview guide (see Appendix 2) with 
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a request to the management of the companies seeking an appointment to conduct 

interviews[1]. The interviews were conducted in English and each took an average of half an 

hour, were tape-recorded, written down and brought together in the form of a case study 

discussing the three areas of CG practice, SP, and each company's links. Recordings were 

checked by the supervisory team. Executive directors in charge of finance, general managers, 

secretarial workers, and corporate social responsibility heads are among the interviewees. 

The interview guide was designed to serve as a stimulus for discussions around the common 

themes. Table 5.4 shows the themes that steer discussions around which interpretive 

comparisons were made. The transcript of the interviews and the compiling of the case 

studies involve focusing on detecting commonalities in the statements, and equally areas of 

divergent views were noted and highlighted as outlined in Table 5.4.  Interpretative 

phenomenological analysis (IPA) method was used in analyzing the link between CG and SP. 

Semi-structured in-depth interviews were used. The primary concern of IPA is to bring about 

rich, in-depth, and real-life explanations of experiences and occurrences under investigation 

(Fitzgerald and Howe-Walsh, 2008).  

5.6.3.1 Interview Data 

The interviews were held face to face in the interviewees’ offices. The face-to-face interviews 

provided an opening to collect data that openly explained the unique stories of the 

personalities involved. The six interviews were downloaded to a personal computer to enable 

the researcher to listen to the answers and discussions several times. All the interviews were 

transcribed word for word. The entire interview transcripts were read over and over, then 

sum up to detect any gaps that might have arisen in the course of collecting the data and 

include the personal thoughts, reflections, and ideas of the researcher, by way of a summary 

sheet (Anderson, 2004). Summarising the interviews, assisted in the analysis of the interview 

data. The supervisory team has also checked some of the transcripts for validity purposes. 

According to Pietkiewicz and Smith (2014, p. 9), the IPA tries to: 
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Pietkiewicz and Smith (2014, p. 9) further emphasised that 

 

For example, in this study, all interviewees are from the same industry; there are top 

managers in the organizations and are involved in running the day-to-day affairs of the 

companies. This offers a chance to know more about the similarities and differences that exist 

in the companies. Therefore, to undertake IPA, there are theoretical foundations that are to 

be taken care of, which, according to Pietkiewicz and Smith (2014, p. 10) 

 

 

According to Smith and Osborn (2008), IPA is to be conducted on word-for-word transcripts. 

As noted by Fitzgerald and Howe-Walsh (2008), “discerning meaning through a close and 

interpretative relationship with the data was the central purpose of the analysis.” The 

interview transcripts were carefully looked at independently through a rigorous and thorough 

reading of the transcripts. And notes taken, again and again, to be conversant with the 

contents. Furthermore, on the left of the transcripts, potential and significant meanings were 

noted down. After that, the transcripts were re-read to note any theme that emerges from 

the initial notes. In the end, some interview transcripts have shown richness by producing 

more themes than others.  

This study followed the work of Fitzgerald and Howe-Walsh (2008), at first, an initial list of 

themes was made, from which a second list that connects the themes was produced. Which 
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explains the clustering of these themes into a smaller number of higher-order ones to 

compare with interviewees’ expressions to ensure they supported the connections made. The 

themes developed from the first transcript were used to assist in analyzing the remaining 

transcripts at the same time, making sure that similarities and differences are highlighted 

between the accounts until a table of master themes was arrived at for the entire sample 

(Fitzgerald and Howe-Walsh 2008). As was suggested by Fitzgerald and Howe-Walsh (2008), 

the themes are not selected purely based on their prevalence within the data. But additional 

factors that include the richness of certain passages that highlight the themes and in what 

manner the theme helps illuminate other aspects of the account are also taken into account.   

Subsequently, after five transcripts were analyzed, four main superordinate themes were 

articulated even after completing all the six interviews. According to Halaweh (2012, p. 45), 

the accepted way to determine at what time to stop collecting data, called data saturation, 

rest on three levels. 

 

In this study, it was targeted in advance to collect the data by interviewing key people in the 

selected companies that have experience and knowledge of the study area. 

The final phase, according to Pietkiewicz and Smith (2014, p. 13)  
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Table 5.4: Areas Articulated in Interviews 

              Areas 

1 Corporate Governance (CG) 

 Structure and size of the Board 

Board of directors composition 

Board committees 

Codes of conduct  

Directors’ Remuneration 

Information disclosure 

Internal control 

Motives for good Corporate Governance practice 

2 Sustainability Practices (SP) 

 Conception of Sustainability Practices 

Sustainability Practice activities 

Formality of Sustainability Practices program 

Sustainability Practices values 

Principles encouraging Sustainability Practices 

Expected benefits of Sustainability Practices 

Most important stakeholders 

Purpose of Sustainability Practices 

Measurement of Sustainability Practices 

3 Conception of CG/SP relationship 

 Corporate Governance pillar of Sustainability Practices 

Sustainability Practices dimension of Corporate Governance 

Corporate Governance–Sustainability Practices part of continuum 
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5.7 Chapter Summary 

This chapter describes the study’s research design, the population, and the sample size used. 

The method of collecting data and analysis used was expansively described. Two kinds of data 

were used in this study: archival data from annual reports of selected companies and data 

from interviews. The reasons for the choice of the period and the use of company annual 

reports as the central annals of retrieving information for finding the relationship between 

CG and SP and CP were discussed. Description of the development of the CGDI, specific 

corporate governance mechanisms, and the social performance as the main explanatory 

variables of the study were highlighted comprehensively. The justifications for the use of 

accounting measures (ROE and ROA) in the study, together with the control variables, are also 

explained. The GMM System was used in the study as a method of analyzing the association 

between CG and CP in one hand and between SP and CP on the other. The robustness of the 

results was explored for the presence of potential endogeneity problems. Endogeneity could 

take place due to measurement error, autoregression with autocorrelated errors, 

simultaneity, and omitted variables. Studies have identified three types of potential 

endogeneity in the corporate governance–performance link: Dynamic Endogeneity, 

Simultaneity and Unobserved Heterogeneity 

The next chapter discusses the analysis of the companies complying with the corporate 

governance provisions in Nigeria by the quoted oil companies. 
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Chapter Six: The Development of the Corporate Governance Disclosure Index 
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6.1 Introduction 

This study has selected six oil companies listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE). The 

companies are the top in the sector and among the top 30 companies on the exchange. The 

chapter aims to investigate if the selected oil companies are compliant with the provisions of 

the good practice and the Nigerian codes. This chapter is divided into three sections. A brief 

profile of the six selected oil companies is in section 6.2. Section 6.3 is the analysis of the 

disclosure items through exploring the corporate annual reports of the selected companies. 

While section 6.4 is the chapter summary.  

6.2 Sample Companies  

To achieve one of the purposes of this study, the top six oil companies listed on the NSE were 

selected. The list of companies is, as shown in Table 6.1. 

Table 6.1: Selected Companies  

S/N Company   

1 Conoil Plc   
2 Forte Oil Plc   
3 Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc   
4 MRS Oil Nigeria Plc   
5 Oando Plc   
6 Total Nigeria Plc   

 

Table 6.1 shows the list of top oil companies on the NSE that is the most capitalized and liquid 

in the oil industry arranged in alphabetical order. 

6.2.1 Profile of Sample Companies  

The following sub-sections profile each company 

6.2.1.1 Conoil Plc 

Conoil Plc is the leading local oil marketing company, which 

commenced operations in 1927 as Shell Company of 

Nigeria (SCN) and later became the Shell Company of West 

Africa. In 1975, the Federal Government of Nigeria, 

through the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC), bought 60% of the stakes of 

the business and renamed it National Oil & Chemical Marketing Company (NOLCHEM). In   
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2000, the Nigerian government bought the remaining 40% stake of the business from Shell 

Company (UK) Ltd. 

In 2002, after the sale of the company to the Nigerian public, Conpetrol Limited acquired 

74.4% of the company’s capital, whereas the public bought the remaining 25.6%. The 

company has a network of 402 branches spread across Nigeria through which the company 

carried out its principal activities of marketing of refined petroleum products and liquefied 

petroleum gas for domestic and industrial use. 

Ownership Pattern 

The ownership pattern of Conoil Plc is shown in figure 6.2. 

 

Figure 6.2: Ownership Pattern of Conoil Plc  

Since the company was privatized, the core investor continued to maintain its shareholding 

of 74.4%, leaving the balance of 25.6% to the Nigerian public. 

 

6.2.1.2 Forte Oil Plc 

 

 Incorporated on 11 December 1964, it was then 

known as British Petroleum Nigeria Limited. In 1977 

following the enactment of the Nigerian Enterprises 

Promotion Decree, 40% of the issued capital of the company was sold to the Nigerian public. 
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The remaining 60% shares of British Petroleum were sold to the Nigerian government in 1978. 

By 1979, the company has transformed to African Petroleum (AP). In 1989, the Federal 

Government of Nigeria sold 20% of the NNPC stake to the Nigerian public. The government 

stake was finally disposed of by the year 2000 when the government, through its privatization 

agenda, divested the outstanding 40% to the Nigerian public. 

In 2007, the company’s core investor Incorporate Trustees of NNPC Pension Fund sold its 

shares to Zenon Petroleum & Gas Company, which resulted in the change of name to Forte 

Oil Plc in 2010. Forte Oil sells refined petroleum products Premium Motor Spirit (PMS), 

Automotive Gas Oil (AGO, also known as Diesel), Dual Purpose Kerosene (DPK) to the general 

public through an expansive network of over 500 retail outlets. The company has retail outlets 

all over Nigeria and beyond.  

Ownership Pattern 

The ownership pattern of Forte Oil Plc is shown in figure 6.3. 

 

 

Figure 6.3: Ownership Pattern of Forte Oil Plc 

Figure 6.3 shows a wave of changes in the ownership structure. One of the reasons for this 

change is mainly due to political reasons and changes in the board structure that had a high 

impact on the investors’ preference in this company. These changes affected the Nigerian 

public holdings, which results in the movement of many shares of the company. 
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6.2.1.3 MRS Oil Nigeria Plc 

 

 The company started marketing of petroleum products in Nigeria in 1913 

under the Texaco brand name. By 12 August 1969, Texaco Nigeria Limited 

was incorporated as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Texaco Africa Limited. 

In 1978, when the Federal Government of Nigeria promulgated the 

indigenization decree, Texas Petroleum Corporation sold 40% of its stake in Texaco Nigeria 

Limited to Nigerians. In 1990, the company became a publicly quoted company and listed on 

NSE. The company’s name changed in 2006 from Texaco Nigeria Plc to Chevron Oil Nigeria Plc 

after the merger of Chevron Corporation and Texaco Inc. 

In 2009, MRS acquired the Chevron downstream assets in Nigeria. This high profile acquisition 

gave birth to MRS Oil Nigeria Plc. The company markets refined petroleum products under 

the MRS brand across 416 retail service stations strategically spread all over Nigeria. 

Ownership Pattern 

The ownership pattern of MRS Oil Nigeria Plc is as shown in figure 6.4.  

 

Figure 6.4: Ownership Pattern of MRS Oil Nigeria Plc 

It is clear from figure 6.4 Nigerian public shareholders of MRS Oil have maintained their 

shareholding in the company of 40% in all the years under study. The foreign partners of the 

company sold their 60% stake to a Nigerian company, which became the new core investor.   
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6.2.1.4 Oando Plc 

In 1976, the Federal Government of Nigeria acquired the Esso interest 

and designated Unipetrol Nigeria Ltd. In 1991, 60% of its stake in 

Unipetrol Nigeria Ltd was sold by the government to the Nigerian public, 

thereby becoming a public limited company. By 1992, the business was 

listed on the NSE. In 1999, the company acquired 51% of Gaslink Nigeria Limited's equity to 

make use of its exclusive gas sales and purchasing agreement with the Nigerian Gas Company. 

Also, Unipetrol Nigeria Limited bought 60% of Agip Nigeria Plc's equity from Agip Petroli 

International in 2002. Unipetrol Nigeria Limited and Agip Nigeria Plc combined in 2003 to form 

Oando Plc.  

In November 2005, Oando Plc became the first company in Africa to enter the Johannesburg 

Stock Exchange for a cross-border internal listing (JSE). The firm purchased 15 percent of 

OML's equity in 2008. The firm completed a N20 billion rights issue in 2010, which was 128 

percent subscribed. 

Oando deals with a wide variety of products, including Premium Motor Spirit (PMS), 

Automotive Gas Oil (AGO, also known as Diesel), Dual Purpose Kerosene (DPK), Aircraft 

Turbine Kerosene (ATK), Low Pour Fuel Oil (LPFO), Lubricating Oils and Greases, Bitumen, 

Liquefied Petroleum Gas, Insecticides (LPG, also known as cooking gas). The company sells 

and distributes its products through more than 300 distribution outlets and more than 500 

business customers distributed across Nigeria's length and breadth. In Ghana and Togo, 

Oando Plc has more than 40 service stations running.  

Ownership Pattern 

The ownership pattern of Oando Plc is as shown in figure 6.5.  
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Figure 6.5: Ownership Pattern of Oando Plc 

The shareholding of both the core investors and the Nigerian public fluctuates due to the 

mergers and acquisitions the company has gone through over a number of years. 

 

6.2.1.5 Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 

Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc is a subsidiary of ExxonMobil Corporation. 

The company engages in the sale and marketing of petroleum 

products in Nigeria. Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc was incorporated in 

1951. The company became a publicly quoted company and 

assumed its current name and status in 1978. Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc has over 200 retail outlets 

located in all 36 states of Nigeria and the federal capital territory Abuja. 

Ownership Pattern 

The ownership pattern of Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc is as shown in figure 6.6.  
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Figure 6.6: Ownership Pattern of Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 

The company is a subsidiary of ExxonMobil Corporation. ExxonMobil Corporation holds 60% 

equity interest making them the majority shareholders, while the Nigerian public with 40% 

are minority shareholders. 

6.2.1.6 Total Nigeria Plc 

Total Nigeria Plc was incorporated as a private company on 1 June 

1956 to market petroleum products in Nigeria as a subsidiary of 

Total S.A. France. The company is a significant player in the 

petroleum marketing and distribution business in Nigeria. It became 

Total Nigeria Ltd in 1967, and Total Nigeria Plc in 1978 after it went 

public following the Nigerian Enterprises Promotion Decree. The successful merger of 

September 2001 between Total Nigeria Plc and Elf Oil Nigeria Ltd gave birth to Total Fina  Elf 

Nigeria Plc.  

The company operates a network of approximately 530 retail outlets with shops at its service 

stations, including about 28 shops under the Bonjour brand. Total Nigeria Plc offers various 

fuel products in its retail outlets that include petrol, diesel, kerosene, and LPFO for engines, 

and industrial and domestic applications. 

Ownership Pattern 

The ownership pattern of Total Nigeria Plc is as shown in figure 6.7.  
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Figure 6.7 Ownership Pattern of Total Nigeria Plc 

The company is one of the two companies with majority shareholders, as foreigners have 

Total S.A. France as the parent company. Total S.A. France interest has been constant until 

lately when the situation changes. This change is not far from complying with the Nigerian 

Enterprises Promotion Decree that stipulates a minimum 40% equity holding for Nigerians in 

foreign companies that are operating in Nigeria. 

The next section analyses the compliance of these six companies with the financial and non-

financial disclosure items to develop the corporate governance disclosure index (CGDI). 

 

6.3 Analysis of Disclosures by Sample Companies 

The corporate governance index in this study, as previously stated, is focused on financial and 

non-financial statements in compliance with the guidelines provided by UNCTAD for good 

governance practices, as contained in the SEC codes for 2003 and 2011. The research was 

performed by analyzing the publicly accessible CARs and other company records. In this study, 

the figures are primarily focused on data from CARs.. Prior studies like Niskala and Pretes 

(1995), Alnajjar (2000), and Belal (2001) did not use groupings in their studies. Niskala and 

Pretes (1995) studied large Finnish firms' corporate environmental reporting practices for five 

years; Alnajjar (2000) investigated the United States of America's Fortune 500 firms' social 

responsibility disclosure and Belal (2001) work was on Bangladesh companies CSR. Initially, 
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there are two groups—Group 1are indigenous oil companies, and while group 2 are foreign 

oil companies. Based on the first objective, which is to examine the level of compliance with 

the corporate governance code in Nigeria and subsequently develop the Corporate 

Governance Disclosure Index (CGDI) for Nigeria. The grouping is not needed since the study 

is to find the compliance level of Nigerian companies in the oil sector. 

6.3.1 Analysis of Financial Disclosure Index of Sample Companies 

With this in mind, the financial disclosure index for the six oil companies was developed based 

on Table 3.1 in Chapter 3 for ten years from 2004–2013. The financial disclosure index 

contains a total of 11 items, and every item was allotted a score of 1 for every year, over ten 

years. This translates to a maximum score of 99 for the financial index (Dembo, 2018).  

Table 6.2 displays the analysis of the financial disclosure of Conoil Plc. Of the total score of 

110, Conoil Plc has obtained 100 for the period 2004–2013. For the periods 2004–2009 and 

2010–2013, Conoil Plc scored 60 and 40 out of 66 and 44, respectively. Accordingly, the 

company has a 90.91% level of completion of financial disclosure. The company is lacking in 

the financial disclosure in the consolidated financial statement. 

 

Table 6.2: Analysis of Financial Disclosures of Conoil Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Statement of Directors 
Responsibilities 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

2 Report of the Independent Auditors 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Statement of Financial Position 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Statement of Comprehensive Income 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Cash Flows Statement  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

6 Consolidated Financial Statement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

7 Notes to the Financial Statements  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Significant Accounting Policies 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Related-Party Transaction 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

10 Statement of Value Added  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

11  Summary of 5 years Financials 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

                TOTAL 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 100 

 

Table 6.3 indicates the financial disclosure of Forte Oil Plc. Forte Oil Plc has an overall score 

of 94 out of 110 for the period 2004–2013. For the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013, Forte 
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Oil Plc scored 54 and 40 out of 66 and 44, respectively. This translates to financial disclosure 

in percentage by the company to 85.45% for 2004–2013, and 81.82% and 90.91% for the 

periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013, respectively. The company is lacking in the statement of 

Directors Responsibilities throughout the study and consolidated financial statements in the 

period 2004–2009. 

Table 6.4 shows the financial disclosures of MRS Oil Nigeria Plc. The result indicates that the 

company got a total score of 100 out of 110 for the whole period of the study. MRS Oil Nigeria 

Plc scored 60 and 400 for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013, respectively. Accordingly, 

the company has a 90.91% level of completion of financial disclosure for all the periods. Even 

with this result, the company is lacking in disclosing consolidated financial statements 

throughout the study period 2004–2013. 

Table 6.3: Analysis of Financial Disclosures of Forte Oil Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Statement of Directors 
Responsibilities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2 Report of the Independent Auditors 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Statement of Financial Position 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Statement of Comprehensive Income 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Cash Flows Statement  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

6 Consolidated Financial Statement 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 4 

7 Notes to the Financial Statements  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Significant Accounting Policies 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Related-Party Transaction 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

10 Statement of Value Added  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

11 Summary of 5 years Financials 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

               TOTAL 9 9 9 9 9 9 10 10 10 10 94 

 

Table 6.4: Analysis of Financial Disclosures of MRS Oil Nigeria Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13  

1 Statement of Directors 
Responsibilities 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

2 Report of the Independent Auditors 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Statement of Financial Position 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Statement of Comprehensive Income 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Cash Flows Statement 1 1 1 1 9 9 9 9 9 1 10 

6 Consolidated Financial Statement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

7 Notes to the Financial Statements  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Significant Accounting Policies 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Related-Party Transaction 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

10 Statement of Value Added  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

11 Summary of 5 years Financials 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

               TOTAL 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 100 

 

Table 6.5: Analysis of Financial Disclosures of Oando Plc 
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S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Statement of Directors 
Responsibilities 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

2 Report of the Independent Auditors 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Statement of Financial Position 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Statement of Comprehensive Income 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Cash Flows Statement 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

6 Consolidated Financial Statement 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

7 Notes to the Financial Statements 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Significant Accounting Policies 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Related-Party Transaction 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

10 Statement of Value Added  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

11 Summary of 5 years Financials 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

               TOTAL 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 110 

 

Table 6.5 shows the analysis of financial disclosures of Oando Plc. Oando Plc has fulfilled all 

the criteria for financial disclosures set by the codes, and it has an excellent score of 66, 44 

and 110 out of 66, 44 and 110, respectively, with these scores, the company has complied 

100% in financial disclosures. This result shows the good governance practices of Oando Plc. 

This good reporting practice in the annual reports by the company is comprehensive and 

attractive may be due to its dual listing that is they are listed on both the Nigerian Stock 

Exchange and South African Stock Exchange. 

Table 6.6 shows the analysis of financial disclosures of Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc. The Mobil Oil 

Nigeria Plc had financial disclosure score of 60, 40, and 100 out of 60, 40, and 100, 

respectively, for all the periods. The only information lacking was disclosure on the 

consolidated financial statement. The company being a subsidiary itself does not need 

subsidiary companies; therefore, the criteria for consolidated financial statements were not 

applicable, and no scores were allotted for the item. Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc had compliance of 

financial disclosures of 100% in 2004–2013, 2004–2009 and 2010–2013 periods, respectively. 

 

 

 

 

Table 6.6: Analysis of Financial Disclosures of Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 
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1 Statement of Directors 
Responsibilities 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

2 Report of the Independent 
Auditors 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Statement of Financial Position 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Cash Flows Statement  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

6 Consolidated Financial 
Statement 

 N/A 

7 Notes to the Financial 
Statements  

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Significant Accounting Policies 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Related-Party Transaction 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

10 Statement of Value Added  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

11 Summary of 5 years Financials 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

           TOTAL 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 100 

 

Table 6.7 shows the analysis of financial disclosures of Total Nigeria Plc. Total Nigeria Plc had 

a financial disclosure score of 100, 60, and 40 out of 100, 60, and 40, respectively. The only 

lacking information was the disclosure of the consolidated financial statement for all the 

years. This is due to the company being a subsidiary itself to Total S.A. France. Therefore, the 

criterion of consolidated financial statements does not apply to them. Consequently, no score 

was allotted to this item. Total Nigeria Plc had compliance of financial disclosures of 100% for 

all the periods covered by the study. 

 

Table 6.7: Analysis of Financial Disclosures of Total Nigeria Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Statement of Directors 
Responsibilities 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

2 Report of the Independent 
Auditors 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Statement of Financial Position 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Cash Flows Statement  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

6 Consolidated Financial 
Statement 

 N/A 

7 Notes to the Financial 
Statements  

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Significant Accounting Policies 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Related-Party Transaction 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

10 Statement of Value Added  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

11 Summary of 5 years Financials 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

              TOTAL 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 100 

 

Thus, after analyzing the financial disclosures of the companies, table 6.8 is a summary of the 

selected company’s compliance level for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013 for easy 

comparison with the performance of the companies when looking at the link between 
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corporate governance and corporate performance. Also, table 6.8 is the summary for the 

period 2004–2009 to establish the compliance level for the actual period when the 2003 SEC 

code was used, while the period 2004–2013 is the total degree of compliance of the 2003 and 

2011 SEC codes by the listed oil companies. 

 

Table 6.8: Summary of Financial Disclosure Score of the Companies 

S/N Company 2004-2009 
Scores  

% 
Compliance 

2010-2012 
Scores 

% 
Compliance  

2004-2012 
Scores 

% 
Compliance  

1 Conoil Plc 60 90.91 40 90.91 100 90.91 

2 Forte Oil Plc 54 81.82 40 90.91 94 84.85 

3 MRS Oil Nig. Plc 60 90.91 40 90.91 100 90.91 

4 Oando Plc 66 100 44 100 110 100 

5 Mobil Oil Nig. Plc 60 100 40 100 100 100 

6 Total Nig. Plc 60 100 40 100 100 100 

           TOTAL 360/384 93.75 244/256 95.31 604/640 94.38 

 

Table 6.8 reveals that of the six companies, only three companies, namely Oando Plc, Mobil 

Oil Nigeria Plc, and Total Nigeria Plc, have fully complied with the financial disclosures. The 

least compliant corporation is Forte Oil Plc, with an overall compliance score of 94 and 85.45 

percent for the duration 2004-2013. The organization had a score of 54 out of 66 and 40 out 

of 44 for the 2004-2009 and 2010-2013 periods, with the level of enforcement being 81.82 

percent and 90.91 percent respectively. The filing of consolidated financial statements is 

lacking from the company (Dembo,2018). The outcome also revealed that the average level 

of compliance of the selected companies was 94.38 percent for the total duration from 2004 

to 2013.  

Overall, it is worth noting that in the financial disclosures, Oando Plc, Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc, 

and Total Nigeria Plc scored 100% in the report. While the remaining three firms, Conoil Plc, 

Forte Oil Plc, and MRS Oil Nigeria Plc, each scored 90.91 percent in the 2010-2013 period in 

the financial disclosures (Dembo,2018).  The outcome indicates an improvement of 1.56 

percent in enforcement between the 2004-2009 and 2010-2013 periods.  

6.3.2 Analysis of Nonfinancial Disclosures Index of the Sample Companies 
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After analyzing the selected oil companies' financial disclosure index, the researcher went on 

to examine the selected oil companies' nonfinancial disclosure index using the items listed as 

shown in Table 3.2.  

The overall items reviewed in the CARs are 32 a year, using the same approach as in financial 

disclosure. So the maximum score a company could get for the ten years is 320 (32*10).   

Table 6.9 shows the analysis of nonfinancial disclosures of Conoil Plc. Conoil Plc has scored 

224 from the total score of 320 for the period 2004–2013. For the periods 2004–2009 and 

2010–2013, the scores are 128 and 96 out of 192 and 128, respectively. As a result, the 

compliance by the company is 70% for the overall period. While, for the periods 2004–2009 

and 2010–2013, the compliance is 66.67% and 75%, respectively. From the analysis, the 

nonfinancial disclosures where Conoil Plc wants for non-disclosure are many, which include 

the role and functions, qualification and biography of board members, procedure of 

addressing conflicts of interest, and code of ethics. Others that are not disclosed are 

professional development and training, performance and evaluation of directors, a 

whistleblowing policy, and award/recognition. From 2010, the company has made disclosures 

on risk management and governance/remuneration committees. This is due to the 

introduction of the 2011 SEC Code. The draft code was introduced to the public in 2009 for 

comments and contributions from the public. Conoil Plc had fully disclosed 21 items of the 32 

items, which is 65.63%. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 6.9: Analysis of Nonfinancial Disclosures of Conoil Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 
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1 Vision & Mission Statement 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

2 Report of Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3  Report of Directors/CEO 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Shareholding Structure 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Shareholders’ Right 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

6 Board of directors composition (executives 
and non-executives) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

7 Size of the Board (Minimum of 5, Maximum 
of 15) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Chairman & CEO Duality (Separated) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Role & Functions of the Board 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

10 Qualifications and biographical information 
on board members 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

11 Number of Board Meetings (At least once 
every quarter) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

12 Attendance of Board Meetings (2/3 of 
meetings for renewal) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

13 Determination and composition of directors' 
remuneration 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

14 Existence of procedure(s) for addressing 
conflicts of interest among board members 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

15 Audit Committee (At least 3 times in a year) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

16 Governance/Remuneration Committee 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 4 

17 Risk Management Committee 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 4 

18 Other Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

19 Function of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

20 Composition of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

21 Organisational Code of Ethics 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

22 Professional development and training 
activities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

23 Performance evaluation process 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

24 Employee Relation/ Industrial Relation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

25 Whistle Blowing Policy  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

26 Corporate Social/Environmental  
Responsibility 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

27 Internal Control System 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

28 Auditor Appointment & Rotation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

29 Notice & Agenda of the AGM 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

30 Separate CG Statement/ Section 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

31 Investors’ portal on website 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

32 Recognition/Award for CG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

                 TOTAL 21 21 21 21 22 22 24 24 24 24 224 

 

 

 

 

Table 6.10: Analysis of Nonfinancial Disclosures of Forte Oil Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 
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04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Vision & Mission Statement 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

2 Report of Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Report of Directors 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Shareholding Structure 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Shareholders’ Right 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

6 Board of directors composition 
(executives and non-executives) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

7 Size of the Board (Minimum of 5, 
Maximum of 15) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Chairman & CEO Duality (Separated) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Role & Functions of the Board 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

10 Qualifications and biographical 
information on board members 

0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 5 

11 Number of Board Meetings (At least once 
every quarter) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

12 Attendance of Board Meetings (2/3 of 
meetings for renewal) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

13 Determination and composition of 
directors' remuneration 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

14 Existence of procedure(s) for addressing 
conflicts of interest among board 
members 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

15 Audit Committee (At least 3 times in a 
year) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

16 Governance/Remuneration Committee 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 5 

17 Risk Management Committee 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 5 

18 Other Committees 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 7 

19 Function of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

20 Composition of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

21 Organisational Code of Ethics 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

22 Professional development and training 
activities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

23 Performance evaluation process 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

24 Employee Relation/ Industrial Relation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

25 Whistle Blowing Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

26 Corporate Social/Environmental  
Responsibility 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

27 Internal Control System 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

28 Auditor Appointment & Rotation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

29 Notice & Agenda of the AGM 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

30 Separate CG Statement/ Section 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

31 Investors’ portal on website 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 7 

32 Recognition/Award for CG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

                 TOTAL 18 18 18 21 21 24 24 24 24 24 216 

 

Table 6.10 is the analysis of nonfinancial disclosures of Forte Oil Plc. Forte Oil Plc has a score 

of 216 out of 320 for the period 2004–2013. The disclosure score of Forte Oil Plc was 120 and 

96 out of 192 and 128 for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013, respectively. The 

compliance level with nonfinancial disclosure is 67.5% for 2004–2013. For the periods 2004–

2009 and 2010–2013, the compliance was 62.5% and 75%, respectively. The nonfinancial 

disclosure where Forte Oil Plc is wanting includes the shareholder's rights and role and 

functions of the board. 

Furthermore, Forte Oil had not disclosed the existence of procedures for addressing conflicts 

of interest among members of the board. Also, the company failed to disclose the 

organizational code of ethics, professional development, and training together with the 
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performance evaluation process for the board members. Similarly, the company did not 

disclose information on its whistleblower protection policy. The efforts of Forte Oil Plc have 

not been recognized as it has not received any awards for corporate governance throughout 

the study. Thus out of the total of 32 criteria, the company had fully disclosed 18 items, and 

the outstanding were incomplete. 

Table 6.11 is the analysis of nonfinancial disclosures of MRS Oil Nigeria Plc; out of 320, MRS 

Oil Nigeria Plc has got a score of 216 for the period 2004–2013. MRS Oil Nigeria Plc scored 

118 and 98 out of 192 and 128 for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013, respectively. The 

level of completion of nonfinancial disclosures of MRS Oil Nigeria Plc is 67.5% for the period 

2004–2013. Similarly, for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013, the scores are 61.46% and 

76.56%, respectively. The nonfinancial disclosure where MRS Oil Nigeria Plc is lacking includes 

the shareholders' rights and the existence of procedures for addressing conflicts of interest 

among board members. 

Furthermore, MRS Oil Nigeria Plc had not disclosed the risk management committee, 

organizational code of ethics, and professional development and training. Besides, the 

company did not disclose information on its whistleblower protection policy. The efforts of 

MRS Oil Nigeria Plc have not been recognized as it has not received any awards for corporate 

governance throughout the study. Thus out of the total of 32 criteria, the company had fully 

disclosed 17 items, and the outstanding were incomplete. 

Table 6.12 presents the analysis of nonfinancial disclosures of Oando Plc.; out of 320 marks, 

Oando Plc has a score of 286 for the period 2004–2013, which translates to 89.38% 

compliance for nonfinancial disclosures. For the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013, the 

company scored 158 out of 192 and 128 out of 128, respectively. The nonfinancial disclosures 

where Oando Plc requires attention include the shareholder's right, the procedure of 

addressing conflicts, risk management committee, professional development, performance 

evaluation process, and whistleblowing. The non-disclosure of these items could be 

attributed to fewer recommendations in the 2003 SEC Code. Of the 32 items, the company 

fully disclosed 19 throughout the period under review. The remaining 13 disclosure items 

made were incomplete. Oando Plc is the only company in this study that had made some level 

of disclosures on all the items without scoring zero on any item, which attributed to its good 
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score. Overall, the compliance with nonfinancial disclosure by Oando Plc is excellent, and this 

could be due to the dual listing the company has with both NSE and JSE. 

Table 6.11: Analysis of Nonfinancial Disclosures of MRS Oil Nigeria Plc 

S/N Disclose Item 1 Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Vision & Mission Statement 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

2 Report of Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Report of Directors/CEO 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Shareholding Structure 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Shareholders’ Right 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

6 Board of directors composition (executives 
and non-executives) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

7 Size of the Board (Minimum of 5, Maximum 
of 15) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Chairman & CEO Duality (Separated) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Role & Functions of the Board 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 4 

10 Qualifications and biographical information 
on board members 

0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

11 Number of Board Meetings (At least once 
every quarter) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

12 Attendance of Board Meetings (2/3 of 
meetings for renewal) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

13 Determination and composition of directors' 
remuneration 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

14 Existence of procedure(s) for addressing 
conflicts of interest among board members 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

15 Audit Committee (At least 3 times in a year) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

16 Governance/Remuneration Committee 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

17 Risk Management Committee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

18 Other Committees 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

19 Function of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

20 Composition of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

21 Organisational Code of Ethics 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

22 Professional development and training 
activities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

23 Performance evaluation process 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 3 

24 Employee Relation/ Industrial Relation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

25 Whistle Blowing Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

26 Corporate Social/Environmental  
Responsibility 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

27 Internal Control System 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

28 Auditor Appointment & Rotation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

29 Notice & Agenda of the AGM 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

30 Separate CG Statement/ Section 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

31 Investors’ portal on website 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

32 Recognition/Award for CG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

                 TOTAL 17 19 19 19 23 24 24 25 24 25 216 

 

 

 

 

Table 6.12: Analysis of Nonfinancial Disclosures of Oando Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Vision & Mission Statement 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

2 Report of Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 
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3 Report of Directors/CEO 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Shareholding Structure 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Shareholders’ Right 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

6 Board of directors composition (executives 
and non-executives) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

7 Size of the Board (Minimum of 5, Maximum 
of 15) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Chairman & CEO Duality (Separated) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

9 Role & Functions of the Board 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

10 Qualifications and biographical information 
on board members 

0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

11 Number of Board Meetings (At least once 
every quarter) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

12 Attendance of Board Meetings (2/3 of 
meetings for renewal) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

13 Determination and composition of directors' 
remuneration 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

14 Existence of procedure(s) for addressing 
conflicts of interest among board members 

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 4 

15 Audit Committee (At least 3 times in a year) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

16 Governance/Remuneration Committee 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

17 Risk Management Committee 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 5 

18 Other Committees 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

19 Function of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

20 Composition of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

21 Organisational Code of Ethics 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

22 Professional development and training 
activities 

0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 7 

23 Performance evaluation process 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

24 Employee Relation/ Industrial Relation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

25 Whistle Blowing Policy 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

26 Corporate Social/Environmental  
Responsibility 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

27 Internal Control System 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

28 Auditor Appointment & Rotation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

29 Notice & Agenda of the AGM 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

30 Separate CG Statement/ Section 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

31 Investors’ portal on website 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

32 Recognition/Award for CG 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 8 

                 TOTAL 20 25 26 26 30 31 32 32 32 32 286 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 6.13: Analysis of Nonfinancial Disclosures of Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Vision & Mission Statement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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2 Report of Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

3 Report of Directors/CEO 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

4 Shareholding Structure 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

5 Shareholders’ Right 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

6 Board of directors composition 
(executives and non-executives) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

7 Size of the Board (Minimum of 5, 
Maximum of 15) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

8 Chairman & CEO Duality (Separated) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

9 Role & Functions of the Board 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

10 Qualifications and biographical 
information on board members 

0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 6 

11 Number of Board Meetings (At least 
once every quarter) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

12 Attendance of Board Meetings (2/3 of 
meetings for renewal) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

13 Determination and composition of 
directors' remuneration 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 4 

14 Existence of procedure(s) for 
addressing conflicts of interest among 
board members 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

15 Audit Committee (At least 3 times in a 
year) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

16 Governance/Remuneration Committee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

17 Risk Management Committee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

18 Other Committees 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

19 Function of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

20 Composition of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

21 Organisational Code of Ethics 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

22 Professional development and training 
activities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

23 Performance evaluation process 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

24 Employee Relation/ Industrial Relation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

25 Whistle Blowing Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

26 Corporate Social/Environmental  
Responsibility 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

27 Internal Control System 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

28 Auditor Appointment & Rotation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

29 Notice & Agenda of the AGM 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 

30 Separate CG Statement/ Section 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 8 

31 Investors’ portal on website 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 8 

32 Recognition/Award for CG 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

                TOTAL 16 17 20 19 20 20 20 20 20 20 192 

 

Table 6.14: Analysis of Nonfinancial Disclosures of Total Nigeria Plc 

S/N Disclosure Item Year Score 

04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

1 Vision & Mission Statement 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 
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2 Report of Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

3 Report of Directors/CEO 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

4 Shareholding Structure 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

5 Shareholders’ Right 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

6 Board of directors composition (executives 
and non-executives) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

7 Size of the Board (Minimum of 5, Maximum 
of 15) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

8 Chairman & CEO Duality (Separated) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

9 Role & Functions of the Board 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 2 

10 Qualifications and biographical information 
on board members 

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 3 

11 Number of Board Meetings (At least once 
every quarter) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

12 Attendance of Board Meetings (2/3 of 
meetings for renewal) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

13 Determination and composition of directors' 
remuneration 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

14 Existence of procedure(s) for addressing 
conflicts of interest among board members 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

15 Audit Committee (At least 3 times in a year) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

16 Governance/Remuneration Committee 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 5 

17 Risk Management Committee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

18 Other Committees 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 5 

19 Function of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

20 Composition of Committees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

21 Organisational Code of Ethics 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

22 Professional development and training 
activities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 

23 Performance evaluation process 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 

24 Employee Relation/ Industrial Relation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

25 Whistle Blowing Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 2 

26 Corporate Social/Environmental  
Responsibility 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

27 Internal Control System 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

28 Auditor Appointment & Rotation 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

29 Notice & Agenda of the AGM 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

30 Separate CG Statement/ Section 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 9 

31 Investors’ portal on website 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 5 

32 Recognition/Award for CG 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

                 TOTAL 20 20 21 20 23 23 24 26 28 28 233 

 

Table 6.13 displays the analysis of nonfinancial disclosures of Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc. Mobil Oil 

Nigeria Plc has scored 192 out of 320 for the period 2004–2013. During the periods 2004–

2009 and 2010–2013, the company scored 112 and 80 out of 192 and 128, respectively. The 

compliance level with nonfinancial disclosures of the company is 60% for 2004–2013 period. 

Similarly, the compliance level for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013 are 57.14% and 

62.5%, respectively. The nonfinancial disclosure where Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc is deficient 

includes its vision and mission statement and the shareholders’ rights. 

Furthermore, Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc is the only one among the companies under study that had 

not separated the two positions of chairman of the board and CEO; as such, the company 

scored zero for all the years under this item. The company had not disclosed information on 

the role and functions of the board, the existence of procedures for addressing conflicts of 

interest among board members. It is also the only company that does not have 
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governance/remuneration committees in the study for all the years 2004–2013. Mobil Oil 

Nigeria Plc scored zero on each of the following items: risk management committee, 

organizational code of ethics, professional development, performance evaluation process, 

and whistleblowing protection policy. The company had won awards or recognition for 

corporate governance only in 2006. Therefore, from a total of 32 criteria, Mobil Oil Nigeria 

Plc had disclosed fully 16 items, and the outstanding were incomplete. 

Table 6.14 illustrates the analysis of nonfinancial disclosures of Total Nigeria Plc. Total Nigeria 

Plc has got a score of 233 out of 320 for the period 2004–2013.  Also, the company scored 

127 and 106 out of 192 and 128 for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013, respectively. 

Hence the company is 72.81% compliant with the nonfinancial disclosures for the period 

2004–2013. Similarly, for the compliance level for the periods 2004–2009 and 2010–2013 are 

66.15% and 82.81%, respectively. The nonfinancial disclosure where Total Nigeria Plc is 

wanting includes the existence of procedures for addressing conflicts of interest among 

members of the board. Also, the company has not disclosed information on the risk 

management committee and organizational code of ethics. Total Nigeria Plc lately had tried 

to reveal some items after the introduction of the 2011 SEC Code, which has improved its 

performance on nonfinancial disclosure. Thus out of the total of 32 criteria for the 

nonfinancial disclosure, Total Nigeria Plc had fully disclosed 20 items while the remaining 12 

were incomplete. 

From the above analysis of nonfinancial disclosures for the selected oil companies, the overall 

scores of each company are clear. The average result for the study period 2004-2013 from 

table 6.15 indicates the highest enforcement level of 89.38 percent with a score of 286 out of 

320 from Oando Plc. Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc received the lowest ranking of 192 out of 320 with 

a 60 percent compliance level. Oando Plc also tops the table with a score of 158 out of 192 

and 128 out of 128 for the periods 2004-2009 and 2010-2013, with a compliance level of 82.29 

percent and 100 percent for the two periods, respectively. Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc scored 112 

out of 192, which translates to 58.33% compliance level for 2004–2009 and a score of 80 out 

of 128 that brings to a 62.50% level of compliance for 2010-2013, to be less compliant among 

the selected oil companies. 

This result shows that Oando Plc is becoming a role model for other companies to emulate 

(Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2014). The result also indicated that the compliance level increased 
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between the two periods by 20.75%, which is a significant increase; this may be due to 

increase awareness, training, and workshops organized by the regulatory authorities on the 

implementation of the revised code. 

 

Table 6.15: Summary of Nonfinancial Disclosure Score of the Companies 

S/N Company 2004-

2009 

Scores 

% 

Compliance 

2010-

2013 

Scores 

% 

Compliance 

2004-

2013 

Scores 

% 

Compliance 

1 Conoil Plc 128/192 66.67 96/128 75.00 224 70.00 

2 Forte Oil Plc 120/192 62.50 96/128 75.00 216 67.50 

3 MRS Oil Nig. 

Plc 

118/192 61.46 98/128 76.56 216 67.50 

4 Oando Plc 158/192 82.29 128/128 100.00 286 89.38 

5 Mobil Oil Nig. 

Plc 

112/192 58.33 80/128 62.50 192 60.00 

6 Total Nig. Plc 127/192 66.15 106/128 82.81 233 72.81 

              TOTAL 763/1152 66.23 604/768 78.65  1367/1920 71.20 

 

In order to get the total score for each company, the financial and non-financial disclosures 

scores are added together. In the corporate governance disclosure index, Table 6.16 indicates 

the cumulative score of the selected oil firms. The result from the table indicates that Oando 

Plc had a total score of 396 out of 430 in the overall period 2004-2013, which translates to 

92.10 percent enforcement rating, topping the list. Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc scored 292 out of 

420, which translated to an enforcement level of 69.52 percent and was the lowest of all. The 

overall average compliance level of 77% is a good result. 

 

Table 6.16: Total score for Sample Companies for Corporate Governance Disclosure Index 

2004-2013 

S/N Company Financial 

Disclosure Score  

Nonfinancial 

Disclosure Score 

Total Score Compliance (%) 
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1 Conoil Plc 100/110 224/320 324/430 75.35 

2 Forte Oil Plc 94/110 216/320 310/430 72.10 

3 MRS Oil Nigeria Plc 100/110 216/320 316/430 73.49 

4 Oando Plc 110/110 286/320 396/430 92.10 

5 Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 100/100 192/320 292/420 69.52 

6 Total Nigeria Plc 100/100 233/320 333/420 79.29 

                 TOTAL 604/640 1367/1920 1971/2560 77.00 

 

As shown in Table 6.17, the degree of enforcement of the selected oil companies during the 

2004-2009 timeframe, which is the period when the 2003 SEC Code was in effect, is shown. 

Out of 1536 points, the businesses scored a total of 1123, with a 73.11 percent enforcement 

level. With a total score of 224 out of 258 with an enforcement level of 86.82 percent, Oando 

Oil Plc continued to dominate the first place among the companies. As shown in table 6.18, 

the 2010-2013 period shows the same pattern (Dembo,2018). Over the years, however, there 

has been a remarkable change in the adoption of more governance structures by all 

businesses. Still with a score of 172 out of 172, Oando Plc leads the other firms.  This 

demonstrates 100 percent compliance with the CG disclosure (Dembo,2018). Mobil Oil 

Nigeria Plc scored 130 out of 168 and the lowest level of compliance was 71.43 percent. 

It should be noted that all businesses saw changes in their adherence between the two 

periods. This improvement can be due to businesses introducing more systems of governance 

between cycles. The position and function of the board, credentials and biographical 

information on board members, the risk management committee, the separate CG 

statement/section and the portal of investors on the website are the most noticeable areas 

(Dembo,2018).  

 

 

Table 6.17: Total score for Sample Companies for Corporate Governance Disclosure Index for 

2004-2009 

S/N Company Financial 

Disclosure Score  

Nonfinancial 

Disclosure Score 

Total Score Compliance (%) 
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1 Conoil Plc 60/66 128/192 188/258 72.87 

2 Forte Oil Plc 54/66 120/192 174/258 67.44 

3 MRS Oil Nigeria Plc 60/66 118/192 178/258 68.99 

4 Oando Plc 66/66 158/192 224/258 86.82 

5 Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 60/60 112/192 172/252 68.25 

6 Total Nigeria Plc 60/60 127/192 187/252 74.21 

                TOTAL  360/384 763/1152 1123/1536 73.11 

 

 

Table 6.18: Total score for Sample Companies for Corporate Governance Disclosure Index 

2010-2013 

S/N Company Financial 
Disclosure Score  

Nonfinancial 
Disclosure Score 

Total Score Compliance (%) 

1 Conoil Plc 40/44 96/128 136/172 79.07 

2 Forte Oil Plc 40/44 96/128 136/172 79.07 

3 MRS Oil Nigeria Plc 40/44 98/128 138/172 80.23 

4 Oando Plc 44/44 128/128 172/172 100.00 

5 Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 40/40 80/128 130/168 77.38 

6 Total Nigeria Plc 40/40 106/128 146/168 86.90 

                 TOTAL  244/256 604/768 858/1024 83.89 

 

The ranking of the selected listed oil companies is shown in Table 6.19 based on their total 

scores and level of compliance. Oando Plc led the other companies with an average 

compliance score of 396 and 92.10 percent. Due to a periodic review of the company's policies 

and procedures over the years, this accomplishment was accomplished (Dembo,2018). This 

finding shows Oando Plc in the leading position of employing best practices in Nigeria and 

could be used by other companies as a 'role model' (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2014). The 

second place went to Total Nigeria Plc with enforcement level score of 333 and 79.29 percent. 

Conoil Plc, with a score of 324 and a 75.35 percent enforcement rating, was the company that 

took third position. MRS Oil Nigeria Plc is in fourth place with an enforcement level score of 
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316 and 73.49 percent. The fifth rank goes to Forte Oil Plc with a 310 score and an 

enforcement rating of 72.10 percent. The sixth and last place went to Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 

with enforcement level score of 292 and 69.52 percent.  

Table 6.19: Ranking of Sample Companies for Corporate Governance Disclosure Index 

S/N Company Total Score CGDI (%) Ranking 

1. Oando Plc 396/430 92.10 1st 

2. Total Nigeria Plc 333/420 79.29 2nd 

3. Conoil Plc 324/430 75.35 3rd 

4. MRS Oil Nigeria Plc 316/430 73.49 4th 

5. Forte Oil Plc 310/430 72.10 5th 

6. Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc 292/420 69.52 6th 

 

6.4 Corporate Governance Disclosure Index items ranking 

Table 6.20 shows the corporate governance disclosure index items ranking. The disclosed 

items are organized in two sets. After each disclosed item is the percentage of oil companies 

found to be revealing this item as per the 2003 and 2011 SEC codes. As presented in Table 

6.20, the financial disclosure items had the highest average rate of disclosure. As per the 

result, 9 out of the 11 financial disclosure items were fully disclosed by the selected 

companies. This gives 81.8% (9/11*100) level of compliance with the financial disclosure by 

the companies chosen. The remaining two items – Statement of Directors Responsibilities and 

Consolidated Financial Statement – are not disclosed by some companies.  

The non-financial item group had the least average rate of disclosure. The analysis in Table 

6.20 also indicated that out of the 32 non-financial disclosure items, only 16 items were fully 

disclosed by the selected oil companies. The level of compliance with non-financial disclosure 

is 50% (16/32*100). The lowest disclosure area in this group happens to be the Existence of 

procedure(s) for addressing conflicts of interest among board members, professional 

development and training activities, Performance evaluation process, and Organisational 

Code of Ethics. Other items that recorded weak disclosure are Policy on whistle-blower 

protection for all employees, Chief Executive’s Report, and Recognition/Award for CG. Areas, 

where the selected companies are lacking, are Risk Management Committee, Role & 
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Functions of the Board, and Determination and composition of directors’ remuneration. Only 

one company, Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc, has continued to maintain Chairman & CEO Duality. Of 

the combined disclosure of 43 total items, full compliance was in only 25 items. Therefore the 

level of compliance with financial and non-financial disclosure by the selected oil companies 

is 58.14%. Six other items are between 76% and 83% compliance level, while the remaining 

12 items have between 6% and 46% compliance level. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 6.20: Disclosure item rankings among the selected companies 

Disclosure Item 2003 SEC 
Code 

2011 SEC 
Code 

All 
Combined 

Financial Disclosure 

Statement of Directors Responsibilities 83% 83% 83% 

Report of the Independent Auditors 100% 100% 100% 

Balance Sheet 100% 100% 100% 

Profit and Loss Account 100% 100% 100% 

Cash Flows Statements 100% 100% 100% 
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Consolidated Financial Statement 17% 33% 22% 

Notes to the Financial Statements 100% 100% 100% 

Significant Accounting Policies 100% 100% 100% 

Related-Party Transaction 100% 100% 100% 

Statement of Value Added 100% 100% 100% 

Summary of 5 years Financial 100% 100% 100% 

Nonfinancial Disclosure 

Vision & Mission Statement 78% 83% 80% 

Report of Chairman 100% 100% 100% 

Report of Directors/CEO 100% 100% 100% 

Ownership & Shareholders’ Right    

Shareholding Structure 100% 100% 100% 

Shareholders’ Right 39% 50% 43% 

Board and Management structure and process    

Board of directors composition (executives and non-executives) 100% 100% 100% 

Size of the Board (Minimum of 5, Maximum of 15) 100% 100% 100% 

Chairman & CEO Duality (Separated) 83% 83% 83% 

Role & Functions of the Board 14% 44% 24% 

Qualifications and biographical information on board members 28% 83% 46% 

Number of Board Meetings (At least once every quarter) 100% 100% 100% 

Attendance of Board Meetings (2/3 of meetings for renewal) 100% 100% 100% 

Determination and composition of directors' remuneration 100% 100% 100% 

Existence of procedure(s) for addressing conflicts of interest among board members 0% 17% 6% 

Audit Committee ( At least 3 times in a year) 100% 100% 100% 

Governance/Remuneration Committee 28% 83% 46% 

Risk Management Committee 6% 50% 20% 

Other Committees 64% 100% 76% 

Function of the Committees 100% 100% 100% 

Composition of the Committees 100% 100% 100% 

Organisational Code of Ethics 17% 17% 17% 

Professional development and training activities 8% 22% 13% 

Performance evaluation process 8% 28% 15% 

Issues on Employee Relation, Social/Environmental    

Employee Relation/ Industrial Relation 100% 100% 100% 

Whistle Blowing Policy 7% 33% 17% 

Corporate Social/Environmental  Responsibility 100% 100% 100% 

Auditing    

Internal Control System 100% 100% 100% 

Auditor Appointment & Rotation 100% 100% 100% 

Annual General Meeting    

Notice & Agenda of the AGM 100% 100% 100% 

Means of Disclosure    

Separate CG Statement/ Section 75% 100% 83% 

Investors’ portal on website 50% 100% 67% 

Compliance with CG    

Recognition/Award for CG 17% 17% 17% 

 

 

 

 

 

6.5 Chapter Summary 

The chapter started with a brief profile of the selected companies and their pattern of 

ownership. After that, data on the financial and non-financial disclosure items were collected 

from the CARs of the selected companies. The financial disclosures have 11 items, scoring 1 

for each of the nine years, which gives a total of the obtainable score of 110. The non-financial 
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disclosures have 32 items with a score of 1 for each of the nine years; this brings the total 

attainable score to 320. So, the CGDI has an overall score of 387. In this respect, the score 

obtained by a company is compared, and CGDI developed. With an average of 26 fully 

disclosed items per company, the study finds a reasonably routine disclosure rate of 

corporate governance practice by the selected businesses. Twenty-five items were fully 

revealed by the selected businesses in the benchmark. The benchmark was distinguished by 

low company disclosure rates, most noticeably for non-financial disclosure items, with at least 

five of the six companies selected not reporting an average of 4 items. Every company's fully 

disclosed items range from 26 to 30 items, with Oando Plc leading the rest with 30 items fully 

disclosed.  

The findings indicated that the financial disclosure compliance was 94.38%, and the non-

financial disclosure compliance was only 71.20%, which was considered relatively low. 

Financial disclosure items not fully disclosed by the companies are a statement of directors’ 

responsibilities with 83% disclosure rate and consolidated financial statements with a 25 % 

disclosure rate. On the non-financial items, those not fully disclosed by the companies are; 

vision and mission statement with 80% compliance, shareholders right with 43% compliance 

rate, chairman and CEO duality with 83% compliance rate, role and function of the board 24%, 

qualification and biographical information on board members 46%, existence for the 

procedure for addressing conflicts of interest among board members 6%, governance, 

remuneration committee 46%, risk management committee 20%, organizational code of 

ethics 17%, other committees 76%, professional development and training activities 11%, 

performance and evaluation process 15%. Others are whistleblowing policy 17%, separate CG 

statement/section 81%, investor’s portal 67%, and recognition/award for CG 17%. 

The effect of this outcome means that many businesses do not comply with all disclosure 

laws. Company managers have central roles to set strategic direction and handle their 

corporate affairs. Directors will have to ensure that the companies under them comply with 

the regulatory authorities' demands for disclosure in Nigeria. There is a significant need to 

raise awareness among managers in this respect of the criteria and benefits to be gained from 

disclosure of corporate governance and the need to strengthen disclosure in certain areas.  

The next chapter discusses the relationship between corporate governance mechanisms and 

corporate performance. 
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Chapter Seven: Corporate Governance Mechanisms and Corporate 

Performance Link 

 

 

 

 

 

7.1 Introduction  

7.2 Data Cleaning 

7.2.1 Outliers 

7.2.2 Normality Test 
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Figure 7.1: Chapter Seven Diagram 

7.1 Introduction 

The first data analysis is discussed in this chapter. This chapter provides a review of the 

relationship between corporate governance mechanisms and corporate performance. Before 

the investigation, the sampling method is explained, including the screening method and 

removal of outliers (section 7.2). The t-test and descriptive analysis of all the variables are 

summarised in section 7.3. The regression analysis to test the connection between 

governance and corporate performance using dynamic panel generalized method of 

7.3 Analysis of Data  

7.4 Chapter Summary 

7.3.1 T-tests 

7.3.2 Descriptive Statistics of all Variables 

7.3.3 Correlation Analysis of the Variables in the 
Sample 

7.3.4 Regression Analysis 

   7.3.4.1 Regression Analysis of CG Variables and CP 

   7.3.4.2 Regression Analysis of Governance Index 
and CP  
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moments (GMM) estimator in section 7.4. Finally, the summary of the chapter is given in 

section 7.5. 

7.2 Data Cleaning 

According to Hair et al. (2006), the first thing to do in any data analysis is to analyze the 

information to attain a better understanding of the information. Tabachnick and Fidell (2007) 

argue that data scrutiny includes dealing with missing values, detecting outliers, and testing 

the normality assumption of data. In this section of the study, the center of the discussion is 

on the procedures used to identify outliers and normality testing. 

7.2.1 Outliers 

Outliers are points that appear to be significantly different than the majority of the data points 

(Hair et al., 2006). Outliers in data can skew it from a normal distribution, and affect the 

accuracy of data analysis techniques. In this study, outliers of accounting performance 

proxies, return on equity (ROE) and return on assets (ROA), and in the control variables 

gearing were removed.  

The two techniques commonly adopted from the literature (Beiner et al., 2006; Black et al., 

2006) are: 

1.        Trimming (eliminating data points from the analysis). Usually, this is done when there 

is an entry error or measurement error. 

2.        Winsorising, which means assigning an outline the next highest or lowest value found 

in the sample that is not an outlier. Usually, this is done when small amounts of scores are 

legitimate outliers. 

In this study, the winsorizing method is used. Table 7.1 shows the summary of the minimum 

and maximum values for the variables used, excluding the corporate governance 

mechanisms. The minimum (maximum) value for ROE was -65.1% (107.06%), the value for 

ROA was -10.79% (33.11%), and the value for GEAR was 2.76% (786.55%), respectively for the 

period 2004-2009. Similarly, for the period 2010-2012, minimum (maximum) value for ROE 

was -31.54% (99.73%), the value for ROA was -43.29% (33.52%) and the value for GEAR was 
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0.17% (346.99%), respectively. Some of these figures, apart from being extreme, do not make 

any economic sense. 

Table 7.1: Summary of Minimum and Maximum Values  

Variable  2004–2009 2010–13 

Min (%)                Max (%) Min (%)                  Max (%) 

ROE -65.10 107.06 31.54 99.73 

ROA -10.79 33.11 -43.29 33.52 

GEAR 2.76 786.55 0.17 346.99 

 

Following the work of Klapper and Love (2004) and Chhaochharia and Grinstein (2009), the 

corporate performance and control variables were winsorized at 5% and 95% levels. For 

instance, for the overall period, 2004–2013, the year values of each of the financial 

performance and control variables were ranked in ascending order; the 8th value replaced 

the observations from 1–7 being the 5% level. Observations from 264 to 270, is the 95% level, 

were replaced by 263rd value. The corporate performance and control variable data for the 

period 2004–2009 was also ranked in ascending order; after that, observations 1–4 were 

replaced by the 5th value for the 5% level, while for the 95% level, observations 177–180 were 

replaced by the 176 value. And for the 2010–2013 period, after ranking the data in ascending 

order for the 5% level, the data were winsorized, replacing observations 1–2 by the 3rd value, 

and for the 95% level, observations 89–90 were replaced by the 88th value. The corporate 

governance variable was not winsorized, as was done in the work of Klapper and Love (2004) 

and Chhaochharia and Grinstein (2009). The corporate governance variable has less extreme 

values. 

The advantage of using this method includes: first, limiting the effects of outliers; this is since 

the existence of outliers may infringe the OLS assumptions. Secondly, as contained in the 

literature, it is a standard practice to winsorize outliers.  

7.2.2 Normality Test 

Sykes (1993), Osborne and Waters (2002), and Chatterjee and Hadi (2013) argue that 

normality is an essential assumption in regression analysis. Violating the usual distribution 

assumption could invalidate the results. This happens typically when the disparity from the 
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normal distribution is adequately large. Typically, for the normality test, skewness and 

kurtosis tests are used (Hair et al., 2006). 

Skewness is a measure of the symmetry of a distribution; in most cases, the comparison is 

made to a normal distribution. A positively skewed distribution has relatively few large values 

and tails off to the right, and a negatively skewed distribution has relatively few small values 

and tails off to the left (Hair et al., 2006). Similarly, Hair et al. (2006) define kurtosis as a 

measure of the peakedness or flatness of a distribution when compared with a normal 

distribution. A positive value indicates a relatively peaked distribution, and a negative value 

indicates a relatively flat distribution. The critical values of skewness and kurtosis are 

recognized from the Z distribution, based on the required significance level (Elghrabawy, 

2012). 

The critical values adopted for this study for kurtosis fall within ± 2.58 (at the 0.01 significance 

level), and standard skewness is in the range ± 1.96. The information on these statistics to the 

constructs and their measures are demonstrated in detail in the following section as a 

constituent of descriptive analysis. 

7.3 Analysis of Data 

The data analysis is split based on the two parts. The first part is the period 2004–2009, which 

represents the time when the 2003 SEC Code was in use. The data for the period 2010–2013 

was used in the second part. This is because since the Mahmoud Committee that reviewed 

the 2003 SEC Code submitted its draft to SEC.  And after SEC modifications, the revised draft 

of the Code of Corporate Governance was exposed in 2009 for commentaries by members of 

the public and stakeholders. Immediately after the draft was made public, most companies in 

2010 started implementing the 2011 SEC Code, as can be seen in their annual report and 

accounts. In this study, the observations for the regression are from different companies but 

collected at the same time from the same source. The underlying assumption is 

 i) that the population consists of members with similar characteristics that are grouped into 

oil and non-oil companies. 

 ii) involves measuring different variables in the population at two periods, unlike time series 

that looks at most time points and often one variable, 



184 
 

 and iii) the information obtained by observing the firms at a period of time. The investigation 

might have no respect for differences in time. 

GMM is another form of Instrumental variable approach (IV), which is supposed to be more 

efficient because it uses a richer set of instruments to avoid endogeneity. 

The estimators of GMM are recognized to be reliable, asymptotically normal, and efficient in 

the class of all estimators that don’t use any extra information aside from that contained in 

the moment conditions (Atewamba and Nkuiya, 2017). 

GMM is an approach that modifies for the bias that is found in estimated coefficients of 

Independent variables. OLS, for example, cannot estimate a dynamic panel model, which in 

that case, is biased (Bun & Carree, 2005). So, GMM should be employed. Further, as in most 

cases, when there is a problem with endogenous regressors, OLS cannot be used, is either 

GMM or IV is used again. 

GMM approach is flexible, efficient, and powerful than OLS If there is serial correlation error 

terms. The more robust GMM was used. The GMM “controls for the effects of unobservable 

heterogeneity, simultaneity, and dynamic endogeneity and thus presents more robust 

conclusions” (Akbar et al., 2016, p. 417). 

7.3.1 T-tests 

 Table 7.2 shows that the overall mean of ROE of the oil companies is higher when related to 

the non-oil companies for all the periods. However, the t-test does not support this 

observation. This leads to accepting that the means are equal. The results of the t-test are 

summarized in Tables 7.2-7. 
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Table 7.2: T-test on Return on Equity 

Period Industry Observations Mean t Sign Mean 

Difference 

2004–

2013 

Oil  60 22.04 .117 .906 0.25 

Non-Oil  240 21.79  

2004–

2009 

Oil  34 24.19 -.684 .495 -2.46 

Non-Oil  146 26.65  

2010–

2013 

Oil  24 19.22 -1.063 .289 4.94 

Non-Oil  96 14.28  

 

Table 7.3: T-test on Return on Assets 

Period Industry Observations Mean t Sign Mean 

Difference 

2004–

2013 

Oil  60 5.47 1.064 .288 2.91 

Non-Oil  240 8.38  

2004–

2009 

Oil  34 9.21 -.573 .567 -0.83 

Non-Oil  146 10.04  

2010–

2013 

Oil  24 6.67 -1.422 .157 -2.55 

Non-Oil  96 8.12  

 

Table 7.3 shows the result of the mean of ROA of oil companies is lower when compared to 

the non-oil companies for all the periods. However, the analysis showed no statistical 

difference between the two groups. Thus, the null hypothesis is accepted that the oil 

companies are not significantly different from the sample set. Therefore the results hold. The 

next section discusses the descriptive analysis of the variables in the study. 

7.3.2 Descriptive Analysis of all the Variables 

The overall mean of accounting-based performance measures ROE and ROA are 21.8% and 

7.8%, with a standard deviation of 15% and 5.6% respectively, as reported in Table 7.4, the 

overall value of the mean and the standard deviation suggest a significant variation for both 

ROE and ROA across the sampled companies. In comparison, the selected Nigerian companies 
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seem to perform well relative to ROE rather than ROA based on the percentage points and 

the total mean. 

The mean values of ROE and ROA, as shown in Table 7.4, are not in support of the prior study 

conducted by another Nigerian study of Kajola(2008) that found ROE to be 90%. The 

discrepancy maybe because of the sample and period. Kajola (2008) used a sample of 20 firms 

between 2000 and 2006, a period of favorable economic performance.   Similarly, Kyereboah-

Coleman and Amidu (2008), who reported mean ROE and ROA of 47.50% and 15.28%, 

respectively, in a Ghanaian sample. However, the result is in support of Owusu (2012), 

another Ghanaian finding that reported ROE and ROA to be 18.67% and 5.69%, respectively. 

Thus, the conclusions of this study are in line with what is in the literature for similar economic 

countries. 

Table 7.4: Descriptive Analysis of all the Variables 

Stats Mean SD Skewness Kurtosis Median  Sum N 

 
Dependent variables        

ROE 21.8 15.0 0.2 2.7 20.3 6552.1 300 

ROA 7.8 5.6 0.3 2.6 6.7 2350.3 300 

Explanatory variable         

CGDI 76.2 7.6 0.0 2.3 76.7 22864.4 300 

Independent variables         

AUDCOM 0.9 0.2 -3.5 13.1 1.0 280.0 300 

BSIZE 9.4 2.3 0.0 2.3 9.0 2807.0 300 

DUAL 1.0 0.2 -5.2 28.0 1.0 30.0 300 

BDIVER 0.6 0.5 -0.3 1.1 1.0 171.0 300 

NED 75.8 13.7 -0.7 2.5 80.0 22744.4 300 

Control Variables        

GEARING 37.3 27.9 0.8 2.7 26.3 11195.7 300 

SIZE 17.0 1.5 -0.2 2.0 17.2 5085.2 300 

IND 1.8 0.4 -1.5 3.3 2.0 540.0 300 

        
Note:  The all variables are return on equity (ROE), return on assets (ROA), corporate governance disclosure index (CGDI), board size (BDSIZE), 
role duality (DUAL), the proportion of non-executive directors (NED), board diversity (BDIVER), and presence of the audit committee 
(AUDCOM), leverage (GEARING), company size (SIZE) and industry type (IND). 
 
 

From Table 7.4, the compliance index CGDI has an overall mean average of 76.2% for the 

sample companies. The result is in line with the Ghanaian study of Owusu (2010) that 

reported a 69% overall mean for sample Ghanaian firms from 2000-2009 and that of Ntim 

(2009) with 68% for South African companies. This suggests that the sampled companies have 

implemented several provisions of the Nigerian codes.  



187 
 

On the independent variables, the board size has an average size of 9 for the top 30 firms in 

Nigeria. This average board size falls within the recommended board size of between 8 and 

10 by Lipton and Lorsch (1992), for increased effectiveness. Similarly, the result is consistent 

with the outcome of Owusu (2012) that reported 8.52 for Ghanaian firms. Equally, Ntim 

(2009) reported an average of 9.69 for South African firms. The Nigerian codes also 

recommended that all public companies must have at least five members on the board; 

however, the code did not specify a maximum limit. 

The mean of companies that shared the roles of chairperson and CEO from the sample for all 

ten years is 3.3%, signifying that Nigerian firms are not in the practice of role duality. The 

finding is not in support of the study by Vafeas and Theodorou (1998), who reported in a study 

conducted in 1994 that role duality in the United Kingdom averaged 66%. Still, O’Sullivan 

(2000) and Weir and Laing (2001) in a similar study reported 15% for 1995 and 17% from 1995 

to 1996, respectively.  

The mean percentage of non-executive directors (NEDs) on the boards is 76%, indicating that 

the proportions of NEDs are the majority of the sample companies’ boards. This finding lends 

support to Coles et al. (2008) study with a figure of 78%. However, Weir and Laing’s (2001) 

study in the United Kingdom found the average for the proportion of NEDs was 47%. More 

ever, section 4.3 of (SEC, 2011) recommends the bulk of the members of the board must be 

non-executive directors. 

The mean percentage of board diversity of the overall period is 60%, indicating that diversity 

is common in Nigerian firms. This result is in line with section 4.1 of (SEC, 2011) that 

recommends that the boards of public companies are to be composed in such a way as to 

ensure diversity. 

From Table 7.4, 90% of the sampled have the existence of an audit committee in place. This 

outcome indicates the majority of the companies sampled have complied with the (SEC, 2011) 

section 30.1 and CAMA section 359 (3) and (4) that recommended the setting up of an audit 

committee by every public company in Nigeria.   

From Table 7.4 also, it was found that the overall average of gearing is 37.1% and has a 

standard deviation of 27.9 for the full sample. This suggests that the selected listed firms are 

moderately geared; the results are in agreement with the reported findings of Owusu (2012) 

and that of Mangena and Chamisa (2008) that found gearing ratio to have an average of 27% 

and 47% respectively for companies sampled in Ghana and South African. Also, from Table 
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7.4, the company size as represented by the natural logarithm of a company’s total with a 

total mean of 17 and a standard deviation of 1.5. This suggests that the average firm size did 

not experience any substantial modification during the study period. The next section 

presents the outcomes of correlation analyses of the variables used in the study. 

 

7.3.3 Correlation Analysis of the Variables in the Sample 

Tables 7.5 show the correlation analyses of the variables in this part of the study to test the 

relationship between CG variables and corporate performance. 

. 

Table 7.5: Correlation matrix of corporate performance and all the continuous variables 
(2004-2013) 

 ROE ROA GEARING SIZE IND AUDCOM BSIZE DUAL BDIVER NED CGDI  

ROE 1.00            

ROA 0.59*** 1.00           

GEARING 0.13** -0.14** 1.00          

SIZE 0.12** -0.14** 0.08 1.00         

IND -0.01 0.19*** 0.05 -0.51*** 1.00        

AUDCOM -0.16** -0.01 0.04 -0.22*** 0.53*** 1.00       

BSIZE -0.04 -0.02 0.11* 0.44*** 0.08 0.17*** 1.00      

DUAL -0.26*** -0.09* -0.09* -0.12** 0.37*** 0.69*** 0.27*** 1.00     

BDIVER -0.05 -0.08 -0.08 0.12** -0.08 0.04 -0.07 0.03 1.00    

NED 0.06 0.09* 0.01 -0.10* 0.17*** 0.23*** 0.26*** 0.23*** -0.32*** 1.00   

CGDI -0.08** 0.01** 0.00 0.28*** 0.03 0.13** 0.11* 0.16*** 0.18*** -0.14** 1.00  

Note: Table denotes the correlation coefficients. The significant indicates*p≤0.05; **p≤0.01. The return on 

equity is (ROE), the return on assets is (ROA), board size is (BDSIZE), the proportion of non-executive directors 

is (NED), the role duality is (DUAL), the presence of the audit committee is (AUDCOM), the board diversity is 

(BDIVER), the leverage (GEARING), the company size (SIZE) and industry type is (IND) 

 

Table 7.5 is a correlation matrix of CP, and other variables used that covers the whole study 

period 2004–2013. Apart from the significant large correlation coefficients between the ROE 

and ROA, DUAL and AUDCOM, IND and SIZE, and AUDCOM and IND, the other significant 

relations are moderate. The coefficients of the correlation of different variables used are 

relatively low and weak, advising that there may be multicollinearity issues between the 

variables. 
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7.3.4 Regression Analysis 

In this part of the study are the regression analyses that examine the significant link between 

corporate governance and corporate performance. Specifically, sub-section 7.3.4.1 reports 

the regression results for six hypotheses. The findings are based on the accounting-based 

performance measures ROE and ROA. Six hypotheses tested as stated in Chapter 4, and are 

as follows: 

 

HO2: The relationship between board size and corporate performance is negative. 

 

HO3: The relationship between the proportion of non-executive directors and corporate 

performance is positive. 

 

HO4: The relationship between role duality and corporate performance is negative. 

 

HO5: The relationship between the presence of an audit committee and corporate 

performance is positive. 

 

HO6: Board of directors diversity does affect corporate performance.  

 

Ho7: There is a significant positive relationship between the Nigerian Corporate Governance 

Disclosure Index (CGDI) and company performance. 

To elaborate on the effect of applying incorrect econometric methods when modeling the 

relation between governance and performance, this study needs to choose a standard 

approach to compare to other methodologies. Precisely, the pooled OLS method of 

estimation was used due to its prevalent use in prior governance–performance studies as 

baseline inquiry regardless of the strict exogeneity assumptions. Then the outcomes of the 

pooled OLS estimation, which may be inappropriate, will undergo robust testing of fixed-

effects; the fixed-effects regression is conducted to accurate for the unobservable 
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heterogeneity which could be existent in the relationship between CG and performance. And 

after that, the more robust GMM was used. The GMM “controls for the effects of 

unobservable heterogeneity, simultaneity, and dynamic endogeneity and thus presents more 

robust conclusions” (Akbar et al., 2016, p. 417). 

7.3.4.1 Regression Analysis of Corporate Governance Mechanisms and Corporate 

Performance  

Table 7.6 indicates the results using model (1). Column 2 from the finding suggests that lags 

for the first, second, and fourth are statistically significant with ROE, while the first, third, and 

fourth lags, as shown in column 3 are significant with ROA. Columns 4 and 5, shows that lag 

of years 3 and 4 are significant with ROE, and significant for year four lag for ROA. The effect 

on the expected figures is lesser than in current lags; this indicates that even if older lags 

explain recent performance, that evidence is engrossed by more recent lags. 

Table7.6: Lags on Corporate Performance 

Model  

Model 1 

ROE 

Model 1 

ROA 

Model 2 

ROE 

Model 2 

ROA 

Performance (t-1) 0.43(4.66)*** 0.51(6.49)**   
Performance (t-2) 0.23(2.23)** 0.08(0.89)   
Performance (t-3) -0.02(-0.21) -0.12(-1.61)* 0.30(2.83)** 0.07(0.81) 
Performance (t-4) 0.16(1.91)* 0.18(2.17)** 0.26(2.67)** 0.17(1.86)* 

     

GEARING 0.04(1.26) -0.03(-2.21)** 0.09(2.11)** -0.03(-2.38)** 

SIZE 0.88(1.17) -0.11(-0.36) 1.61(1.90)* -0.19(-0.56) 

_cons -22.47(-1.35) 1.43(0.23) -35.24(-1.92)* 3.74(0.51) 

R2 0.4939 0.2739 0.3206 0.1644 
Note: Table above show findings OLS estimation of equation 1. t-statistics are built on robust, firm clustered 

standard errors. T-statistics are stated in parentheses, where, ***;**;* signify significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% 

level, respectively. 

 

This result is in agreement with the study carried by Akbar et al. (2016) that found lag 

performance to be significant in the first, second and fourth years when they examine the 

association between CG and firm performance in the UK, using 435 non-financial listed 

companies as sample between 1999–2009. Similarly, Wintoki et al. (2012) found that the first 

two lags are statistically significant, while older lags are insignificant. And when the recent 

lags are dropped, and only the older lags are left, the older lags are statistically significant. So, 

this shows that the older lags contain pertinent facts also included in the more current lags. 
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Table 7.7: Relationship between the Corporate Governance variables, Control Variables, and Past CP 
Panel A CGDI GEARING SIZE AUDCOM BDSIZE DUAL BDIVER NED 

ROE(t-1) -0.82(-2.44)** 0.16(1.33) 0.01(3.33)*** 0.0005(-0.96) -0.01(-1.93)** -0.0002(-3.50)*** -0.0005(-0.26) 0.11(2.06)** 

GEARING(t-1) 0.003(-0.21)  0.00(0.70) 0.0008(2.90)*** 0.01(1.86)* -0.0007(-3.07)*** -0.002(-1.86)* -0.0003(-0.01) 

SIZE(t-1) 2.18(5.82)*** 1.93(1.03)  0.01(1.48)* 1.01(11.46)*** -0.0004(-1.20) 0.07(2.46)** -1.79(-2.24)** 

AUDCOM(t-1) 2.09(1.37) 21.02(3.87)*** 0.22(1.55)*  -0.86(-2.80)** 0.45(4.21)*** 0.27(1.68)* 9.61(3.85)*** 

BDSIZE(t-1) -0.30 (-1.35) 1.04(0.98) 0.35(13.16)*** -0.01(-1.60)*  0.01(3.93)*** -0.03(-1.62)* 1.60(3.55)*** 

DUAL(t-1) 5.37(3.69)*** -34.89(-3.71)*** -0.20(-1.00) 0.78(12.06)*** 2.90(9.43)***  0.09(0.44) 7.99(2.44)** 

BDIVER(t-1) 0.98(1.02) -2.22(-0.58) 0.30(2.02)** 0.04(1.96)** -0.29(-1.26) 0.01(0.65)  -8.59(-5.57)*** 

NED(t-1) -0.08(-2.20)** -0.10(-0.75) -0.01(-2.11)** 0.002(2.62)** 0.04(4.23)*** 0.0007(1.98)** -0.01(-4.68)***  

cons 35.53(4.77)*** 4.10(0.11) 17.68(39.94)*** -0.42(-3.25)*** -15.85(-8.53)*** 0.48(4.00)*** 0.24(0.43) 81.72(5.55)*** 

R2 0.19*** 0.59*** 0.54*** 0.59*** 0.46*** 0.54*** 0.14*** 0.24*** 

Panel B         

ROA(t-1) -0.23(-2.12)** -0.39(-1.29) -0.002(-0.22) -0.0001(-0.51) 0.01(0.34) -0.003(-2.63)** -0.002(-0.48) 0.13(0.87) 

GEARING(t-1) -0.001(-0.07)  0.002(0.88) 0.001(2.71)** 0.01(1.80)* -0.001(-3.39)*** -0.002(-1.98)** 0.01(0.32) 

SIZE(t-1) 2.08(5.72)*** 2.33(1.25)  0.005(1.26) 0.99(10.90)*** -0.01(-2.33)** 0.07(2.41)** -1.50(-1.82)* 

AUDCOM(t-1) 2.31(1.47)* 19.97(3.40)*** 0.17(1.22)  -0.81(-2.60)** 0.46(4.26)*** 0.27(1.68)* 9.36(3.64)*** 

BDSIZE(t-1) -0.26(-1.15) 0.89(0.84) 0.35(13.07)*** -0.005(-1.40)  0.02(3.98)*** -0.03(-1.58)* 1.49(3.28)*** 
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DUAL(t-1) 6.82(4.86)*** -40.29(-4.25)*** -0.52(-2.65)** 0.79(12.82)*** 3.25(11.28)***  0.09(0.42) 6.58(1.96)** 

BDIVER(t-1) 1.03(1.08) -2.35(-0.62) 0.30(2.00)** 0.04(1.96)** -0.29(-1.25) 0.01()0.60  -8.68(-5.61)*** 

NED(t-1) -0.09(-2.51)** -0.07(-0.48) -0.01(-1.67)* 0.002(2.54)** 0.04(3.99)*** 0.001(1.65)* -0.01(-4.72)***  

cons 35.42(4.87)*** 3.94(0.11) 18.11(42.78)*** -0.41(-3.20)*** -15.85(-8.30)*** 0.54(4.47)*** 0.27(0.48) 79.60(5.19)*** 

R2 0.19*** 0.05*** 0.52*** 0.58*** 0.45*** 0.54*** 0.14*** 0.23*** 

Note: This table is the outcomes of (equation 2) that shows the findings of OLS regressions of present corporate governance disclosure index (CGDI), current variables and 

present control variables, on earlier performance and historic values of control variables (equation 2). Return on Equity (ROE) in Panel (A) and Return on Assets (ROA) in 

panel (B) proxy the performance measure. The control variables include gearing and size. All p-values are based on robust, firm-clustered standard errors.  P-values are 

reported in parentheses, while, ***;**;* represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively 
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Table 7.7 displays the outcomes of model 2 estimation with performance variable proxy by 

ROE and ROA in Panels (A) and (B), respectively. From Table 7.7, some of the governance 

variables are found to be significant and regulated by the previous performance measures 

proxy by ROE and ROA that raises two key concerns. Firstly, there may be a reverse causality 

where performance monitors CG and not vice versa. Secondly, the likelihood of CG and 

performance relation is determined simultaneously because of omitted variables bias. 

Gearing is not significantly related to past performance; this indicates a certain degree of 

dynamic endogeneity with performance. Also, recent values of controls considerably define 

current values, signifying that control variables also have a dynamic link with performance as 

the governance variables are endogenous with performance through a dynamic association.  

Under panel A, board size is significant and negatively connected to past performance. Also, 

recent board size has significant and positive associated with older company size, and the size 

of the company has a significant connection with past performance. The findings advocate 

that companies that did not do well previously and are bigger will need to have larger boards, 

as supported by Fama and Jensen (1983) for effective monitoring. This accepts hypothesis 

one. 

Also, from Table 7.7, the NEDs are reported to be significant and positive with past 

performance as a proxy by ROE; the proof is in line with hypothesis two that the connection 

between corporate performance and the proportion of NEDs is positive. Another keyboard 

mechanism is CEO duality that arises when one person occupies the roles of board chairman 

and chief executive officer at the same time. In this study, CEO duality is reported to have a 

significant and negative connection with past company performance as measured by 

accounting ratio ROE as shown in Table 7.7 

Cadbury’s report, as cited in Weir et al. (2002), did recognize specifically chosen board 

structures, and required all listed companies to establish internal board sub-committees. The 

report, as well as SEC (2003, 2011), argued that audit committees should be established as an 

added control measure to safeguard shareholder wealth. According to Weir et al. (2002), an 

active audit committee brings numerous benefits that include, among others, assisting the 

board in meeting its statutory and fiduciary responsibilities of improving relations between 

the board and the internal and external auditors, and improving the financial statements’ 

credibility. In line with Cadbury (1992), Nigerian codes SEC (2003) and SEC (2011) both 
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recommended that an audit committee should be made up of at least three members – all 

non-executive directors – and the majority should be independent. From Table 7.7, audit 

committee existence is reported to have insignificant and negative relation with past 

performance as a proxy by ROE. The findings suggest that hypothesis four is not supported.  

The negative, but insignificant relationships between board diversity and past ROE means that 

hypothesis five is not accepted. Concerning the link between the control variables and ROE, 

gearing is found to be insignificant and positively linked to past performance ROE. Besides, 

company size is reported to be significantly and positively connected to ROE. Also, previous 

controls are significantly related to most of the current governance variables. 

Panel B of Table 7.7 shows that only CEO duality has a significant relationship with past 

performance measure ROA that is negative; the remaining variables are not statistically 

significant with performance as measured by ROA. BDSIZE and NED have an insignificant and 

positive relationship, while AUDCOM and BDIVER have insignificant and negative 

relationships, respectively. The significantly negative correlation between DUAL and ROA 

results supports hypothesis three. Concerning the relationship with control variables, both 

company size and gearing are insignificant and negatively linked to past performance as 

measured by ROA. Since some of the older values of the control variables significantly define 

recent values, indicate that not only the governance variables are possibly endogenous with 

performance through a dynamic relationship but also most of the control variables.  

Table 7.8 presents findings from model 3. The result shows that future values of governance 

variables do not have a significant link with corporate performance. The result remains the 

same when forthcoming values of control variables are involved in the model, as shown in 

columns (3) and (5). So, forthcoming CG practices may not differ due to the reaction of earlier 

performance indicators that will allow the corporate governance variables to be measured as 

determined. As opposed to endogenous, mostly when a more vigorous method of inquiry is 

applied, that determines every feature of endogeneity like the System GMM (Kryzanowski 

and Mohebshahedin 2016) as cited in Akbar et al. (2016). 

Table 7.8:  Test of Strict Exogeneity 

Dependent 

Variable 

Model 1 
ROE 

Model 2 
ROE 

Model 1 
ROA 

Model 2 
ROA 

GEARING 0.01(0.53) 0.004(-0.18) -0.05(-3.40)*** -0.05(-3.94)*** 
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SIZE 2.52(1.26) 3.53(0.83) 1.56(2.13)** 0.22(0.11) 

BDSIZE 0.43(0.51) -0.31(-0.29) 0.003(0.01) 0.05(0.17) 

BDIVER -1.36(-0.59) -1.08(-0.29) -0.61(-0.68) 0.32(0.25) 

NED 0.32(1.68)* 0.28(1.40) 0.15(2.97)** 0.15(2.69)** 

AUDCOM -3.37(-0.87) 3.27 (1.11) -0.16(-0.06) 1.82(1.76) 

DUAL -0.13(-0.08) 0.05(1.53)* -7.14(-4.02)*** -6.72(-3.79)*** 

GEARING(t+1)  0.02(0.76)  0.01(0.41) 

SIZE(t+1)  0.44(0.11)  2.07(0.90) 

BDSIZE(t+1)  1.20(1.38)  0.01(0.03) 

BDIVER(t+1)  -0.59(-0.19)  -0.84(-0.71) 

NED(t+1)  0.10(0.68)  0.02(0.25) 

AUDCOM(t+1)  0.36(0.21)  0.03(1.19) 

DUAL(t+1)  -0.46(-0.04)  0.26(1.40) 
Note: This table presents equation 3 estimation outcomes for the fixed-effects estimation,  p-values are based 

on robust standard errors. Dependent variable: ROE in columns (2) and (3); ROA in columns (4) and (5). P-

values are reported in parentheses, whereas, ***;**;* represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, 

respectively. 
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Table 7.9: The Effect of the Governance Variables on Current ROE 

Dependent Variable (ROE) 
Static Model Dynamic Model 

OLS Fixed Effect OLS Fixed Effect GMMa GMMb 

GEARING 0.07(2.08)** 0.01(0.53) 0.05(1.56)* 0.01(0.26) 0.04(1.04) 0.04(1.11) 

SIZE 1.38(3.93)*** 2.52(1.26) 0.13(0.40) 1.16(0.41) 0.15(0.39) 0.15 (0.39) 

BDSIZE -1.01(-2.32)** 0.43(0.51) -0.05(-0.14) 2.38(2.56)** 0.17(0.36) 0.20(0.43) 

BDIVER -1.42(-0.82) -1.36(-0.59) 0.37(0.21) 0.37(0.17) 0.22(0.11) 0.17(0.08) 

AUDCOM 2.02(6.29) 2.1(6.5) -0.87(6.37) -0.20(-3.04) -0.08(-0.82) -0.09(-0.91) 

DUAL -1.30(0.39)*** -0.95(0.49)** 0.02(0.26) -0.2(0.10)* 0.2(1.9) 0.25(1.89) 

NED 0.08(1.41) 0.32(1.68)* 0.02(0.32) 0.25(1.75)* 0.02(0.28) 0.01(0.24) 

Performance (t-1)   0.48(5.45)*** 0.10(1.21) 0.48(6.02)*** 0.48(6.05)*** 

Performance (t-2)   0.24(2.47)** 0.03(0.32) 0.26(2.95)*** 0.26(3.00)*** 

R2 0.6967 0.0327 0.8230 0.1209   

N 300 300 300 300   

AR(2) test (p-value)     0.730 0.770 

Hansen test of over-identification (p-value)    0.173 0.198 

Diff-in-Hansen tests of Exogeneity (p-value)    0.142 0.365 

Note: This table denotes the outcomes of static and dynamic models with return on equity (ROE) as proxy of performance, t-statistics are centred on robust 

standard errors and are reported in parentheses, whereas, ***;**;* represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively.  
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Table 7.10: The Effect of the Governance Variables on Current ROA 

Dependent Variable (ROA) 
Static Model Dynamic Model 

OLS Fixed Effect OLS Fixed Effect GMMa GMMb 

GEARING -0.03(-2.48)** 
-0.05(-
3.40)*** -0.05(-3.71)*** -0.05(-2.35)** -0.04(-2.80)** -0.04(-2.77)** 

SIZE 0.23(1.78)* 1.56(2.13)** -0.07(-0.55) 1.19(0.98) -0.05(-0.35) -0.04(-0.32) 

BDSIZE -0.05(-0.28) 0.003(0.01) 0.09(0.49) 0.23(0.64) 0.11(0.60) 0.11(0.63) 

BDIVER -0.34(-0.50) -0.61(-0.68) -0.32(-0.41) -0.07(-0.06) 0.16(0.21) 0.06(0.08) 

AUDCOM -0.10(0.10) 0.2(1.90) 0.01(0.29) -0.05(-2.15) 0.005(0.05) -0.01(-0.07) 

DUAL -0.43(0.14)*** -0.39(0.13)*** -0.95(0.49)** -0.94(0.49)** 1.07(2.49) 1.32(2.41) 

NED 0.07(3.02)*** 0.15(2.97)*** 0.07(2.81)** 0.11(1.60)* 0.05(2.20)** 0.05(2.21)** 

Performance (t-1)   0.12(3.38)*** 0.05(1.08) 0.50(6.83)*** 0.50(6.91)*** 

Performance (t-2)   0.07(1.72)* 0.01(0.24) 0.11(1.32) 0.11(1.39) 

R2 0.6673 0.1058 0.7386 0.1242   

N 300 300 300 300   

AR(2) test (p-value)     0.515 0.244 

Hansen test of over-identification (p-value)    0.184 0.233 

Diff-in-Hansen tests of Exogeneity (p-value)    0.694 0.473 

Note: This table denotes the outcomes of static and dynamic models with return on assets (ROA) as proxy of performance, t-statistics are centred on robust 

standard errors and are reported in parentheses, whereas, ***;**;* represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively.  
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Table 7.9 shows the outcomes of static and dynamic models using accounting measure ROE 

as a proxy for performance. The second column of Tables 7.9 shows that the internal 

governance variables estimate from a static condition of the model.  

Of the five variables, only BSIZE and DUAL have a significant negative association between 

them and corporate performance. The negative and significant connection between BSIZE 

and ROE lends credence to the findings of Eisenberg et al. (1998), Loderer and Peyer (2002), 

and Mashayekhi and Bazaz (2008), among others, who have reported the link between board 

size and corporate performance is statistically negative. However, this outcome is in contrast 

to the studies of Dalton et al. (1998), Ntim (2009) and Owusu (2012) at international level and 

also the Nigerian studies of Kajola (2008) and Sanda et al. (2005) as they found a positive and 

significant connection between board size and accounting returns. The reason for the 

contrast results may be due to the size, industry, and period of the study. The differences in 

findings between this study and Kajola (2008) can be identified from the distinction of the 

sample and the time frame. While this study used the top 30 companies non-financial firms 

on the NSE from 2004–2013, Kajola (2008) used a total of 20 non-financial companies selected 

based on a stratified random technique from NSE from 2000–2006. This result indicates that 

boards of smaller size are more effective than boards with large size in the context of Nigeria. 

As such, the optimal size recommended for the efficient and effective performance of a firm, 

as provided by the Nigerian code. And finally, these findings appear to agree that board size 

should be between 8 and 9, as suggested by (Jensen, 1993). This result accepts hypothesis 

one. 

The role duality is reported to have a significant and negative connection with company 

performance as measured by accounting ratio ROE as shown in Table 7.9. This finding is in 

support of the conclusions of prior studies of Ho and Williams (2003) and Haniffa and Hudaib 

(2006) that conveyed a significant negative association between CEO duality and company 

performance. This result accepts hypothesis three that the connection between role duality 

and the performance of a company is statistically significant and negative. Cadbury (1992) 

recommended the separation of the two positions because combining the two jobs may 

concentrate power in the hands of a single individual, which may affect decision-making. 

Similarly, both SEC (2003) and SEC (2011) recommend the separation of the two positions, 

and if it does happen, then a strong vice-chairman should be on the board to balance the 
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situation. This study is consistent with prior international studies of Rechner and Dalton 

(1991), Mashayekhi and Bazaz (2008) and Owusu (2012) and the Nigerian study of Kajola 

(2008) who found the CEO duality to be positively impacted by ROE.  

The effect and significance of these two variables do not stand either in the dynamic OLS in 

column (4) or when System GMM is used in columns (6) and (7). However, the fixed effects 

estimation in column (5) shows significance for BSIZE, DUAL, and NED.  This finding indicates 

that future governance practices are being captured by lagged performance. The result 

pinpoints the significance of specifying a dynamic model in the governance-performance link. 

Table 7.9 shows that the internal governance mechanisms are not a significant determining 

factor of corporate performance. This result reveals a potential bias that may possibly come 

up when endogeneity is not controlled, such as the dynamic nature of the performance 

model, simultaneity, and omitted variable bias. The result from Table 7.7 combine with this 

finding highlights possible reverse causality where any change in performance will have a 

fundamental influence on the practice of corporate governance. This result submits that 

corporate organizations generally choose their governance practices based on their 

characteristics, such as performance (Chidambaran et al., 2008), as cited in Akbar et al. (2016). 

The result from Table 7.9 shows a significant and positive effect of gearing and company size 

on performance. The positive coefficient does not support the findings of earlier studies of 

Sami et al. (2011) that found firm leverage to have negative associations with ROE for Chinese 

listed firms. The positive connection between company size and ROE is consistent with the 

Mashayekhi and Bazaz (2008) findings. 

From Table 7.10, outcomes of static and dynamic models using accounting measure ROA as a 

proxy for performance are shown. The second column of Tables 7.10 shows that the internal 

governance variables estimate from a static condition of the model.  Similar to ROE, only two 

variables have a significant relationship between them and ROA as a proxy of corporate 

performance. The two variables are NED and DUAL.  

The proportion of NEDs has a positive and significant relation with accounting returns ROA. 

The statistically significant and positive association between the proportion of NEDs and ROA 

means that hypothesis two is accepted. This finding empirically supports the results of the 

prior work of Ho and Williams (2003) and Mangena and Chamisa (2008), which suggest 

additional NEDs influence company performance. All the same, it is contrary to the prior 
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evidence of Weir and Laing (2000), Fich and Shivdasani (2006), and Haniffa and Hudaib (2006), 

that report the relationship between the proportion of NEDs and ROA is negative. This may 

be because of the sample size, the period of study, and firm size. 

The negative and significant relationship between DUAL and ROA lends support to earlier 

studies of Mashayekhi and Bazaz (2008), Rechner and Dalton (1991), and Haniffa and Hudaib 

(2006) who reported that role separation had a negative impact on ROA. However, the result 

is disagreeing with the studies of Ntim (2009) and Owusu (2012) that found a positive 

relationship with ROA. The result also lends credence to the recommendations of Nigerian 

governance codes issued by the SEC and international best practices that the positions of 

chairman of the board and CEO should be separate. The separation would lead to a more 

independent board (Heracleous, 2001). The significant negative coefficient is in support of 

hypothesis three that firms should separate the offices of the chairman of the board and CEO. 

The effect and significance of only NED stand when System GMM is used in columns (6) and 

(7). However, the dynamic OLS and fixed effects estimation in columns (4) and (5) show 

significance for DUAL and NED.  

This finding still indicates that future governance practices are being captured by lagged 

performance. This result pinpoints the significance of specifying a dynamic model in the 

governance-performance link. It also shows that internal governance mechanisms are not a 

significant determining factor of corporate performance. This result also reveals there may 

be a potential bias that comes up when endogeneity is not controlled, such as the dynamic 

nature of the performance model, simultaneity, and omitted variable bias. 

On control variables, the result from Table 7.10 shows a significantly negative effect between 

gearing and performance. This means that a lower level of gearing decreases the profitability 

of the selected firms in Nigeria. The negative coefficients lend support to the prior study of 

Akbar et al. (2016) and Owusu (2012) on the UK and Ghanaian firms, respectively. 

Furthermore, Bevan and Danbolt (2002; 2004) and Ho and Williams (2003) reported a 

negative but significant link between gearing and performance. 

From Tables 7.9 and 7.10, the coefficient estimates of the dynamic system GMM estimates 

continue to be similar to their dynamic difference GMM corresponding item, with all 

variables insignificant in swaying corporate performance. This submits that the causal 
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associations discovered by the pooled OLS and the fixed-effects panels models on some 

variables are as a result of bias in the parameter estimates produced by dynamic endogeneity, 

unobservable heterogeneity, and/or simultaneity (Schultz, 2010). Also, in Tables 7.9 and 

7.10, is the results of the specification tests—the AR (2) second-order serial correlation tests 

and the Hansen J test of over-identifying restrictions. The results indicate that there is no 

second-order serial correlation and instruments are valid. 

Table7.11: The Impact of Lagged Governance Variables on Current Performance 

 

Performance (ROE) Performance (ROA) 

Pooled 

OLS 
System GMM 

Pooled 

OLS 
System GMM 

GEARING(t-1) 0.05(1.68)* 0.04(1.20) 0.01(0.69) 0.02(1.41) 

SIZE(t-1) 0.46(1.52)* 0.84(1.70)* 0.10(0.83) 0.06(0.33) 

AUDCOM(t-1) 1.65(0.47) 7.85(0.68) 0.13(0.11) -2.00(-0.44) 

BDSIZE(t-1) -0.03(-0.07) -0.08(-0.16) 0.03(0.21) 0.01(0.05) 

DUAL(t-1) -10.72(-2.53)** -22.98(-1.55)* -2.51(-1.43) 1.27(0.23) 

BDIVER(t-1) -0.38(-0.24) -1.12(-0.56) -1.24(-1.90)* -1.60(-1.99)** 

NED(t-1) 0.01(0.09) 0.03(0.38) -0.01(-0.23) -0.02(-0.77) 

PERF(t-1) 0.47(5.16)*** 0.45(5.67)*** 0.49(6.24)*** 0.52(5.96)*** 

PERF(t-2) 0.23(2.29)** 0.24(2.74)** 0.09(1.01) 0.12(1.21) 
R2 0.8268  0.7853  

N 300  300  

AR(2) test (p-value)  0.735  0.792 

Hansen test of over-identification (p-value) 0.117  0.377 

Diff-in-Hansen tests of Exogeneity (p-value) 0.600  0.530 
Note: t-statistics are centred on robust standard errors and are reported in parentheses, whereas, ***;**;* 

represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively. 

 

Table 7.11 displays the outcomes for both ROE and ROA estimates using pooled OLS and 

System GMM. Findings show lagged governance variables, and the concurrent performance 

has no link. This result opposes the findings of Vander Bauwhede (2009) as cited in Akbar et 

al. (2016), who expresses that greater lagged corporate governance practices determine ROA 

positively. In this study, it's found that CG variables do not decide present or upcoming 

company performance. The outcome is robust to possible endogeneity problems, which may 

make the outcomes bias. The result, too, highlighted the likelihood of reverse causality 

between corporate governance variables and performance, which suggests organizations 

should select their best CG practice level in reaction to the company's internal features like 

performance Akbar et al. (2016). 
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This study found that CG variables didn't define the present or upcoming performance of 

corporate organizations. 

 

7.3.4.2 Regression Analysis of Corporate Governance Index and Corporate Performance  

From Table 7.7, the estimate of equation 2 using ROE in Panel (A) and ROA IN Panel (B). The 

result shows a significant relationship between the CGDI and previous measures of 

performance that raises two vital concerns. According to Akbar et al. (2016), it could be a 

reverse causality occurs when performance would define CG and not vice versa. And, due to 

omitted variables, bias CG and performance might be determined simultaneously. 

Table 7.12: Test of Strict Exogeneity 

 

Model 1 
ROE 

Model 2 
ROE 

Model 1 
ROA 

Model 2 
ROA 

CGDI -0.47(-1.92)* -0.47(-1.94)* -0.18(-1.54)* -0.17(-1.56)* 

GEARING 0.01(0.21) 0.002(-0.10) -0.05(-3.96)*** -0.05(-4.21)*** 

SIZE 6.43(2.22)** 4.72(1.07) 2.30(2.13) 0.27(0.14) 

CGDI(t+1) -0.02(-0.74) -0.02(-0.85) 0.001(0.13) 0.001(-0.07) 

GEARING(t+1)  0.02(0.71)  0.0001(0.27) 

SIZE(t+1)  2.12(0.63)  2.51(1.35) 
Note: Above table shows findings from equation 3 for the fixed-effects estimation, p-values are centered on 

robust standard errors. Dependent variable: ROE in columns (2) and (3); ROA in columns (4) and (5). P-values 

are reported in parentheses, while, ***;**;* represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively. 

 

Table 7.12 displays findings from the estimate of equation 3. The result indicates future values 

of CGDI do not influence corporate performance. The situation remains the same when 

upcoming values of control variables are introduced into the model, as shown in columns (3) 

and (5). So, Akbar et al. (2016) argue that CG compliance in the future may not differ as a 

reaction to previous performance indicators, which allows the CGDI to be measured as 

determined, as opposed to endogenous while relating a better robust method of inquiry that 

regulates for all facets of endogeneity such as System GMM.
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Table 7.13: The Effect of the Governance Index on Current ROE 

Dependent Variable (ROE) 
Static model Dynamic Model 

OLS Fixed Effect OLS Fixed effect GMMa GMMb 

CGDI -0.17(-1.68)* -0.51(-2.18)** -0.11(-1.15) -0.05(-1.38) -0.10(-0.72) -0.17(-1.41) 

GEARING 0.06(2.04)** 0.01(0.33) 0.05(1.62)* 0.02(0.88) 0.02(0.52) 0.02(0.65) 

SIZE 1.90(4.10)*** 5.75(2.00)* 0.70(1.47)* 3.44(1.02) 0.62(0.97) 0.97(1.65)* 

Performance(t-1)   0.48(5.49)*** 0.10(1.17) 0.53(5.70)*** 0.52(5.79)*** 

Performance(t-2)   0.24(2.53)** 0.03(0.32) 0.30(2.73)** 0.30(2.92)*** 

R2 0.6923 0.0447 0.8241 0.0945   

N 300 300 300 300   

AR(2) test (p-value)     0.701 0.764 

Hansen test of over-identification (p-value)    0.239 0.120 

Diff-in-Hansen tests of Exogeneity (p-value)    0.316 0.315 
Note: The table above denotes the outcomes of static and dynamic models with accounting measure return on equity (ROE) proxy for performance. T-statistic values are 

stated in parentheses, while, ***;**;* represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively. Confidence intervals at the 95% are presented in brackets. 
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Table 7.14: The Effect of the Governance Index on Current ROA 

Dependent Variable (ROA) 
Static model Dynamic Model 

OLS Fixed Effect OLS Fixed effect GMMa GMMb 

CGDI 0.12(3.46)*** -0.15(-1.68)* 0.06(1.63)* -0.06(-0.65) 0.03(0.39) 0.02(0.37) 

GEARING -0.02(-2.27)*** -0.05(-3.67)*** -0.02(-1.98)** -0.04(-2.81)** -0.03(-2.68)** -0.03(-2.58)** 

SIZE -0.02(-0.15) 2.23(2.10)** -0.05(-0.30) 1.55(1.02) -0.29(-1.26) -0.25(-1.21) 

Performance(t-1)   0.51(6.68)*** 0.20(2.98)** 0.52(7.09)*** 0.51(7.10)*** 

Performance(t-2)   0.11(1.23) -0.07(-1.01) 0.11(1.27) 0.11(1.32) 

R2 0.6641 0.0897 0.7759 0.2279   

N 300 300 300 300   

AR(2) test (p-value)     0.543 0.516 

Hansen test of over-identification (p-value)    0.210 0.197 

Diff-in-Hansen tests of Exogeneity (p-value)    0.857 0.926 
Note: The table above denotes the outcomes of static and dynamic models with accounting measure return on assets (ROA) proxy for performance. T-statistic values are 

stated in parentheses, while, ***;**;* represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively. Confidence intervals at the 95% are presented in brackets. 

 

 

 

 

 



205 
 

Tables 7.13 and 7.14 illustrate the outcomes for ROE and ROA as a proxy of performance, 

respectively. From Table 7.13, the second column shows that the estimation for the CGDI has 

a significant negative association with performance. The discovery is contrary to earlier 

studies of Gompers et al., 2003; Padgett and Shabbir, 2005; Akbar et al. (2016) that reported 

a significant positive association. Column (3) in Table 7.13 is the estimation with fixed effects; 

here also, the CGDI relationship with ROE is negative. Columns (4) to (7) demonstrate the 

outcomes of the dynamic specification. The effect and impact of CGDI is not there when 

System GMM is used in columns (6) and (7), and also is not significant in columns (4) and (5) 

for the dynamic OLS regression and the fixed effects estimation. This advocates that lagged 

performance capture future data of compliance with corporate governance (Akbar et al., 

2016). This result shows the significance of identifying a dynamic model in the compliance 

and governance link. This result indicates that CGDI is an insignificant determining factor of 

company performance. The outcome submits that a probable bias might come up when the 

features of endogeneity are not regulated, such as the dynamic nature of the performance 

model, simultaneity, and omitted variable bias (Akbar et al., 2016). This result, combined with 

the outcomes stated in Table 7.7, points to the likelihood of reverse causality because of 

fluctuations in performance levels that may obligate a causal effect on CG compliance. This 

result indicates that companies choose their best CG level in reaction to their performance. 

This discovery is consistent with the studies of Shabbir (2008) and Akbar et al., (2016)  that 

indicates UK companies comply more when lagged earnings decline and comply less when 

lagged there is increase revenues. Both gearing and size have a significant positive 

relationship with ROE. The significant and positive estimate with gearing disagrees with the 

results of Akbar et al. (2016) that reported compliance index and performance to have a 

significant negative association. Also, the significant and positive link with size is not 

consistent with the outcome from Akbar et al. (2016) study. 

From Table 7.14, the second column shows that the estimation for the CGDI has a positive 

and significant link with corporate performance. This discovery agrees with work earlier 

conducted by Gompers et al., 2003; Padgett and Shabbir, 2005; Akbar et al. (2016) that 

reported a significant positive connection. Column (3) in Table 7.14 is the estimation with 

fixed effects; here also, the CGDI relationship with ROE is negative. Columns (4) to (7) 

demonstrate the outcomes of the dynamic specification. The effect and significance of the 
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CGDI is not there when System GMM is applied in columns (6) and (7), and also is not 

significant in column (5) for the fixed effects estimation, but significant in column (4). This 

result shows that CGDI is an insignificant determining factor of corporate performance. The 

outcome reveals that a possible bias might arise when every characteristic of endogeneity is 

not regulated, like the dynamic nature of the performance model, simultaneity, and omitted 

variable bias (Akbar et al., 2016). 

The significant and negative estimate with gearing agrees with the results of Akbar et al. 

(2016) that found a significant negative association between the CGDI and performance. This 

suggests that more considerable debt may have a negative impact on performance. Size has 

an insignificant and negative link with performance, and the results lend support to Akbar et 

al. (2016) study. 

Table 7.15: The Impact of Lagged Governance Index on Current Performance 

 
Performance (ROE) Performance (ROA) 

Pooled 
OLS 

System GMM 
Pooled 
OLS 

System GMM 

CGDI(t-1) -0.21(-1.48)* -0.10(-0.86) -0.34(-2.38)** 0.01(0.21) 

GEARING(t-1) 0.05(1.92)* 0.05(1.68)* 0.13(4.04)*** 0.02(1.45) 

SIZE(t-1) 0.46(0.87) 0.89(1.56)* 1.92(3.18)*** -0.10(-0.45) 

PERF(t-1) 0.48(5.66)*** 0.48(6.22)*** 0.97(5.37)*** 0.53(6.70)*** 

PERF(t-2) 0.23(2.43)** 0.25(2.87)** 0.48(1.89)* 1.24(2.35)** 

R2 0.8244  0.7857  

N 300  300  

AR(2) test (p-value)  0.701  0.809 

Hansen test of over-identification (p-value) 0.299  0.398 

Diff-in-Hansen tests of Exogeneity (p-value) 0.469  0.256 
Note: All t-statistics are based on robust, firm-clustered standard errors. 

. ***;**;* represent significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively. 

 

Table 7.15 shows the outcomes for ROE and ROA as a proxy for corporate performance 

measures calculated using pooled OLS and System GMM. The result shows the lagged CGDI 

and concurrent performance measures have no relationship between them. This discovery 

agrees with the findings of Akbar et al., (2016) that reported no association between lagged 

governance index and performance. However, it is contrary to the conclusions from Vander 

Bauwhede (2009), as cited in Akbar et al. (2016), who expresses that greater lagged corporate 

governance compliance is significantly positive in determining ROA. Similarly, earlier leverage 
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and preceding companies’ size are vital in determining the current ROE. The result of this 

study indicates that complying with the provisions of governance code does not define the 

present or upcoming performance of companies. The lack of a link between corporate 

governance and companies’ performance would undoubtedly bring up a lot of questions. In 

theory, compliance with the provisions of corporate governance code will likely assist in 

reducing the agency costs and accordingly have a positive influence on the present and 

upcoming performance of businesses. On the other hand, this study does not show this 

relationship empirically. This study may conclude that changes in performance levels may 

influence changes in compliance with corporate governance. 

 

7.4 Chapter Summary 

This chapter was dedicated to reporting the empirical findings about the relationship between 

internal corporate governance practices, governance index, and corporate performance.  

This chapter was specifically intended to achieve two core objectives. First, it examines 

whether better-governed companies are associated with higher corporate performance (as 

measured by ROE return on equity) and return on assets (ROA). The results indicated a mixed 

association between the five corporate governance mechanisms and corporate performance 

examined, consistent with the earlier evidence. The effect of corporate governance on 

corporate performance has also been reviewed from the collected works by making use of 

performance as a function of the governance index. However, various studies such as (Kajola, 

2008; Sanda et al., 2005; Wintoki et al., 2012) do not pay attention to the dynamic nature of 

the dynamic nature of the corporate governance and performance relationship. This study 

examines the connection between corporate governance and corporate performance using a 

robust GMM specification that explains possible problems with endogeneity that may have 

an impact on the results of current studies. The findings in this study show that after adjusting 

for all causes of possible endogeneity, there is no significant relation between certain 

governance variables, governance index, and performance assessment proxies by ROE and 

ROA. Whereas when the relationship was investigated using OLS and fixed-effects models, it 

was found that some corporate governance variables and CGDI have an important 

relationship with the ROE and ROA accounting steps. This shows that findings from prior 
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studies may be biased because they do not consider the dynamic nature of companies’ 

performance. This study maintained that examining the association between corporate 

governance and performance, it has to consider the likelihood of endogeneity coming up from 

three sources: unobservable heterogeneity, simultaneity, and dynamic corporate 

performance. In theory, it is not expected to report an insignificant connection between the 

governance index and corporate performance, as conforming to governance best practices 

ought to be taken into consideration as a good signal for potential financiers. The outcome of 

these findings indicates that the negligible correlation between the governance index and 

corporate performance may be that companies that comply with the corporate governance 

provision definitely do not have more profitability than those that do not comply with it. The 

possibility of reverse causality in which firms, depending on their internal characteristics such 

as performance, choose their optimal level of compliance may be the explanation for the 

negligible relation between the governance index and performance. 

The next chapter reports the impact of sustainability practices on corporate performance. 
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Figure 8.1: Chapter Eight Diagram 

8.1 Introduction 

The aim of this chapter is to find evidence in the context of Nigerian oil companies about the 

relationship between company performance and sustainability practices. The relation 

between corporate performance (CP) and performance of sustainability (SP) can be seen as a 

virtuous loop in which a change in the former has a positive effect on the latter and vice versa. 

8.1 Introduction 

8.2 Data Analysis 

8.3 Implications of the 
Results 

8.4 Chapter Summary 

8.2.1 T-test 

8.2.2 Descriptive Analysis 

8.2.3 Correlation Analysis 

8.2.4 Regression Analysis 
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As shown in Chapter 4, which covers the literature review, there is considerable, significant 

evidence that shows social performance can lead to corporate performance in developed 

economies. The aim of this chapter also can be to look for evidence that a similar SP-CP 

association exists in developing economies like Nigeria. Also, the chapter investigates 

whether CG positively moderates the SP-CP link. The following sections discuss the analysis 

and findings from the investigation.  

 

8.2 Data Analysis 

In this section, the t-test, descriptive statistics of all the variables, correlation matrix, and 

regression analysis are presented to assist in finding the association between the 

sustainability variable and corporate performance measures. This is further analyzed in the 

following sub-sections.  

8.2.1 T-tests 

The results of the previous chapter on t-test, as summarised in Tables 7.1-7.2, had shown that 

the oil companies had performed better than the non-oil companies when ROE is considered. 

The opposite is the case when ROA is considered. However, the analysis did show no statistical 

difference between the two groups. Thus, the null hypothesis is accepted. 

8.2.2 Descriptive Analysis 

The listing of sectors, the dummy codes, and the average SP ratings is provided in Table 8.1. 

The descriptive statistics of all of the variables used in this analysis are in Table 8.2. Regression 

analysis was used to evaluate the hypotheses based on the work of Waddock and Graves 

(1997), McWilliams and Siegel (2000), Trebucq and D'Arcimoles (2002), Fauzi et al. (2007) and 

Yang et al (2010).  

On the eighth hypothesis, SP is used as the dependent variable, while controlling for size, debt 

level, and industry, with corporate performance measures as an independent variable. The 

dependent variable is corporate performance on the ninth hypothesis, and SP was used as an 

independent variable while the same variables were controlled (see Waddock and Graves, 

1997; McWilliams and Siegel, 2000; Trebucq and D'Arcimoles, 2002; Fauzi et al. 2007; Yang et 

al. 2010). 
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          Table 8.1: Industries in the sample 

  2004–2013 

Industry Code No. SP Min. Max. 

Oil  1 60 1.57 1 2 

Non-oil  2 240 1.42 1 2 

Note: SP denotes the sustainability practices. 

Source: Corporate Annual Reports 

 

The sustainability practice variable (SP) in Table 8.1 was calculated on an industry-wide basis 

that is the score of each company in that industry for each year divided by the number of 

observations (years) as descriptive statistics to show the average scores industry-wise. The 

yearly scores were used in subsequent analysis. The data in Table 8.1 were extracted from 

the CARs. As shown in Table 8.1, there are differences in the ratings among the industries. 

The overall period shows that the oil industry is rated higher by 1.57, while the non-oil sector 

is rated lower by 1.42.  

Table 8.2 presents the descriptive statistics of the SP index, corporate performance (CP) 

measures, and control variables. The overall mean of the SP index is 1.45, and the standard 

deviation (SD) is 0.498 for the 30 sampled companies. The overall mean of accounting-based 

performance measures ROE and ROA are 21.8% and 7.8%, respectively, as can be seen from 

Table 8.2. The results are not in support of the prior study of Waddock and Graves (1997) that 

gave an SP index of US companies to be -.034 with SD of .0356, ROE to be 14%, and ROA 6%. 

Lee et al. (2011) found ROE and ROA to be 32% and 13%, respectively, in their study. However, 

the total mean and the standard deviation indicate a significant variation in ROE and ROA 

through the sampled companies. In comparison, the Nigerian selected companies seem to 

perform well in with the accounting variable ROE than ROA as per the period-by-period 

percentage points and the overall mean. 

From the analysis in Table 8.2, the overall average of gearing is 37.3% and a standard deviation 

of 27.9 for all the companies selected. This indicates that the companies chosen are 
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moderately geared; the finding is contrary to the reported results of Waddock and Graves 

(1997) and Bhagat and Bolton (2009) that found an average gearing ratio of 20% and 30%, 

respectively. Also, from Table 8.2, the organizational size as a proxy by the natural logarithm 

of the company’s total assets is 17.0, with a standard deviation of 1.5. The industries are 

represented by dummy variable 0 assigned to oil companies while dummy variable 1 assigned 

for non-oil companies, respectively. 

The next section presents the results of the correlation analyses of all variables in this section 

of the study. 

Table 8.2: Descriptive Analysis of all variables 

Stats Mean SD Skewness Kurtosis Median  Sum N 

 
Dependent variable         

ROE 21.8 15.0 0.2 2.7 20.3 6552.1 300 

ROA 7.8 5.6 0.3 2.6 6.7 2350.3 300 

Control variables         

GEARING 37.3 27.9 0.8 2.7 26.3 11195.7 300 

SIZE 17.0 1.5 -0.2 2.0 17.2 5085.2 300 

IND 1.8 0.4 -1.5 3.3 2.0 540.0 300 

Explanatory variables         

SP 1.5 0.5 0.2 1.0 1.0 438.0 300 

        
Note: All the variables used are return on equity (ROE), return on assets (ROA), board size (BDSIZE), role duality 
(DUALITY), the proportion of non-executive directors (NED), board diversity (BDIVER), the presence of the audit 
committee (AUDCOM), leverage (GEARING), company size (SIZE) and industry type (IND). 

8.2.3 Correlation Analysis of all Variables  

Table 8.3 expresses the correlation matrices for all the variables used in the sample. Table 8.3 

(a) is the correlation matrix between lag SP and CP. These data were used when SP is treated 

as the dependent variable. Tables 8.3 (b) show the correlation between 1-year lag CP and SP. 

The data were used when CP is applied as the dependent variable. 

From the correlation analysis of the overall period, as shown in Table 8.3 (a), it can be 

reported that there is a positive and significant correlation, which is very low, between 

corporate performance measure ROA and SP. This Signifies that being socially responsive 

might not lead to better performance for the companies in the sample. Besides, all the control 

variables display negative correlations with SP, except for SIZE that is significant and positively 

correlated with SP. Furthermore, it can be understood from Tables 8.3 (a) that the corporate 
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performance variables are highly correlated with each other. This association is explained 

further in the regression analysis. 

Table 8.3 (a): Correlation Matrices: Correlations with lagged financial data and SP (2004-13) 

 SP ROE ROA GEARING SIZE IND 

SP 1 .     

ROE .08 1     

ROA 0.13** 0.60***   1    

GEARING -0.08 0.11* -0.14** 1   

SIZE 0.19*** 0.11* -0.13** 0.07 1  

IND -0.12** -0.01 0.18*** 0.03 0.52*** 1 

Note: Table denotes the correlation coefficients. The significant indicates*p≤0.05; **p≤0.01. The return on 
equity is (ROE), the return on assets is (ROA), the leverage (GEARING), the company size (SIZE) industry type is 
(IND) and lagged sustainability practices (SP). 

Table 8.3 (b): Correlation Matrices: Correlations with financial data and with lagged SP 
(2004-13) 

 
SP ROE ROA GEARING SIZE IND 

SP 1 
     

ROE 0.10* 1 
    

ROA 0.12* 0.59*** 1 
   

GEARING -0.10* 0.17** -0.17** 1 
  

SIZE 0.18*** 0.16** -0.17** 0.09 1 
 

IND -0.11* -0.01 0.22*** 0.05 -0.51*** 1 

Note: Table denotes the correlation coefficients. The significant indicates*p≤0.05; **p≤0.01. The return on 
equity is (ROE), the return on assets is (ROA), the leverage (GEARING), the company size (SIZE) industry type is 
(IND) and lagged sustainability practices (SP). 

 

Table 8.3 (b) show the correlation matrix between the corporate performance, sustainability 

practices index, and the control variables of the sampled firms. There is a high correlation 

between ROE and ROA, which is significant and positive. Both ROE and ROA are significantly 

and positively correlated with SP, respectively. Similarly, all the control variables are 

significantly related to SP. SIZE is positively related to SP, while GEARING and IND are 

negatively associated with SP.  
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8.2.4 Regression Analysis 

The hypothesis stated earlier to test the relationship between the SP and CP was tested using 

regression analysis. Tables 8.5 and 8.6 show the findings of regression analyses conducted. 

Two equations were tested to ascertain their impact over the periods. In the first equation, 

sustainability performance measures have been used as the dependent variable and 1-year 

lag CP (n-1) as the principal independent variable. In the second model, the dependent 

variable is a 1-year lag CP (n+1), and the independent variable is SP. In the two equations, the 

control variables used were company size, debt ratio, and industry.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 8.4:  Regression Analysis using SP as the Dependent Variable and Financial Data as 
Independent Variables  

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Independent Variable: ROE 0.002 0.002 0.032*** 

Control variables     

GRARING -0.002* -0.002* 0.012*** 

SIZE 0.083*** 0.087***  

IND 0.0420   

R2 0.9009 0.9007 0.6991 

Ad-R2 0.8992 0.8995 0.6965 
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N 300 300 300 

F 36.42*** 16.79*** 26.43*** 

 Model 4 Model 5 Model 6 

Independent Variable: ROA 0.014** 0.014** 0.088*** 

Control variables     

GEARING -0.001 -0.001 0.013*** 

SIZE 0.083*** 0.082***  

IND -0.001   

R2 0.9029 0.9029 0.7415 

Ad-R2 0.9013 0.9017 0.7393 

N 300 300 300 

F 54.80*** 73.84*** 34.26*** 

Note: Dependent variable (SP), with (ROE) is the return on equity and (ROA) as return on assets as 
independent variables; and the leverage (GEARING), the company size (SIZE) and industry type is (IND) as 
control variables. The significant indicates*=p≤0.05, **= p<.0l; ***=p<.001 

 

When SP was used as the dependent variable and indicators of corporate success as an 

independent variable when adjusting for debt and scale, Table 8.4 provided the results of 

regression analysis. The results showed an insignificant positive impact for the model (1) and 

(2) only with ROE on SP, but an important and positive relationship for the model (3). This 

outcome is in support of earlier Waddock and Graves (1997) studies that found a positive 

correlation between ROE and SP from a sample of US companies. The outcome also shows an 

important positive relation between the SP and SIZE as success indicators with ROE. The 

positive and significant association between the SP and company size lend support to the 

investigations carried out by Griffin and Mahon (1997) and Moore (2001) that found a 

relationship exists between the level of CSP and the size of the company. Based on that, 

Marom (2010) argues that large companies have more funds and that they can make use of 

a larger amount for social performance. SP is significantly and negatively associated with 

gearing. The outcome is also in support of Waddock and Graves (1997) that found SP is 

negatively related to debt ratio. However, this study result is not consistent with the study 

conducted by Trebucq and D’Arcimoles (2002) with French firms.  

Whereas, when ROA was used, the relationship turns out to be a significant positive 

relationship with SP throughout the models. As indicated in Table 8.4, the SP shows an 

insignificant negative relationship with gearing on models (1) and (2) and significant positive 

relation with the (3) model.  SIZE continued to be significantly positive with the performance 

measure. Even though the results are very weak, but still significant, one can conclude that 
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this result does support hypothesis eight for Nigerian companies, which posits that better 

corporate performance results in improved SP. 

Table 8.5: Regression Analysis with CP as dependent variable and SP as independent 
Variable 

ROE Mode 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Independent Variable: SP 2.862* 2.810* 9.930*** 

Control variables     

GEARING 0.089** 0.090** 0.160*** 

SIZE 0.808** 0.830**  

IND 0.235   

R2 0.6885 0.6885 0.6667 

Ad-R2 0.6832 0.6846 0.6639 

N 300 300 300 

F 13.42*** 17.61*** 23.07*** 

ROA Model 4 Model 5 Model 6 

Independent Variable: SP 1.608** 1.886** 4.821*** 

Control variables     

GEARING -0.032** -0.025* 0.004 

SIZE 0.003 0.345***  

IND 3.680***   

R2 0.6921 0.6574 0.6294 

Ad-R2 0.6869 0.6531 0.6263 

N 300 300 300 

F 13.60*** 15.62*** 20.13*** 

Note: Dependent variable (ROE) is the return on equity and (ROA) is return on assets with 
sustainability practices (SP) as independent variables; and the leverage (GEARING), the company size 
(SIZE) and industry type is (IND) as control variables. The significant indicates*=p≤0.05, **= p<.0l; 
***=p<.001 

 

For the overall period, when ROE is the proxy for corporate performance and total turnover 

as the proxy for company size, Table 8.5 reports the finding that shows a strong significantly 

positive relationship (p<.05) between ROE and SP. In the same way, the gearing is a 

statistically significant positive. SIZE also shows a significant positive correlation with ROE. 

Likewise, when ROA is the proxy for corporate performance, the result shows a significant 

positive relationship (p<.05) between SP and CP. Gearing shows a significant relationship that 

is negative with ROA. Whereas, SIZE shows an insignificant positive relationship with ROA. 

This result provides support to the previous studies of McGuire et al. (1988), Orlitzky et al. 

(2003), Lo and Sheu (2007), Cai et al. (2012) that found a positive connection between CFP 

and CSR. Hypothesis nine, which says that improved SP leads to better CP, is supported by the 
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results found and discussed above. The findings of this study are mainly supportive of the 

results of previous studies (Waddock and Graves, 1997; Fauzi et al., 2007; Poddi and Vergalli, 

2009), which also included the same number of control variables in their studies.  

From these results, it appears that the effect is positive: better SP seems to be positively 

associated with improved corporate performance, whichever performance measure is used 

as the dependent variable. It could also be deduced from this result to mean that the direction 

of causation may be from both ways. This means better corporate performance may lead to 

improved SP. Also, better SP may lead to improved corporate performance, ceteris paribus. 

In this section also, the SP-CP link is investigated through possible enhancement by CG. The 

assumption is based on far-reaching evidence (Gompers et al., 2001; Jamali et al., 2008; Ntim 

et al., 2012), which suggests that CG influences CP. This shows that the CG positive effect of 

CP is more than SP on CP. For that reason, to find out whether CG positively moderates the 

SP-CP link, as in the work of Ntim and Soobaroyen (2013), equation (11) in Chapter 5 is re-

estimated by including the SP*CGD index (CGDI was analyzed in Chapter 6), a variable formed 

by interrelating the SP and CGDI. Also included is the CGDI to control for an overestimation in 

the coefficients (Ntim and Soobaroyen, 2013). The study deal with the CP-SP link that could 

be enriched by CG. 

 

 

 

 

Table 8.6: Regression Analysis of CP and SP using CGDI as a moderating variable   

Independent variable Model 
Dependent variables 

ROE ROA  

Independent variable SP 2.769(0.107)* 2.116(0.001)*** 

 
Interactive variables     

Governance index   

 
CGDI*SP 0.21(0.14)* 0.14(2.03)** 

 



218 
 

Board Variables   

 
AUDCOM*SP -4.21(0.33) -1.34(0.35)  

BDSIZE*SP -0.56(0.08)* 0.03(0.81)  

DUAL*SP -7.71(0.05)** -1.88(0.23) 

 
BDIVER*SP 0.59(0.58) -0.14(0.74)  

NED*SP 0.08(0.05)** 0.02(0.13)* 

 
Control variable    

 
GEARING 0.05(0.09)* -0.03(0.01)** 

 
SIZE 2.50(0.00)*** -0.17(0.41) 

 
IND 9.51(0.01)** 3.67(0.00)*** 

 
Governance index    

CGDI 0.57(0.01)** 1.24(2.35)** 

 
R-Square 0.7245 0.7064  

F 140.03*** 67.35***  

N 300 300  

Note: Dependent variable (ROE) is the return on equity and (ROA) as return on assets with sustainability 

practices (SP) as independent variables; the leverage (GEARING), the company size (SIZE) and industry type is 

(IND) as control variables and the CGDI as moderating and Interaction as SP*CGDI. The significant 

indicates*p≤0.05. 

Table 8.6 shows a positive and significant relationship (p<.05) between the accounting 

measures proxy by (ROE and ROA) and SP. Similarly, the moderating variable is significantly 

positive with both accounting measures. In the same way as the governance index (CGDI) 

shows a significant positive relationship with both measures in the period of the study. This 

study has shown from Table 8.6 the accounting measure (ROE) is significantly related to some 

moderated board variables. Precisely, board size and duality are significant and negatively 

related to ROE; the proportion of NED is positive and significantly related. On the other side, 

when ROA is the performance measure, only the proportion of NED is significant and 

positively related, while the remaining moderated board variables are insignificant.  

On the relationship with the control variables, ROE has a significant and positive association 

with all the control variables. Whereas, when ROA is the proxy of the performance measure, 
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gearing is negative and significantly related, and the type of industry is significant and 

positively linked.  

This result is in support of findings by Ntim and Soobaroyen (2013) that found the CFP-CSR 

association is enhanced by corporate governance and is significantly positive. This finding may 

be due to the increased compliance with the non-financial disclosure items by most 

companies in the 2004–2009 period when the 2003 code was in use (as shown in chapter six). 

The level of compliance by the sample companies with the non-financial disclosure items 

within the period 2004–2009 was 66.23% as against 78.65% in the 2010–2013 period, which 

shows a variance of 12.42%. Notwithstanding, the findings confirmed the results in Chapter 6 

that there is an increase in disclosure throughout the analysis and it implies that good 

governance can be a catalyst for the relationship and may also help in reducing the conflict of 

interest between the different stakeholders of the organizations (Ntim and Soobaroyen, 

2013).   

8.3 Implications of the Results 

The discoveries of this study are important because they confirm a positive relationship 

between the SP and CP, which are significant in a different operational setting than hitherto 

tested. This is mainly due to so many reasons, among which are; in Nigeria, no recognized 

company that measures SP is available.  

As such, there is the constant problem of measuring sustainability. Also, a different 

methodology is used in this study, and even there is the problem of accessing data, unlike in 

developed countries where it is readily available. These results from a developing economy 

support evidence of a developed economy. 

The findings lend support to studies of Cochran and Wood (1984), McGuire et al. (1988), and 

Waddock and Graves (1997) that found positive linkages between SP and CP. The results of 

this study support that sustainability activities are based on the company's success. And the 

association's course is positive. This suggests that the findings support the theory of slack 

resources, which states, according to Waddock and Graves (1997), that companies with 

potential slack resources from good results can perhaps have the freedom to fund SP. This 

study's results are in support of the principle of good management. That is, the outcome 
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demonstrates that CP often relies on strong SP. This means that performing well in social 

success may be connected to the company's good management practice 

The findings also imply that the sample companies are well run; that is (display of the high 

degree of responsibility, accountability, and transparency as shown from the CGDI) managers 

tend to undertake sustainability practices that assist genuinely in their business operations 

(Aguilera et al., 2007).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8.4 Chapter Summary 

The chapter sought to decide whether there is a link between corporate sustainability 

performance and corporate performance, and what the association's direction for Nigerian 

businesses is. As in the works of Waddock and Graves (1997), Trebucq and D'Arcimoles (2002), 

Fauzi et al. (2007), and Yang et al.(2010), two models were evaluated for Nigerian listed 

companies. The result shows a positive output of SP on CP based on the works of Waddock 

and Graves (1997), Cochran and Wood (1984), and Poddi and Vergalli (2009). These results 
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contribute to the acceptance of the two hypotheses, which implies that both directions can 

be jointly affected by causation. In other words, improved corporate performance can result 

in improved SP, and better SP can also lead to improved corporate performance. In 

conclusion, this Nigerian result is compatible with that of US companies as in the work of 

Waddock and Graves, (1997). In addition, the chapter decided whether the connection 

between sustainability practices and corporate performance is positively moderated by 

corporate governance. The results suggest that better-governed businesses tend to be 

socially sensitive. The moderating variable (CGDI) has significantly strengthened the link 

between sustainability practices and performance measures. This evidenced that companies 

that were being run well portray high levels of transparency, accountability, and 

responsibility. The result in this chapter is a morale booster for companies to pursue 

governance practices together with sustainability practices for the betterment of all 

stakeholders. The findings should encourage companies to incorporate social responsibility 

as a strategic constituent of their broader governance strategy by paying more attention to 

stakeholders and sustainability anxieties. 

The next chapter presents the conclusion and recommendations of this study. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter Nine: Managers Views and Perception on Corporate Governance – 

Sustainability Practices Link 

 

 

 

9.1 Introduction 
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Figure 9.1: Chapter Nine Diagram 

9.1 Introduction 

The findings on the relationship between corporate governance mechanisms and corporate 

performance in Chapter 7 indicated that some governance mechanisms do have an impact on 

firm performance. Based on accounting measures, ROE and ROA, even after controlling for 

potential endogeneity problems, whereas other governance mechanisms do not. Besides, the 

findings on the relationship between sustainability practices and corporate performance in 

Chapter 8 also showed an impact on performance based on ROE and ROA. In trying to explore 
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these relationships in more detail, a series of interviews were conducted with the top 

management staff of the six oil and gas companies.  

A total of six interviews were conducted in Nigeria (see Chapter 5 on the methodology for the 

detailed interview schedule and process). Two of the six interviewees are company 

secretaries and each has more than five years of work experience. At the same time, the 

remaining four are very senior individuals in the finance department, holding either the 

position of executive director or a top management position. All respondents have a 

postgraduate degree and a professional qualification which is applicable to their field of 

expertise. That means, all the interviewees are eligible and can answer questions about the 

interview. 

During every interview, an audio recording was taken and immediately transcribed. The 

interviews aimed to gain more information on sustainable practices and corporate 

governance practices, concepts, and thoughts  from respondents. The interviews were 

focused on close-ended and open-ended questions and included questions about corporate 

governance and practices of sustainability and the relation between the two (see Appendix 

2). Four categories resulted from the interview data:  

Table 9.1 Themes Analysed 

Themes 

▪ Corporate Governance Practices 

▪ Sustainability Practices 

▪ The link between corporate governance and sustainability practices 

▪ Benefits of corporate governance and sustainability practices. 

.         In the following sections, the results are presented and analysed. 

9.2 Corporate Governance Practices 

A total of 25 questions were administered by the interviewer to the top management of the 

companies chosen. The concerns included the views and viewpoints of the respondents on 

corporate governance and sustainability practices. In Chapters 7 and 8, this segment explores 

the interviewees' perception of corporate governance, sustainability practices, and their 

relationships that have a qualitative effect on company performance to support outcomes.  
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9.2.1 Definition of Corporate Governance 

The first question put to the interviewees was for them to describe the corporate governance 

concept. The interviewees put forward various definitions of the concept, one of the 

interviewees’ defined corporate governance as a: 

“Set of rules that governs the management of the Company, to safeguard the integrity of the 

management system.” 

“System by which companies are directed and controlled.” 

This definition corresponds to the definition of corporate governance by Cadbury. One 

finance manager interviewed have more or less agreed on the definition of corporate 

governance as: 

“Directing and controlling the company and protecting shareholder rights.” 

One manager, in his view, stated that corporate governance is: 

“A best practice of managing companies that ensures transparency and accountability.” 

A company sectary among the interviewees describe corporate governance as 

“Aligning relationship between owners, members of the board, and managers to achieve set 

goals.” 

Table 9.2 illustrates the factors identified by the interviewees in their definition of corporate 

governance. 

 

Table 9.2 Definition of Corporate Governance factors 

Factors 

Set of rrules that governs 

Directing and controlling the company 

Protecting shareholders right 

Best practices 

Transparency and accountability 

Aligning  relationship between owners, board and managers 

Law abiding and fairness 
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From table 9.2, the factors identified that considered corporate governance from a wider 

shareholder’s perspective and principal-agent view. 

9.2.2 Ownership Structure 

What is the ownership structure of your company?  

The first corporate governance mechanism examined is the ownership structure in the listed 

oil companies in Nigeria. 

 

Figure 9.2: Ownership Structures of the Listed Oil Companies 

Figure 9.2 shows that large shareholders characterize the companies. The Nigerian public investors in 

the selected companies range from 25.6% to 42%, with an average of 36.4%. The core investors in the 

selected companies range from 58% to 74.4%, given an average of 63.6%, while the foreign investors 

in the selected companies have an average of 60% major shareholders.   

Four of the selected companies reported that, through continuous monitoring, their major 

shareholders had a positive effect on the success of the companies. Two companies, on the 

other hand, have confirmed that they have a stable ownership structure as a subsidiary of 

international companies that brings their knowledge and technology transfer to the 

companies. Overall, the interviewees indicated that, through data disclosure, the major 

shareholders in the businesses have built a good relationship with all stakeholders. This result 
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confirms the findings of Shleifer and Vishny (1997), which found that the participation of 

major shareholders in a business contributes to better monitoring and improved efficiency. 

Table 9.3 Ownership structure factors 

Factors 

Nigerian Public 

Core Investors 

Foreign Investors 

 

9.2.3 Board Composition 

What is the composition of your board? 

The second process mentioned is the composition of the board of directors for the oil 

companies listed. All the interviewees from the six firms confirmed that there are both 

executive and non-executive directors in all the businesses. As stated by one of the managers, 

only one organization has independent directors on its board. The SEC (2003; 2011) advises 

that a company's board of directors should be appropriate in size in relation to its scope and 

complexity of operations and should be formed in such a way as to ensure that a mixture of 

expertise devoid of lacking objectivity, compatibility, uprightness and the availability to 

attend meetings is granted. In addition, the Nigerian code allows public corporations to have 

a mix of executive directors and non-executive directors on their boards. The code notes that 

the majority should be non-executive directors and that an independent non-executive 

director should be one of them. The factors listed under the composition of the board are 

shown in table 9.4. 

Table 9.4 Board Composition factors 

Factors 

Non- executive Director 

Executive Director 

Independent Director 
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Figure 9.3 shows the board composition of the listed oil companies in Nigeria. 

 

 

Figure 9.3: Board Compositions of Listed Oil Companies 

 

With respect to the interviews with top management of the oil firms, a total of 49 board 

members consisting of 16 executive directors, 29 non-executive directors and four 

independent directors are included. This reveals a 33:59:8 ratio for executive directors, non-

executive directors and independent directors on the boards of selected companies, 

respectively. The result is consistent with the recommendations made by Cadbury (1992) that 

boards should have at least three non-executive directors. This signifies that Nigerian oil 

companies are composed of more non-executive directors (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). 

9.2.4 Board Size 

What is the size of your board? 

Board size, which was the next item answered by the respondents, is another critical 

governance tool. As stated earlier, for all the six listed oil companies, the total number of 

board members is 49. It illustrates that, on average, a business has eight directors on the 

board. This average size of the board falls within the recommendation of between 8 and 10 
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board members for effectiveness (Lipton and Lorsch 1992). The result is within the suggested 

range of Nigerian codes that indicate that a board with a mixture of both executive and non-

executive directors should have at least five people. Figure 9.4 displays each company's board 

size.  

 

 

Figure 9.4: Board Sizes of Listed Oil Companies 

 

9.2.5 CEO Duality 

Does your company separate the positions of Chairman of the board and CEO? 

CEO duality is the next corporate governance framework the interviewees were asked about. 

The position of chairman of the board and CEO has been divided by all the companies in the 

report, except one. The recommendations of the Nigerian codes (SEC, 2003; 2011) that 

require public corporations to distinguish the roles of board chairman and CEO have been 

complied with by all companies but one(Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). In addition, Cadbury 

(1992) as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam(2015)  suggested the separation of the two 

functions, since it can lead to a concentration of power in one individual when the positions 

are combined. The only company merging the two roles is Mobil Oil Nigeria Plc. The 

representation of CEO duality in the quoted oil firm is shown in Figure 9.5. For the most part, 
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the interviewees decided that dividing the positions of chairman of the board and chief 

executive officer would ensure that there is a system of checks and balances in the 

management of their businesses' affairs. They also added that an all-powerful chief executive 

officer would curb abuse of authority (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). 

 

Figure 9.5: CEO Duality in Listed Oil Companies 

This study concludes that the findings show that the majority of the listed oil companies in 

Nigeria have separated the positions of board chairman and that of CEO for an independent 

board (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). 

9.2.6 Board Committees 

Board committees, is the next issue on the governance process. All the interviewees decided 

that their businesses have board committees. The company law allowed managers in Nigeria 

to set up committees to enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Likewise, the Act on 

Companies and Allied Matters, Cap. C20, Laws of the Federation of Nigeria has also bestowed 

directors of companies with the authority to appoint committees (Dembo and Rasaratnam, 

2015). Also, Ofo (2013) emphasized the Act in section 64 (a) states that: 
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Secondly, CAMA (2004) section 263(5) as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015) states that 

the Board of Directors can delegate some of its powers to committees composed of members 

of the Board of Directors, as may be deemed necessary. And such committee(s) shall be 

formed, shall use all the authorities so provided to it, and shall comply with any rules or 

guidelines that may be made by the directors. The types of committees that each company 

has are shown in Table 9.1. 

Table 9.5: Board Committees in the Listed Oil Companies 

Compan
y 

Audi
t 

Risk 
Mgn
t 

Corp. 
Gov/Re
m 

Executiv
e 

Operatio
ns 

Strategi
c Plg& 
Finance 

Diversit
y & 
Staff 
Dev. 

H
R 

Re
m 

C1 X X  X X    X 
C2 X X X       
C3 X  X   X  X  
C4 X X X   X    
C5 X  X X   X   
C6 X   X  X    

 

The Nigerian codes (SEC, 2003; 2011) recommended the setting up of the audit committee, 

governance/remuneration, and risk management committee. Additionally, the governance/ 

remuneration committee provided in the SEC (2011) code is bestowed with the duties of the 

nomination and remuneration committees, as recommended in section 11. Table 9.5 shows 

that all the companies have established an audit committee. In Nigeria, the formation of an 

audit committee is statutory and mandatory for all registered companies as required by 

CAMA. From the outcome in table 9.5, on the corporate governance/remuneration 

committee, it is apparent that only four companies have established that committee. One 

company has a remuneration committee in place. And on the risk management committee, 

only three companies have established the risk management committee. Three Companies 

have established the strategic planning and finance committee. The executive committee was 

established in 3 companies, also(Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015). 
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9.2.7 Audit Committees 

The audit committee is, as stated earlier, a statutory necessity for public corporations in 

Nigeria; the Nigerian codes (SEC, 2003; 2011) as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015) 

recommended that the board ensure that the committee is set up as defined and that its 

statutory duties and responsibilities can be fulfilled. Specifically, the SEC (2011) advises that 

at least one member of the committee should have an understanding of financial 

management(Dembo and Rasratnam, 2015). Nigerian companies had audit committees in 

place before the issuance of the codes as part of the fulfillment of the CAMA(2004) 

requirement. Table 9.5 indicates that the committee was formed by all the firms.  

It was noticed from the interviews conducted that an audit committee had been set up by 

two firms. Still, they are not constituted as required by the Nigerian codes and international 

best practices. In the committee, one organization has more than one executive director, 

while one has an executive director who leads the committee (Dembo and Rasaratnam,2015). 

These negate the intent of setting up a committee, which is to give shareholders additional 

assurance that auditors working on their behalf are in a position to protect their interests 

(Cadbury, 1992). According to the Nigerian law, members can only be non-executive and 

independent directors (Dembo and Rasratnam,2015). 

9.2.8 Code of Conduct in Place 

The next question that respondents were asked was the code of conduct. All the organizations 

decided that internal policies and procedures had been accepted, which are regularly checked 

to ensure continued relevance. Three organizations have handbooks stating the company's 

policies on employee recruiting, training, health, code of secrecy, and conduct. Because of 

their dual listing, one company had comply with not only the Nigerian code, but with codes 

from South Africa and the UK. This madel the codes to be incorporate  into the way they do 

business. As the core strategy and guidance for the company, the company has come up with 

a 'Code of Business Behavior and Ethics. According to Dembo and Rasaratnam (2014, p. 166), 

“the code applies to all employees, managers, directors and business partners, who are 

trained and certified to the provisions of the code when they initially join the company.” The 

other two firms are subsidiary of multinational companies and are, as such, bound by the 

policies of the parent company. Figure 9.6 shows the code of conduct in effect for the oil 

companies in Nigeria that are listed. 
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Figure 9.6: Code of Conduct in place in Listed Oil Companies 

9.2.9 Disclosure 

On transparency, the OECD gives in depth several guidelines on what has to be disclosed. The 

OECD offers an insight into what needs to be revealed in its  Principles of Corporate 

Governance 2004 as cited in Dembo and Rasaratnam (2015). As a result, it indicates that 

disclosure should be detailed and timely in all matters relating to the business, including the 

company's financing, ownership, and management. All registered companies are required by 

Nigerian codes to report all data outside the legal requirements of the CAMA. Specifically, the 

SEC (2011), as cited in Ofo (2013), requires henceforth. 
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Information disclosure can take different forms. It could be transmitted to the relevant 

regulators by delivering the necessary returns. In the case of listed companies, for example, 

this could take place through the provision of appropriate stock exchange reports and the 

dispatch of relevant documents to shareholders and other stakeholders (Dembo and 

Rasratnam,2015). As proposed by the SEC (2011), it could also be through the maintenance 

of a website or investor platform so that shareholders and other stakeholders could access 

uploaded corporate information. 

From the interview conducted with the managers of the six listed oil companies, all of them 

have taken disclosure of information to be very important. As such, all of them disclosed 

information to shareholders and other stakeholders through published reports, investor 

portal/website, and at Annual General Meetings. Figure 9.7 shows how the listed oil 

companies disseminate information to their shareholders and other stakeholders for 

transparency and accountability purposes(Dembo and Rasaratnam,2015) 

 

Figure 9.7: Disclosure Methods in Listed Oil Companies 

The next section discusses the view of the respondents on sustainability practices.   
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9.3 Sustainability Practices  

All interviewees were asked to share their perceptions about sustainability and the practices 

being carried out by their companies.  
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Figure 9.8: Similarities between the Listed Oil Companies on Sustainability Practices 
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The interviewees cited reasons on what made their companies embrace sustainability 

practice. Table 9.6 presents the ideas highlighted by them. 

Table 9.6 Sustainability Practice reasons 

Reasons 

Good neighbourliness with communities 

Philanthropic corporate social responsibility 

Improve cooperation with stakeholders  

Compliance with the rules 

For transparency and accountability 

Improves profitability 

Ethically, it is morally right 

 

The interviewees independently agreed about the fundamental importance of sustainability 

practice. Figure 9.8 shows the similarities that were identified during the interviews with the 

managers of the listed oil companies. 

9.3.1 Similarities 

Concerning the sustainability practices being undertaken by the listed oil companies, the 

feedback reveals that all of them agreed to a voluntary action or, in terms of philanthropic, 

corporate social responsibility. In response to the type of SP activities performed, the 

interviewees continuously referred to charitable programs and activities that revolve around 

cash donations, road constructions. Others are the building of classrooms, hospitals, market 

stalls, scholarships, sports equipment, events, and other activities that involve orphans and 

disabled persons(Dembo and Rasaratnam,2015). The interviewer was shown concrete 

evidence of sustainability practices / CSR initiatives by the managers of specific donations to 

orphanage homes, scholarship awards to deserving students, educational materials to 

schools, hospital equipment, and collaborations with NGOs in pursuit of social objectives. 

All the six interviewees said that they have a formal program in place, and these are reviewed 

annually and reported to shareholders. Furthermore, half of the interviewees said they have 

an officer in charge of sustainability practices / CSR. As expressed by one of the managers, 

“we have a management tool in place that can be used to identify issues, assess priorities, 

and identify areas for improvement in cooperation with stakeholders.” On values, one of the 

company managers said, “it is a goodwill on our part.” Another manager argued that “it 
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improves the profit of the company.” In the words of another manager, “it improves the 

standard of living in the communities and good environment to work in.”  Another manger 

with one of the foreign companies said, “Ethical conduct and safety in operation. Contribution 

to the wellbeing and prosperity of society.” 

When asked about how they measured the SP values, most of the managers answered that it 

is measured not in absolute terms, but relative ones. They claimed that anytime there is a 

dispute or protest, it leads to the closure of the company. Still, when there is peace and good 

relationship with the community, production will increase, and the company performance 

will also increase. The majority of the managers agreed that they also measure it through the 

increase in the company reputation and the low staff turnover rate. One manager put it this 

way: “our company has a process that is divided into five parts: consultation, assessment, 

interviews, analysis of areas of improvement, and introduction of a social responsibility action 

plan.”   

When asked about the SP reports, the managers enormously agreed that the reports 

prepared annually show the programs, the locations, amount, and accomplishment. Some of 

them claimed that it is on their websites for all to see. The managers also stated that the 

reports are mainly done for compliance, transparency, and accountability purposes. One of 

the managers went further to say that his “company is ethical; we feel morally right to do so.” 

All managers interviewed talked about customers being their most important stakeholder. 

The managers claimed that without customers, the companies could not survive. They 

emphasized that it is essential to satisfy the needs of the customers by providing good 

products worth the value of the money that can make them make a repeat purchase. One 

manager summed up thus: “the customer can always choose to take his business to a 

competitor, so it is essential that we continue to offer good products, good value for money 

and innovate.” 

9.4 The Link between Corporate Governance and Sustainability Practices 

Based on actual practice of the partnership between CG and SP, the perception of the 

managers of the oil companies listed was sought. Managers from four organizations believe 

that good practice applies to environmental policies in corporate governance. That means 

that an organization should not talk about sustainable practices without having strong 
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corporate governance in place. The interviewees insisted that a company must be 

transparent, accountable, and equitable in order to benefit its shareholders. They 

demonstrated the role each played in the progress and development of their organizations 

and host communities. In the words of one manager, “the link is more about accountability 

and transparency-there are procedures to be followed.” Another manager said, “the activities 

of the company can be traced back, no hidden things at all.” Speaking further, one manager 

stated that “the relationship is more of a balancing act-balancing the company objectives and 

the expectation of shareholders.” The interviewee from the company with dual listing said, 

“for the company to undertake social practice programs, it has to put in place a good 

governance framework first.” Two managers from the chosen companies argued that there is 

relationship, that CG and SP are intertwined. This means that CG and SP are definitely 

balancing and equally supporting one another, in the sense that a successful CG activity 

protects investors against an illegal act. An efficient SP program, on the other hand, averts 

some actions that may be permissible but insufficient in relation to their effect on 

stakeholders.Two managers from the selected companies argued that CG and SP are 

interrelated, there is intimacy. That means CG and SP are definitely balancing and equally 

supporting one another in the sense that an effective CG practice safeguards investors from 

an illegal act. In contrast, an effective SP program averts several actions that could be 

permissible but unsuitable relative to their impact on the stakeholders. One manager 

indicated that “SP is part of CG, it’s something good to be done as it helps in the future of the 

company, it is not only about complying but something good to be done.” The other manager 

pointed out that “CG compliance leads to SP, which means is a pillar for SP to be achieved.” 

Another said, “Governance ensures that control framework around processes and procedures 

are put in place, implemented, monitored and reported.” 

In conclusion, the respondents are of the opinion that CG cannot be effective devoid of a 

viable SP effort for the reason that a firm has to react to the wants of its different stakeholders 

so that it will continue to be profitable in the long run and add value to its shareholders. This 

opinion indicates that the connection between CG and SP is a salient two-way connection. 

That means the governance practices imbibed by a company tend to attract them into 

pursuing sustainable development goals.  



239 
 

In spite of all that has been said above in comparing the practices of the companies, only one 

of the companies that have Nigerians as core investors as a desk officer in charge of 

sustainability practices / CSR as against all two companies that are subsidiaries of a foreign 

company. This means that the foreign subsidiary companies’ approach to sustainability 

practices is more institutionalized than the companies that have Nigerians core investors 

(Dembo and Rasaratnam, 2015).  

The next section discusses the benefits derived by companies as payback for embracing 

corporate governance and sustainability practices.  

9.5 Benefits derived  

On the possible benefits to be gained, both managers affirmed that the activities 

strengthened the image of their company, attracted good workers because of employee 

welfare; it decreases costs, and increases the company profit through innovation. Also, as one 

of the managers noted, "we have a good relationship with our host community; this avoids 

issues as it reduces safety risks."  Overall, the company managers appreciated the fact that 

peace, growth and development were brought not only to their respective businesses but 

also to their host communities by being good corporate citizens. As demonstrated by the 

interviewees, table 9.7 presents the benefits the companies derived from embracing the two 

concepts, as illustrated by the interviewees. 

Table 9.7 Benefits derived outcomes 

Outcomes 

Enhance reputation 

Reduce costs 

Reduce risk 

Increase profit 

Attract good employees 

Brings peace and development 
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9.6 Chapter Summary 

The definition and perceptions of managers of six listed oil companies in Nigeria on CG and 

SP were discussed in this chapter. The essence of the relationship between CG and SP has also 

been surveyed. The respondents to the interview are the top managers of the companies 

chosen. The general interpretation of the results of the interview was that CG and SP should 

not be separately considered. Notwithstanding the kind of bond, there is no real sustainable 

development practice between CG and SP, an organization without clear leadership, 

organizational management structures, and a sense of responsibility towards internal 

stakeholders cannot perchance pursue genuine sustainable development practices. In 

addition, without a sustainable development effort, CG would not be in place because a 

company needs to respond to the requirements of its various stakeholders in order to be 

successful and add value to its stockholders. 

The results of this study support the work of Elkington (2006) and Jamali et al. (2008), which 

suggest that a corporate governance system is an annex to a social responsibility program, 

and this is the obligation of corporate boards. The Nigerian interpretive study argues that 

managers believe that the more stable the corporate governance system in place is, the more 

progress is made on the road to a viable initiative for sustainable growth. As defined by the 

respondents the whole direction of the organization is set by the design of a company's 

governance structure. In the field of sustainable growth, it can be used to persuade executives 

to follow particular goals and objectives.the nature of a company’s governance structure sets. 

The findings have some limitations coming from a small sample of six companies and from a 

single industry, which makes it difficult to generalize the results. However, the study has tried 

to advance the investigation into the relationship between corporate governance and 

performance in a developing country. From the result of the study, there is room for further 

studies investigating the relationship between and most especially on conceptions and 

applications of corporate governance and sustainability practices as well as the boundaries in 

developing countries because the two are considered as balancing pillars for sustainable 

business growth. Figure 9.9 summarises the results of the chapter.  

The next chapter links the results from both quantitative and qualitative data with the 

research questions and provides recommendations and conclusions of the study. 
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Chapter Ten: Conclusion 
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10.1 Introduction 

The main aim of this study was to examine the impact of voluntary disclosure on the 

performance of companies by looking at the top Nigerian oil companies. The principal portion 

of the study investigates the compliance of the six listed oil companies with the Nigerian 

corporate governance codes. The second part of the study is the impact of corporate 

governance mechanisms on the operation of these companies. The third component of the 

study tests the relationship between sustainability practices of these companies and 

corporate performance. This chapter summarises the findings for each phase of the research 

and outlines the implications in section 10.2. Section 10.3 is an additional finding that arises 

in the course of the interviews. Besides, section 10.4 is the study's contributions, section 10.5 

contains the limitations of the study, and section 10.6 is where the suggestions for future 

studies are provided. Finally, section 10.7 is the chapter summary.  

10.2 Findings and Implications 

The three interrelated parts studied in this broader study each have a particular significance 

within the literature. The study explores the publicly available data in the corporate annual 

reports to examine the compliance with Nigerian codes and also to ensure if the governance 

and sustainability practices have an impact on the performance of companies. The findings 

and implications of each phase are as follows. 

1. The first part of this study (Chapter 6) examines compliance with the code of best practices 

in corporate governance in Nigeria. In doing so, the study uses annual report data to develop 

a corporate governance disclosure index consisting of 43 specific corporate governance issues 

under two categories of financial and non-financial disclosure. The index was articulated on 

the basis of two guides, namely the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development 

(UNCTAD) Guidance on Good Practices in Corporate Governance Disclosure and the Nigerian 

SEC codes of corporate governance. The index characterizes a means of assessing the 43 

issues of disclosure made by companies about corporate governance practices they have in 

place. Applying this index, the content analysis method was engaged to analyze the corporate 

annual reports of the selected companies for the period 2004–2013 to examine the changes 

in disclosure items, if any, over the period. The study focuses on the amount of disclosure as 

a means to capture data. It primarily focuses on whether or not a particular practice was 

undertaken in a specific year. For example, if a company discloses information on a particular 
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issue, a score of 1 is then given, else 0. This is the first known study in Nigeria to come up with 

a corporate governance disclosure index. 

The results indicate that even though there is an increase in disclosure over the period of the 

analysis, there is a lack of disclosure by the companies with regards to non-financial disclosure 

items. The result highlights the level of full compliance by the companies for the overall period 

2004–2013 with non-financial disclosure is 50%, while the level of full compliance with 

financial disclosure items is 82%. The listed oil companies were more compliant with 

corporate governance in the period 2010–2012, during which the revised SEC code was in 

place. This is expected because the listed oil companies were expected to act in accordance 

with the provisions of the code or offer a reason for non-compliance as part of the 

requirements of being listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange. This finding implies that most 

of the companies are not in compliance with the disclosure items. The directors have to make 

sure that the companies abide by the disclosure requests because information disclosure is 

the efficient means of protecting shareholders, and it is an essential part of corporate 

governance. 

2. To investigate the impact of internal corporate governance mechanisms and governance 

index on the corporate performance of six top Nigerian oil companies. As discussed in Chapter 

7, six hypotheses were tested for internal corporate governance variables, governance index, 

and corporate performance relationship. The hypotheses tested include, among others, the 

board size, the proportion of NEDs, CEO duality, the presence of the audit committee, board 

diversity, and the governance index. The first hypothesis tested is that the relationship 

between board size and corporate performance is negative using OLS. The coefficient of 

board size is negative and significant (at 5%) for the entire sample period for ROE and 

insignificant positive for ROA. The statistically significant negative coefficient on board size 

under the two accounting performance ratios offers support for hypothesis one. The 

significant negative coefficient may be due to the large board size most of the companies had 

in some of the years because large boards may affect firm performance negatively because 

of the additional costs associated with slow decision-making (Owusu, 2012). The situation 

changed to insignificant negative when ROE is the performance measure using fixed-effects 

estimation. However, the situation remains unchanged when ROA was used as the 

performance measure. The outcome of static and dynamic models estimation using both 
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measures (ROE and ROA) for BSIZE is insignificant positive. The second hypothesis is that the 

relationship between the proportions of NEDs is positive and significant under OLS. The result 

indicates that the percentage of non-executive directors (NEDs) is significant and positively 

associated with the accounting measure ROE and insignificant positive with ROA. However, 

they are all significantly positive under fixed-effects estimation. Whereas, they are 

insignificant under the GMM models but hold the predicted relationship. The relationship 

between role duality and corporate performance is negative is the third hypothesis tested. 

The CEO duality is reported to have a positive and significant (at 5%) relationship with 

performance measured by accounting ratio ROE but has a negative and significant 

relationship when related to ROA. Under the fixed-effects method, ROE is insignificantly 

positively related with DUAL and significantly negative with ROA. For the GMM estimation, 

both measures have an insignificant positive link with DUAL. The results did not accept 

hypothesis three. The fourth hypothesis examined is that the connection between the 

presence of audit committee and corporate performance is positive. The audit committee is 

found to have an insignificant and negative relation with ROE and ROA under OLS estimation. 

The link between AUDCOM and the two measures is insignificant positive under the fixed-

effects estimation; however, the sign change to insignificant negative relation with the 

performance measures under the GMM estimation. The findings suggest that hypothesis four 

is not accepted. However, the result is consistent with another Nigerian study of Kajola (2008) 

that reported a negative relationship with the presence of the audit committee. The fifth 

hypothesis tested is that the board of director diversity does affect corporate performance. 

The statistically insignificant negative relationship between board diversity and accounting 

performance measures ROE and ROA means that hypothesis five is not accepted as it is not 

significant. The sign of the relationship change to insignificant positive under the fixed-effects 

and GMM estimation. The results offer support to Ntim (2009) that found ROA to be positive, 

but statistically insignificant with board diversity. And the final hypothesis is on the 

relationship between governance index and corporate performance, which is proposed to be 

a significant positive. The index is significant and negatively related to the two measures 

under the OLS and fixed-effects estimations. This reject hypothesis six. Under the GMM 

estimation, it is an insignificant negative and insignificant positive relationship with ROE and 

ROA, respectively. 
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3.   As indicated in Chapter 8, the third section analyses the relationship between 

sustainability practices and corporate efficiency. In the background of Nigerian oil and gas 

firms, the motive was to search for evidence by testing two hypotheses; better corporate 

performance (CP) results in improved sustainability performance (SP) and improved 

sustainability performance (SP) leads to better corporate performance (CP). Besides, the 

chapter also investigated whether the SP-CP association is significant and positively improved 

by CG. For the eighth hypothesis, sustainability performance measures have been used as the 

dependent variable and 1-year lag CP (n-1) as the principal independent variable. As for the 

ninth hypothesis, a 1-year lag CP (n+1) as a dependent variable and SP as an independent 

variable are used. In all the equations, the control variables are proxy by company size, 

gearing, and industry. For the eighth hypothesis, the result for the overall period of 2004–

2013 showed a significant and positive link between performance measures and SP. The 

positive results are in support of the prior work of Waddock and Graves (1997) that reported 

a positive link between company performance and the social performance variable. Also, 

even though the results are very weak, but still significant, one can conclude that this result 

does support the hypothesis for Nigerian companies, which posits that better corporate 

performance results in improved SP. For the ninth hypothesis, the result shows a powerful 

positive and significant link between both measures as a proxy by (ROE and ROA) and SP. The 

finding supports the hypothesis that improved SP leads to better CP.  

For the tenth hypothesis, the performance measures ROE and ROA show a significant 

relationship with SP. The moderating variable also indicates a significant relationship with 

performance measures. Similarly, the index also has a significant and positive relationship 

with performance measures. These results imply that they are consistent with the studies of 

Cochran and Wood (1984) and McGuire et al. (1988) that found positive linkages between SP 

and CP. The results support similar evidence from western economies and also back the slack 

resources theory that under-utilized resources may be used in SP investment. Furthermore, 

the findings show that corporate governance practices can enhance the relationship between 

sustainability practices and corporate performance, and it lends support to the empirical 

findings of Ntim and Soobaroyen (2013). This supports that the result will encourage 

companies to be more involved in sustainable development. The result also implies the more 
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the companies comply with the governance provisions, the more they are engaged in 

responsive social programs. 

4.   The fourth part sought the views and perception of the top managers of the six listed oil 

companies on corporate governance, sustainability practices, and the interrelationship 

between CG and SP, as contained in Chapter 9. The interview schedule included 25 questions 

that were divided into three categories, namely corporate governance, sustainability 

practices, and CS-CP link. The interview data showed interesting revelations as all the six 

managers interviewed described corporate governance practices by their companies. All the 

Nigerian-wholly-owned companies have a core investor that controlled the largest share, 

while the Nigerian-partially-owned companies are subsidiaries of multinational companies. 

All of them have a board of director committees, with only one company having independent 

directors on the board. All selected companies, except one company, have separated the 

position of chairman of the board and CEO. All the companies operate an appraisal system on 

remuneration policy for the management and directors of the board. Five of the six 

companies have a company handbook as a code of conduct, with only one company having a 

'Code of Business Conduct & Ethics' as its code of conduct. All the managers interviewed 

affirmed the importance of information disclosure and internal control. All the companies 

have independent internal audit units that perform a wide range of audit services that include 

financial audits, compliance audits, operational audits, information technology audits, and 

investigations. All the managers stressed that their companies practice corporate governance 

for compliance, transparency, and accountability purposes. 

On the sustainability practices, all the interviewees claimed that their company's SP is 

philanthropic, which involves cash donations, construction of roads, classrooms, hospitals, 

market stores, scholarships and provision of books and sports equipment. All of them have a 

formal program in place that is reviewed annually. Half of the companies have a desk officer 

in charge of SP/CSR that deals with the community and NGOs. All the managers interviewed 

said that their companies are motivated to do SP because it is morally right to do so. When 

asked about the most important stakeholder, all of them answered that the customer is the 

"king" as he can decide not to make a repeat purchase of their products. On anticipated 

benefits to be derived from practicing SP, the managers said the practices enhanced their 

company's reputation, attracted good employees because of employee welfare, and reduces 
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cost. Again, the managers reflected in the long-term benefits of SP that include, among 

others, the growth and development of society in general.  

On the CG-SP link, half of the interviewees agree that good practice in corporate governance 

contributes to sustainable practices. They maintained that without robust corporate 

governance in place, a business could not speak about sustainable practices. Most of the 

interviewees emphasized that there must be openness, accountability, responsibility, and 

justice in place for a corporation to benefit its shareholders. One-third of the executives spoke 

about how CG and SP are interrelated. That means CG and SP are certainly balancing and 

helping each other equally, in the sense that shareholders are shielded from an illegal act by 

an efficient CG structure. In contrast, an effective SP program averts several actions that may 

be legal but inappropriate about their impact on the stakeholders. 

These findings suggest that CG and SP should not be considered and continued individually. 

Similarly, the manner in which the relationship occurs between them does not matter; good 

leadership, organizational management structures, and a sense of responsibility for the 

promotion of legitimate sustainable development practices by internal stakeholders are 

important for an organization. In addition, without a  durable development drive, CG would 

not be functional because a business has to adapt to the needs of its different stakeholders 

to be successful and add value to its investors. The results of this study reinforce the work of 

Elkington (2006) and Jamali et al. (2008), who argued that an annex to the corporate 

governance system is a social responsibility program.  

The four parts discussed together above afford a broad picture of the voluntary disclosure 

practices of listed oil companies in Nigeria about corporate governance and sustainability 

practices and the impact on corporate performance. Table 9.1 is a summary of this study's 

findings. 



248 
 

Table 10.1: Summary of this study’s Findings 

Variable Research Question Quantitative Findings 

             OLS                                          GMM 

Qualitative Findings 

CGDI To what extent do Nigerian oil companies 

comply with the corporate governance 

code and best practices? 

Significant positive Mixed relationship 43 disclosure items made of up 11 financial disclosure items 

and 32 non-financial disclosure items were identified. 9 out 

of the 11 financial disclosure items were fully disclosed and 

16 out of 32 non-financial items were fully disclosed by the 

selected companies. So the level of compliance with financial 

and non-financial disclosure by the selected companies is 

58.14%. 

Board Size Does board size influence corporate 

performance? 

Significant negative 

relationship with both 

measures. 

Positive relationship with 

both measures. 

An average of 8 directors per board. This is within the 

recommended board size of at least 5 persons of the 

Nigerian code and the literature.  

Proportion of NEDs Does higher proportion of NEDs lower 

corporate performance? 

Significant positive 

relationship with ROE and 

insignificant positive with 

ROA. 

Positive relationship with 

both measures. 

Company boards are composed of more non-executive 

directors. 

CEO Duality Does the separation of the CEO and 

board chair positions have any effect on 

corporate performance? 

Significant negative 

relationship with both 

measures.  

Positive relationship with 

ROE and ROA 

 

All the companies with the exception of one have separated 

the positions of chairman and CEO as required by the 

Nigerian code. 

Audit Committee Does the presence of an audit committee 

lead to better corporate performance? 

Negative relationship with 

both measures. 

Positive relationship with 

ROE and Negative 

relationship with ROA. 

All companies have established the audit committee as it is 

statutory and mandatory by CAMA and recommended by the 

codes in Nigeria. 

Board Diversity Does the board of director diversity 

affect corporate performance? 

Negative relationship with 

both measures. 

Positive relationship with 

ROE and ROA. 

Half of the companies have at least one female as board 

members. 

Sustainability 

Practices 

What is the relationship between 

sustainability practices and corporate 

performance? 

Significant positive 

relationship with ROE and 

ROA. 

N/A All the companies are engaged in an active social 

responsibility programme. 
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Sustainability 

Practices with CG as 

moderating variable 

Does CG positively moderate the 

sustainability practices-corporate 

performance link? 

Significant positive 

relationship with ROE and 

ROA. 

N/A All the companies are engaged in an active social 

responsibility programme. 

CG-SP Link Is corporate governance a necessary 

pillar for Sustainability Practices? 

N/A N/A Good corporate governance practice leads sustainability 

practices. 
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10.3 Additional Findings 

Two additional issues arose during the interview with the top managers of the oil companies 

that could impact voluntary disclosure. The first issue is about transparency and 

accountability in the oil sector, while the second issue is about compliance with the corporate 

governance code. It is essential to consider these issues to back the main findings in this study. 

The results are described and tabulated in table 10.2. 

Table 10.2: Issues Emerged from Interview 

Issue Findings 

Transparency and Accountability The majority of the interviewees reiterate 

the need for greater transparency and 

accountability.  

Compliance Ensure compliance with practices and 

reporting. 

 

10.3.1 Transparency and Accountability 

Transparency and Accountability are two of the central pillars of good governance. The 

Nigerian Code, specifically SEC (2011), states that the disclosure requirements of the Code are 

intended to, and do, extend “beyond the statutory requirements in the CAMA.” Furthermore, 

the SEC (2011, p. 48) in section 34.13 requires that the 

 

The managers indicated that the CARs do not contain enough information to keep 

shareholders sufficiently informed about their companies and more so the sustainability 

practices/CSR reports are not included in the annual reports. The interviewees considered 

this as very important because transparency is a necessary precondition for the application 

of accountability.   
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10.3.2 Compliance 

Most of the interviewees believed that the regulatory authorities should do more about the 

monitoring of corporate governance practice. The directors hope that with the establishment 

of the Financial Reporting Council through an Act of Parliament and corporate governance is 

one of the critical directorates in the council. It is responsible for the issuance of the Corporate 

Governance Code and guidelines, and for the establishment of a system for periodic review 

of the code and guidelines. The interviewees agree that there will be a fundamental change 

in compliance by offering encouragement and guidance for the implementation or 

introduction of the code to achieve its objectives.  

10.4 Contributions of the Study 

This thesis provides some new contributions and also expands the body of knowledge in the 

field of corporate governance and sustainability practices. Firstly, the Nigerian codes are not 

intended as a strict set of rules backed by the law; no study has investigated the compliance 

level among public companies with listed securities in Nigeria. Therefore, this study fills the 

gap in the existing literature by providing for the first time the degree of compliance with the 

principles and provisions of the Nigerian codes during the 2004–2009 and 2010–2012 periods. 

Evidence from the survey has demonstrated that there is a remarkable improvement in the 

compliance level from 2004–2009 when the first code (SEC, 2003) was in place compared to 

the 2010–2012 period when the revised code (SEC, 2011) was presented. Clearly, the findings 

show that while compliance with the Nigerian codes has significantly improved, considerable 

variation still exists among the companies, which may be due to company size. 

Secondly, using data gathered directly from company annual reports, the study analyses the 

relationship between specific corporate governance mechanisms and corporate 

performance. The findings indicate that the particular governance mechanisms have 

impacted positively on some of the functioning of these companies.  

Thirdly, the study provides evidence on the top managers’ perception of corporate 

governance and sustainability practice relationships in the context of Nigerian companies, 

which is the first of its sort. The findings indicate that the bulk of managers perceive CG as a 

necessary pillar for sustainability practices.  
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Fourthly, the study sees the corporate governance and sustainability practices in concert in a 

developing economy context, as against independently that are in the literature on Nigeria. 

This has provided an extension of the methodology by comparing the results from regression 

analysis and the sentiments of the managers in ascertaining the corporate governance and 

sustainability practices and corporate performance relationship. 

The next section summarises the limitations of the study. 

10.5 Limitations of the Study 

The survey findings are important but have some restrictions that should be recognized. The 

first limitation is that the study only focuses on the top six listed oil companies on the Nigerian 

Stock Exchange. 

Second, the sample size of six listed oil companies is employed for over ten years, even though 

for the regression analysis, 30 listed companies were utilized for the ten years. However, the 

sample size is larger than the previous Nigerian study of Kajola (2008) that used a sample of 

20 listed companies over the period 2000–2006.  

Third, data collection was costly. Trips had to be made to Nigeria for both the primary and 

secondary data. 

Fourth, the data analysis was an extremely labor-intensive practice, requiring exploring pages 

of 300 annual reports to make a decision, whether a particular provision is complied with or 

not, to develop the corporate governance disclosure index. The transcribing and coding of the 

interview data was another tedious task. 

The fifth is the problem of defining some CG variables. For instance, in the proportion of NEDs, 

independent directors were considered as NEDs. Board size was determined to exclude 

alternative directors.  

Sixth, on the methodology, the study used company size, debt ratio, and the industry as 

control variables as they are available and consistent with some published papers. However, 

data, for example, on R&D, is not readily available. Also, in evaluating the level of compliance 

with the code of corporate governance, the different institutional framework makes it difficult 

to make a comparison.  
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Seventh, the findings of this study cannot be generalized because of the small sample size; it 

comes from one industry and also from a single-country study. 

The limitations stated above may offer ways for future inquiry. Consequently, the next section 

points out possibilities for future studies.  

10.6 Suggestion for Future Studies 

This study has identified several areas for future examination. First, future studies may want 

to develop the CGDI to assign weights relative to the corporate governance issue. Second, as 

indicated, the study only examines oil companies that are listed on the NSE; future studies 

could include all listed Nigerian companies. This could create a platform for a comparative 

analysis between the different sectors of the economy, also provide the opportunity for a 

larger sample. Regarding the top managers’ perceptions, further study may seek the opinion 

of institutional/core investors. Third, this study used only accounting measures of ROE and 

ROA; future examinations can investigate market-based measures like Q-ratio and share price 

to find their impact. Fourth, future studies can use the questionnaire method in collecting 

corporate governance data to supplement those provided by company annual reports. Fifth, 

future studies can examine the share price reaction to board changes, including 

appointments, resignations, discharges, deaths, and retirements of directors. Sixth, future 

studies could examine causation mechanisms because causation could generate social 

performance models that may optimize sustainability practice policies for businesses.  
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10.7 Chapter Summary 

This chapter has provided the study’s conclusions. Precisely, it attempted to achieve five 

objectives. First, the study findings and implications were summarized. In this respect, the 

results were based on the three stages, as presented. The results suggest the levels of 

compliance with the Nigerian codes have improved significantly throughout the study. 

However, there is a lack of disclosure by the selected companies concerning some non-

financial disclosure items. The results highlighted that the companies chosen were not in 

compliance with all the disclosure items. The regression analysis of the annual report data 

revealed that the five specific corporate governance mechanisms have a mixed impact on the 

corporate performance of the selected companies. However, the regression results show a 

positive relationship when the study considered the impact of sustainability practices on 

corporate performance. The positive relationship lends support to the propositions that: 

better corporate performance (CP) results in improved sustainability performance (SP) and 

improved sustainability performance (SP) leads to better corporate performance (CP). These 

two regression results relative to the responses from the top managers of the selected 

companies indicate the adoption of corporate governance is a necessary pillar for 

sustainability practices. The interview findings revealed that a company has to respond to the 

needs of its various stakeholders to be profitable and create value for its shareholders. This 

suggests that better-governed companies, on average, tend to be more engaged in 

sustainable development endeavors.  

Second, the chapter highlighted the additional findings that sprang up during the interviews 

with managers. In this regard, transparency and accountability in the oil sector and 

compliance with corporate governance code were singled out by the managers as key to the 

success of the companies. The managers advocated the need for greater transparency and 

accountability and compliance with practices and reporting. 

Third, the chapter stressed the contributions of the study to knowledge. In this respect, the 

study tries to fill the gap in the existing literature by providing for the first time the degree of 

compliance with the provisions of the Nigerian code during the 2004–2009 and 2010–2013 

periods. The study offers direct proof of the relationship between specific corporate 

governance mechanisms and corporate performance in the context of the 2004–2009 period 

when the first code was introduced and the 2010–2013 period when the revised code was 
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put in place in Nigeria. The study also provides first-time evidence for the view and perception 

of managers on corporate governance and sustainability practices in Nigeria. The study has 

granted an extension of the methodology by comparing the results from regression analysis 

and the sentiments of the managers in ascertaining the corporate governance and 

sustainability practices and corporate performance relationship in the Nigerian context. 

Fourth, the study has some limitations that were recognized. The study focuses on only the 

top six listed oil companies on the Nigerian Stock Exchange. The study relied on six managers 

who conveyed their perceptions within time constraints. The data analysis was an extremely 

labor-intensive practice. Another limitation is the problem of defining some CG variables. 

Last, the study provided suggestions for future studies. In this respect, future studies may, 

when developing the CGDI, assign weights relative to the corporate governance issue. Future 

studies could include all listed Nigerian companies on the stock exchange. This could create a 

platform for a comparative analysis between the different sectors of the economy and 

enlarge the sample size. Future studies may seek the opinion of institutional/core investors, 

in addition to the managers. Future studies may be directed towards the investigation of 

market-based measures like Q-ratio and share price to find the impact in addition to the 

accounting performance measures. Also, future studies can make use of the questionnaire 

method in collecting corporate governance data to supplement those provided by company 

annual reports. Future studies can also examine share price reaction to board changes, 

including appointments, resignations, discharges, deaths, and retirements of directors. 

Future studies could examine causation mechanisms of social performance. 
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Appendix 1: Interview Schedule Letter 

 

   Interview Schedule 

                                                                                                                      University of Bedfordshire 

                                                                                                                      Business School, 

                                                                                                                      United Kingdom. 

Dear Respondent, 

DO VOLUNTARY DISCLOSURES HAVE AN IMPACT ON SUSTAINABLE COMPANY 

PERFORMANCE? EVIDENCE ON TOP NIGERIAN OIL COMPANIES. 

This interview guide is part of a research project to investigate the nature and effectiveness 

of the impact of voluntary disclosures on company performance among top Nigerian oil 

companies. The research aims to investigate the extent of compliance with the Nigerian code. 

Your views and opinions are essential in gathering information on the effectiveness of 

voluntary disclosures in Nigeria. 

The interview guide has three sections and will take a few minutes to go over them with you.  

Be assured that all information you will provide will be treated in strictest confidence. The 

findings from your interview will be used as one of the main data for my thesis as part of the 

requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Bedfordshire.  
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I will be in contact with you soon to get a date convenient for you for the interview. For any 

questions, please contact me on +447407181200 or abubakar.dembo@study.beds.ac.uk or 

amdembo@yahoo.com. I hope you will find the guide interesting.  

Thank you for your time and help. 

Best Regards, 

Abubakar Dembo 

Appendix 2: Interview Schedule 

Interview Schedule 

I. Corporate Governance 

1. How would you describe “Corporate Governance”? 

2. What is the ownership structure of your company? 

3. What is the size of your company board? 

4. What is the composition of your company board of directors? 

5. How many board committees does your board have? 

6. Is management pay tied to performance? 

7. Do you have a code of conduct in place in your company? 

8. How do you disclose information about your company? 

9. How important is information disclosure to your company? 

10. How is internal control review in your company? 

 

II. Sustainability Practices 

11.  What is the nature of Sustainability Practices in your company? 

12. What are the activities carried out by your company? 

13. Does your company have a formal Sustainability Practices programme? 

14. What values does your programme achieve? 

15. What motives your company on Sustainability Practices? 

16. What benefits does your company anticipate to derive from doing Sustainability 

Practices? 

17. How do you measure Sustainability Practices in your company? 

18. Does your company prepare a Sustainability Report?  

19. How does your company report on Sustainability Report? 

20. Who does your company, consider as the most important stakeholder? 

21. Which area does your company performance think Sustainability Reporting should 

cover? 

22. Do you think it is important to prepare a Sustainability Report? 

23. Do you think your company can improve Sustainability Practices and Reporting? 
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III. CG-SP Link 

24. What do you think is the relationship between Corporate Governance and 

Sustainability Practices? 

25. Are there other areas you consider important in investigating the relationship 

between Corporate Governance and Sustainability Practices in the Nigerian Oil and 

Gas companies? 

s 




